EVALUATING THE USE OF SATELLITE OPTICAL DATA FOR MAPPING AND MONITORING LAKES AND THEIR SALINITY IN KONYA AND BURDUR CLOSED BASINS SUBJECTED TO INCREASING WATER ABSTRACTION AND CLIMATE CHANGE.

# A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF NATURAL AND APPLIED SCIENCES OF MIDDLE EAST TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY

BY

# MEHMET ARDA ÇOLAK

# IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN GEODETIC AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION TECHNOLOGIES

DECEMBER 2022

Approval of the thesis:

# EVALUATING THE USE OF SATELLITE OPTICAL DATA FOR MAPPING AND MONITORING LAKES AND THEIR SALINITY IN KONYA AND BURDUR CLOSED BASINS SUBJECTED TO INCREASING WATER ABSTRACTION AND CLIMATE CHANGE.

submitted by **MEHMET ARDA ÇOLAK** in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of **Master of Science in Geodetic and Geographic Information Technologies Department, Middle East Technical University** by,

Prof. Dr. Halil Kalıpçılar Dean, Graduate School of <b>Natural and Applied Sciences</b>	
Prof. Dr. Zuhal Akyürek Head of Department, <b>Geodetic and Geographic</b> Information Technologies	
Prof. Dr. Zuhal Akyürek Supervisor, <b>Civil Engineering, METU</b>	
Examining Committee Members:	
Prof. Dr. Mehmet Lütfi Süzen Geological Engineering, METU	
Prof. Dr. Zuhal Akyürek Civil Engineering, METU	
Prof. Dr. Ülkü Nihan Yazgan Tavşanoğlu Department of Biology, Çankırı Karatekin University	
Assist. Prof. Dr. Korhan Özkan Institue of Marine Sciences, METU	
Assist. Prof. Dr. Semih Kuter Forest Engineering, Çankırı Karatekin University	

Date: 12.12.2022

I hereby declare that all information in this document has been obtained and presented in accordance with academic rules and ethical conduct. I also declare that, as required by these rules and conduct, I have fully cited and referenced all material and results that are not original to this work.

Name, Surname: Mehmet Arda Çolak

Signature :

#### ABSTRACT

## EVALUATING THE USE OF SATELLITE OPTICAL DATA FOR MAPPING AND MONITORING LAKES AND THEIR SALINITY IN KONYA AND BURDUR CLOSED BASINS SUBJECTED TO INCREASING WATER ABSTRACTION AND CLIMATE CHANGE.

Çolak, Mehmet Arda M.S., Department of Geodetic and Geographic Information Technologies Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Zuhal Akyürek

December 2022, 106 pages

Global warming and climate change have been affecting the conditions and future of inland waters. Turkey's important two closed basins, Konya, and Burdur Closed Basins (KCB and BCB) are facing with drought and many of the lakes in these basins are drying or already dried out. Monitoring the lakes and mapping lake parameters (e.g., surface water area, electrical conductivity - EC) are important to increase the awareness about the situation of these lakes. Modified Normalized Difference Water Index (MNDWI) is used to map the surface area of the lakes from Landsat 5-8 and Sentinel-2 data. Sentinel-2 has better areal mapping due to its ground resolution advantage over Landsat-8. On the other hand, Landsat legacy provides great opportunity to monitor the lakes since 1984. Using this legacy, several lakes in KCB and BCB are monitored over the past 35 years. Combining these changes with the meteorological parameters, like Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI), it is showed that the change in the surface area is related to the change in precipitation and evaporation. In addition, budget calculations showed that, Lake Burdur will reach the critical water level in the next 60 years and face with the possibility of dried out if

the water use in the basin remains the same. Water EC is another important parameter for the lakes because it is related with the biodiversity. To map the EC of lakes, field measurements were used which were collected from the lakes in June 2020, July 2021 and May 2022. A significant relation between Sentinel bands 1, 2 and 3 with the EC values were obtained. Also, a case study conducted on Lake Salda presents the uniform variation of EC over the lake except at the locations of river contributing to the lake.

Keywords: optical remote sensing, Sentinel-2, Landsat, water index, salinity

## ARTAN SU KULLANIMINA VE İKLİM DEĞİŞİKLİĞİNE MARUZ KALAN KONYA VE BURDUR KAPALI HAVZASI'NDAKİ GÖLLERİN OPTİK UYDU GÖRÜNTÜLERİ İLE BELİRLENMESİ, İZLENMESİ VE TUZLULUĞUNUN TESPİT EDİLMESİ

Çolak, Mehmet Arda Yüksek Lisans, Jeodezi ve Coğrafi Bilgi Teknolojileri Bölümü Tez Yöneticisi: Prof. Dr. Zuhal Akyürek

Aralık 2022, 106 sayfa

Küresel ısınma ve iklim değişikliği iç suların koşullarını ve geleceğini etkilemektedir. Türkiye'nin iki önemli kapalı havzası olan Konya ve Burdur Kapalı Havzaları (KKH ve BKH) kuraklıkla karşı karşıyadır ve bu havzalardaki göllerin çoğu kurumak üzere veya çoktan kurumuştur. Göllerin izlenmesi ve göl parametrelerinin (örn. yüzey suyu alanı, iletkenlik) haritalanması, bu göllerin durumu hakkındaki farkındalığı artırmak için önemlidir. Modifiye Normalleştirilmiş Su Fark İndisi (MNDWI), Landsat 5-8 ve Sentinel-2 verilerinden göllerin yüzey alanını haritalamak için kullanılmıştır. Sentinel-2, Landsat-8'e göre yer çözünürlüğü avantajı nedeniyle daha iyi alan haritalamasına sahiptir. Öte yandan, Landsat mirası, 1984'ten beri gölleri izlemek için harika bir fırsat sunmaktadır. Bu mirası kullanarak, son 35 yılda KKH ve BKH'deki birçok göl izlenmiştir. Bu değişiklikler Standardize Yağış Evapotranspirasyon İndisi (SPEI) gibi meteorolojik parametrelerle birleştirildiğinde, yüzey alanındaki değişikliğin yağış ve buharlaşmadaki değişiklikle ilişkili olduğu gösterilmiştir. Ayrıca göl suyu bütçe hesapları, Burdur Gölü'nün önümüzdeki 60 yıl içinde kritik su seviyesine ulaşacağını ve havzadaki su kullanımının aynı kalması halinde kuruyabileceği ihtimalini ortaya koymuştur. Su iletkenliği, biyoçeşitlilik ile ilgili olduğu için göller için bir diğer önemli parametredir. Göllerin iletkenliğini haritalamak için Haziran 2021 ve Haziran 2022'de göllerden toplanan saha ölçümleri kullanılmıştır. Sentinel-2'nin 1., 2. ve 3. bantları ile elektriksel iletkenlik değerleri arasında anlamlı bir ilişki elde edilmiştir. Ayrıca, Salda Gölü üzerinde yürütülen bir saha çalışması, göle katkıda bulunan nehir girişleri dışında, göl üzerindeki homojen iletkenlik değişimini ortaya koymaktadır.

Anahtar Kelimeler: optik uzaktan algılama, Sentinel-2, Landsat, su indisi, tuzluluk

To my dearest family and my precious Betül...

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First of all, I want to thank my supervisor Prof. Dr. Zuhal Akyürek, for her guidance, positive attitude, and support for this research. Also, I want to thank Prof. Dr. Erik Jeppesen, Prof. Dr. Meryem Beklioğlu, Prof. Dr. Ülkü Nihan Yazgan Tavşanoğlu, Dr. Korhan Özkan and Dr. Semih Kuter for their valuable support.

I thank to the great team of BİDEB 2232 118C250 Saline Lakes project team for sharing their valuable works and help in field work. I am very greatful Assoc. Prof. Can Özen and Dr. Mustafa Korkmaz for their great efforts in the field works.

Also, I wish to thank my friends Tolga Aksoy, Utku Demirci, Barış Öztaş, Serhat Ertuğrul and Raşit Uluğ for their help and valuable feedback.

Finally, I am grateful to my family for their support and patience throughout my studies.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT
ÖZ
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
TABLE OF CONTENTS
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS
CHAPTERS
1 INTRODUCTION
2 BACKGROUND INFORMATION AND LITERATURE REVIEW 5
2.1 Water Detection
2.2 Water Quality and Salinity Detection
3 MATERIALS AND METHODS 11
3.1 Materials
3.1.1 Study Area
3.1.2 <i>In-situ</i> Data and Sampled Lakes
3.1.3 Remote Sensing Data: Sentinel-2 and Landsat-5 & 8 Images . 14
3.2 Methods

	3.2.1	Image Selection	16
	3.2.2	Finding water pixels	16
	3.2.2	Field Sampling Point Correction	17
	3.2.2	Coherent Noise Problem	19
	3.2.3	Band Value Extraction	20
	3.2.4	Statistical Data Analysis and Correlations	20
4	RESULTS A	ND DISCUSSION	25
	4.1 Mapp	ing the water	25
	4.2 Field	and Satellite Data	27
	4.3 Cluste	ering	27
	4.4 Correl	lations between field measurements and Sentinel-2 band values	29
	4.4.1	Without Clustering	29
	4.4.2	Cluster 1	30
	4.4.3	Cluster 2	31
	4.4.4	Cluster 3	32
	4.4.5	Cluster 4	32
	4.4.6	Case Study: Lake Salda	33
	4.4.6	Results of the Case Study	33
5	CONCLUSI	ON	37
RI	EFERENCES		39
Al	PPENDICES		47
A	APPENDIX	A	49

	A.1	Paper A
	A.2	Paper B
B	APPE	ENDIX B
	<b>B</b> .1	General Dataset
	B.2	Case Study Dataset
	B.3	Periodically Measured Lakes

# LIST OF TABLES

# TABLES

Table 3.1	Field Sampling Summary	14
Table 3.2	Sentinel-2 bands	15
Table 3.3	Landsat-5 bands	15
Table 3.4	Landsat-8 bands	16
Table 3.5 on di	Zonal statistics of rectangular area on the surface of the Lake Salda fferent dates of blue bands of Sentinel-2 and Landsat-8 images	23
Table 4.1	A sample view of flat file	27
Table 4.2	$R^2$ values for both non-clustered and clustered data	30
Table 4.3	$R^2$ values for exact and buffered pixels	36
Table B.1	All-data flat file (B2, B3 etc. indicates Sentinel-2 Band2, Band3, etc.	96
Table B.2 in the	Sentinel-2 Bands (B2, B3, etc.) and EC values of exact field points e case study.	104
Table B.3	Sentinel-2 Band and EC values of buffered field points in the case	
study		105

# LIST OF FIGURES

# FIGURES

Figure 2.1	Spectral responses of different land covers. Figure retrieved	
from	(Huete, 2004)	7
Figure 3.1	Locations of selected closed basins and field sampling points in	
KCB	and BCB	12
Figure 3.2	YSI Multiprob (YSI 556-02, YSI Company, USA)	13
Figure 3.3	a) and b) show Normalised Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI)	
image	es of Lake Uyuz obtained from Landsat-8 (date of image-27.08.2019)	
and Se	entinel-2 (date of image-30.08.2019) respectively. c) and d) shows	
the M	NDWI images. The water surface areas obtained by the images	
are pr	esented in $km^2$ for each image	18
Figure 3.4	a) Point correction example of field sampling points. b) the orig-	
inal sa	ampling point showed as red, the corrected sampling point is blue.	
c) MN	VDWI image is presented	19
Figure 3.5	Landsat-5 images of Lake Düden. Bands are not atmospheri-	
cally o	corrected. Figures a1) and b1) are Fourier domians of the selected	
areas	on the lake surface. Figures a2) and b2) are close-up images of	
band 4	4 and the stripes on the lake surface can be interpreted visually.	21
Figure 3.6	Coherent noise over the Lake Düden. Left, CN of band 4. Right,	
CN of	MNDWI image	22

Figure	4.1	The True Color Image (TCI) of Lake Düden (above), surface
	water	boundary detected using the MNDWI binary image (Landsat-5
	and 8	is used.) Retrieved from (Y1lmaz et al., 2021)
Figure	4.2	Optimal number of cluster after obtained by Elbow method 28
Figure	4.3	EC and cluster groups
Figure	4.4	The cluster groups
Figure	4.5	Correlation between non-clustered EC and Sentinel-2 band val-
	ues	
Figure	4.6	Correlation between the EC and Sentinel-2 band values for dif-
	ferent	clusters
Figure	4.7	a) Sample points over surface path, b) Close look up to the inlet
	area.	Below, photograph is shoot on sampling date (25.07.2021) and
	place.	Photos from Lake Salda; c) shoreline, d) inlet area
Figure	4.8	EC and Sentinel-2 band values of exact sampled points in 25.07.2021. 35
Figure	4.9	a) Correlation of conductivity and exact pixel values of field
	points	, b) 8 x 8 median filtered pixel values
Figure	<b>B</b> .1	Periodically sampled points. a) Acıgöl-1, Acıgöl-2, Acıgöl-3, b)
	Bolluk	x-1, Bolluk-2, c) Tersakan-1, Tersakan-2, d) Tuz-1, Tuz-2, Tuz-3 . 106

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

BOA	Bottom of Atmosphere
ТОА	Top of Atmosphere
КСВ	Konya Closed Basin
BCB	Burdur Closed Basin
GEE	Google Earth Engine
NDWI	Normalized Difference Water Index
MNDWI	Modified Normalized Difference Water Index
TM	Thematic Mapper
OLI	Operational Land Imager
EC	Electrical Conductivity

#### **CHAPTER 1**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Global warming and change in precipitation patterns are predicted to intensify water loss in semi-arid and arid regions (IPCC, 2014, 2021). Among the eastern Mediterranean countries, Turkey will likely experience major increases in summer drought (Barcikowska et al., 2020). A recent study, based on global circulation models (GCMs) Bağçaci et al. (2021), showed that there will be at least a 2 °C increase in spring and summer mean temperatures and a 10% decrease in annual total precipitation in Turkey by 2100. Moreover, water abstraction, not least for irrigation purposes, is expected to increase markedly (Rodríguez Díaz et al., 2007; Yano et al., 2007). These changes are major threats to the water balance of many lakes that may dry out temporarily or permanently, with the shallower areas being particularly vulnerable. The magnitude of the future changes poses a major threat to the functioning and biodiversity of inland aquatic ecosystems. Many lakes especially in closed basins may dry out temporarily or permanently with rising temperature, while salinization in the remaining waterbodies may lead to reduced biodiversity (Flöder & Burns, 2004; Jeppesen et al., 2015; Schallenberg et al., 2003; Williams et al., 1990) and loss of ecosystem functioning (Lin et al., 2017; Vidal et al., 2021).

Salinity is one of the most important and essential parameters for the sustainability of the ecosystem. Both in the lackness and fullness might be harmful for the ecosystem. For example, there are some halocline bacteria that need a saline environment to live. In the reverse scenario, which is the fullness of the salinity, there are many types of crops, animals that are negatively affected. For example, some species, like flamingos, need to have saline, shallow lakes for breeding (Yılmaz et al., 2021). Hence, from micro- to macro-scale, creatures need a saline environment to live up to a level.

The dynamic change in the amount of water in the inland water bodies makes the importance of monitoring them frequently. The water level of big natural lakes and reservoirs of the dams are monitored by State Water Works (DSI) in Turkey. However, there are no records about the water level of the small ones. Besides the water level, the chemical properties of the lakes cannot be monitored frequently. Because, measuring on-site is not always possible or practical. However, one can make these measurements more easily with the technological improvements in the remote sensing area. For remote sensing, land monitoring satellites like Landsat 8, Sentinel-2 and Sentinel-3 are used, mostly because of their ease of use and open data access properties. There are several advantages of the remote sensing stated by Hellweger et al. (2004); the first one is remote sensing images cover large areas. Second, it allows one to reach inaccessible areas. Lastly, it has a long time series of images. Hellweger et al. (2004) also said that combining the ground and the satellite estimates is the most effective approach.

Positive and negative ions in the water causing the conductivity. There are several types of ions, such as Na<sup>+</sup>, Ca<sup>+2</sup>, K<sup>+</sup>, Mg<sup>+2</sup>, Cl<sup>-</sup>, SO<sub>4</sub><sup>-2</sup>, etc. which causes conductivity. Salinity is a converted parameter by measuring the conductivity of the water. Salinity is one of the optically active parameters due to changing the surface reflectance of the water, such as turbidity, phytoplankton, etc. which enable the optical satellites to monitor the surface of the water (Giardino et al., 2013).

There are six closed basins with different size of lakes in Turkey. Among these basins, two of them, namely Konya Closed Basin (KCB) and Burdur Closed Basin (BCB) are selected as study area. The semiarid Konya Closed Basin (KCB), the largest closed basin of Turkey, is spanning almost 50 000 km<sup>2</sup> and covering 7% of the country's land area. It has a population of 3.2 million and supports extensive agricultural activities that depend heavily on surface water and groundwater abstraction, implying that many natural streams have been regulated and channelized for dam construction to provide water for irrigation. The basin is hosting to several globally threatened waterbird species and is an important area for breeding, wintering, and migrating (Kirwan et al., 2010). A recent study, describing the predicted changes in the hydrogeological reserve of the basins in Turkey, reveals that the BCB will be the most affected Anatolian basin (The Ministry of Foresty and Water Affairs, 2016).

BCB is the smallest of the closed basins in Turkey. At the end of the present century, due to the effects of climate change, the hydrogeological reserve of the BCB will decrease by 14% and the possible reserve by 26% (The Ministry of Foresty and Water Affairs, 2016) compared with 3% and 6% in the KCB, which has already faced dramatic changes in recent decades (Y1lmaz et al., 2021). In the BCB, there are extensive agricultural activities (as in the KCB) that depend heavily on surface water and groundwater abstraction, and the surface water has been controlled by constructing dams that provide water for irrigation. The BCB includes the second- and third-deepest lakes in Turkey, while the lakes in the KCB are mainly shallow. In both areas, the lakes host large and diverse waterbird and fish populations. Some of the shallow lakes in both basins have already dried out, and the deeper lakes in the BCB have shown signs of shrinkage due to increased evaporation and water abstraction (Davraz et al., 2019a).

The main goal of this thesis is to present the use of optical remote sensing data to map the inland waters, to monitor the change of lake surface area and to investigate the possibility of mapping water salinity of the lakes from the satellite images. The study is performed in KCB and BCB.

In Chapter 1, the aim of the thesis is given. In Chapter 2, the literature and background information on the use of optical remote sensing data in identifyinginland water bodies, monitoring the surface area of the lakes and retrieving the salinity information from satellite data are presented. By this search, while we can see the accumulation information, we also see what we can provide to the literature. In Chapter 3, materials and methods used in this study are provided in detail. In Chapter 4, the results of the study are presented and discussed. In addition, a case study on the Lake Salda is presented in Chapter 4. In Chapter 5, the work done in this thesis is summarized, conclusions and recommendations are provided.

#### **CHAPTER 2**

#### **BACKGROUND INFORMATION AND LITERATURE REVIEW**

In this chapter, background information about used material and later, the studies in the literature which are related to the study area are reviewed.

In the past, airborne imagery has been chosen as a better tool for the remote sensing due to its better spatial properties (Dekker et al., 1996). However, with the development of spaceborne remote sensing technologies with improved spectral and spatial resolution, studies have shifted to this area.

Remote sensing technology offers effective ways to observe the dynamics of surface water. Remote sensing datasets provide spatially explicit and temporally frequent observations of a number of physical attributes on the Earth's surface that can be appropriately leveraged to map the extent of water bodies at regional or even global scale, and to monitor their dynamics at regular and frequent time intervals. There are generally two categories of sensors that can serve the purpose of measuring surface water, the optical sensor and the microwave sensor. Microwave sensors, due to their usage of long wavelength radiation, have the ability to penetrate cloud coverage and certain vegetation coverage. Independent of solar radiation, they can work day and night under any weather condition. Optical sensors have been widely applied in this field due to high data availability, as well as suitable spatial and temporal resolutions (Huang et al., 2015). Huang et al. (2018) present a review of using remote sensing in mapping water areas on the Earth surface and state that the number of publications has increased steadily after 2000.

Another study noted that remote sensing is an advantageous tool for the management of shallow waters (Kutser et al., 2020). They also state that shallow lakes are mostly located in places where it is hard to reach. Also, due to their shallowness, it is very dangerous for hydrographic ships and bathymetry surveys (Kutser et al., 2020). Karpatne et al. (2016) showed the importance of remote sensing of inland waters because they have a dynamic structure and are exposed to external impacts such as human effects, climate change, etc.

Another study stated that there is clearly reflectance difference between deep and shallow water surface (Albert & Mobley, 2003). The study by Stefanidis and Papastergiadou (2012) showed that morphometry has an undeniable effect on the water quality. Furthermore, Blix et al. (2018) stated that local studies are required for each lake due to their different optical properties that can cause large deviations.

Soomets et al. (2020) stated that there is very important knowledge about why Multi-Spectral Imager (MSI) of Sentinel-2 can be used as a water observer. Also, Operational Land Imager (OLCI) of Landsat-8 is designed for ocean and lake imager. However, the ground resolution of OLCI is 30 m, which makes it harder to observe small lakes, which are very important (Soomets et al., 2020; Tyler et al., 2006). They also recommend that preprocessing is an essential step for the analysis.

One the contrary, an initial study on Sentinel-2 used the Sen2Cor tool which is not designed for the water bodies and explore that Top of Atmosphere (TOA) results are better than the ones obtained from the Bottom of Atmosphere (BOA) reflectance values in the case of water qualities (Toming et al., 2016). Subsequently, Medina-Lopez and Ureña-Fuentes (2019) did not perform pre-processing steps and observed better results compared to the atmospherically corrected results. Also, by not applying the image preprocessing stage, time is shortened for the whole process.

## 2.1 Water Detection

Every matter has different spectral characteristics like signatures as seen in Figure 2.1. As nature of water, there is very low reflectance in the Near-Infrared (NIR) range of the spectrum.

The principle of extracting surface water from optical images is obviously based on

the lower reflectance of water, compared to that of other land cover types, in infrared channels. Many methods have been developed for extracting water areas from optical remote sensing imagery (Acharya et al., 2016; Frazier, Page, et al., 2000; Manavalan et al., 1993; Olthof, 2017; Ozesmi & Bauer, 2002; Sun et al., 2011). An easy and effective way to identify water is to use water indices, which are calculated from two or more bands, to identify the differences between water and non-water areas.



Figure 2.1: Spectral responses of different land covers. Figure retrieved from (Huete, 2004)

Gao (1996) proposed an index (Eq. 2.1) to find the water content in vegetation, which is called the Normalised Difference Water Index (NDWI) by using the NIR and Mid-Infrared (MidIR) parts of the spectrum.

$$NDWI_{Gao,1996} = \frac{NIR - MidIR}{NIR + MidIR}$$
(2.1)

McFeeters (1996) also proposed an index (Eq. 2.2), different than NDWI<sub>Gao,1996</sub>, to extract the water bodies, which is also called NDWI. In Figure 2.1, one can clearly see that, in NIR part of the spectrum, there is a huge reflectance difference between vegetation and water. On the other hand, in the visible (green) part of the spectrum, there is no clear difference. This principle is used while creating the indices.

$$NDWI_{McFetters,1996} = \frac{Green - NIR}{Green + NIR}$$
(2.2)

Our study aimed to detect the salinity of the water, so as the first step we need to find the water pixel. Xu (2006) modified the NDWI by using Green and the Short-Wave Infrared (SWIR) parts of the spectrum and created Modified Normalised Difference Water Index (MNDWI) Eq. 2.3 which is a useful tool for extracting the water body, especially for inland waters.

$$MNDWI = \frac{Green - SWIR}{Green + SWIR}$$
(2.3)

Du et al., 2016 realised that MNDWI gave a better result in mapping the water pixels than the NDWI<sub>McFetters,1996</sub>.

Besides that, there are many studies that used MNDWI to detect the water bodies and their seasonal changes (Hereher, 2015; Nair & Babu, 2016; Tebbs et al., 2013). Moreover, Hui et al. (2008) and later, Deus and Gloaguen (2013), combined these changes with hydrological and land use studies. Land use effects on lake surface area changes are also studied with MNDWI (Zhang et al., 2015). The surface area of the water in shallow lakes shows a strong correlation with climate effects and lake hydrology (Tebbs et al., 2013). Also, for Lake Burdur, which is the largest lake in BCB, MNDWI is the best index to obtain the change in lake surface area among three different water detection indices (Sarp & Ozcelik, 2017).

#### 2.2 Water Quality and Salinity Detection

In literature, the specific salinity measurements by optical sensors are not common. However, salinity is considered as a parameter that is a part of water quality in general. Ansari and Akhoondzadeh (2020) have tried to measure the salinity of the Karun River, in Iran, using Landsat-8 OLI.

Ritchie et al. (2003) state that empirical models are widely used in remote sensing studies in water quality studies. Dekker et al. (1996) stated that mathematical models

obtained by using remote sensing data may provide time series data depending on the quality of the model. With the help of this, one can use the past data on the study area if the model is good. Furthermore, prediction studies can be the next step by using this model. Mukhtar et al. (2021) used different empirical models to find salinity and other parameters .

As a sampling method, a study in China used different-sized average filters, such as 3 x 3 or 5 x 5, to sample pixels. Also, they sampled using the one-pixel method and saw that there is no best sampling method for remote sensing data (He et al., 2008). Wong et al. (2007) selected only offshore pixels to prevent the mixed pixel effect. Also, they generate an equation from the correlation of the bands with the sea surface salinity ground measurements. The correlations of the bands are not very reliable, but after modelling, they obtained higher correlations. Wang and Xu (2008) studied the salinity of the US Gulf in Mexico. They sampled the lake surface in horizontal and vertical directions. Again, they created a model and mapped the salinity. A similar study was conducted in Lake Balaton, which is the largest lake in central Europe, and suspended solid samples were taken horizontally and vertically from the lake surface and calibrated with Landsat TM (Tyler et al., 2006). Dewidar and Khedr (2001) conducted a similar study in the Egyptian lagoon to explore water quality parameters and salinity with a variety of salinities from low to high.

Hu et al. (2004) tried to find the salinity by Coloured Dissolved Material (CDOM) as an indirect method and they obtained linear, negative correlation.

#### **CHAPTER 3**

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

In this chapter, the materials and methods are described in details. In the materials section, information about the study area, *in-situ* data and related satellite images are given. Then, the ground truth data are presented. In the methodology part, the methods used in the study are explained in sub-sections. Field samplings, satellite image selection, classification of water pixels, retrieving values from satellite images, and statistical analysis are also given in detail in this section.

#### 3.1 Materials

#### 3.1.1 Study Area

Lakes in central Anatolia are facing drought problems due to the change in precipitation and temperature as a result of climate change. A 25%–30% decrease in precipitation and increased evaporation are expected by the end of the 21<sup>st</sup> century in the Mediterranean region, to be accompanied by an even stronger reduction in runoff of up to 30%–40%, (IPCC, 2014; Parry et al., 2007). It is known that this will lead to increased salinization of the lakes in these areas (Jeppesen et al., 2020). Among the eastern Mediterranean countries, Turkey will likely experience major increases in summer drought (Barcikowska et al., 2020). A recent study, based on global circulation models (GCMs) (Bağçaci et al., 2021), showed that there will be at least 2 °C increase in spring and summer mean temperatures and a 10% decrease in annual total precipitation in Turkey by 2100 (A.2). Moreover, water abstraction, not least for irrigation purposes, is expected to increase significantly (Rodríguez Díaz et al., 2007; Yano et al., 2007). The natural lakes in KCB (A.1-Figure 1) as being the largest, and BCB (A.2-Figure 1) as being one of the smallest closed basins in Turkey are selected in the scope of this thesis. The lakes in both basins host large and diverse populations of waterbirds and fish. Some of the shallow lakes in both basins have already dried out. The study areas are shown in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1: Locations of selected closed basins and field sampling points in KCB and BCB.

#### 3.1.2 In-situ Data and Sampled Lakes

The water salinity of selected lakes in two different basins was measured in the years 2015-2016 of the entire season, 2020-2022 of field trips of the summer season within the scope of the 118C250 BIDEB project.

In the measured of field data parameters, conductivity  $(\mu S/cm)$  (also used as Electrical Conductivity - EC), salinity (converted from EC, *ppt* - parts per thousand), dissolved oxygen (%), temperature (°*C*) etc. are included. The pysical parameters were measured by using calibrated YSI multiprob (YSI 556-02, YSI Company, USA) (Figure 3.2) during whole sampling campaign. However, EC is the only common pa-

rameter for the all field works. Therefore, we decided to use only the EC parameter.



Figure 3.2: YSI Multiprob (YSI 556-02, YSI Company, USA).

The coordinates of all the samples obtained from the GPS where WGS84 datum and UTM coordinate system are used.

During these field trips, different types of lakes like shallow, deep, natural, artificial, saline, or alkaline lakes were included in the target list.

In field trip FS, saline lakes which have usually high and moderate salinities are selected and sampled periodically in KCB. 101 points are selected from 4 different lakes (Lake Tuz, Tersakan, Bolluk and Acıgöl) in different periods of the year 2016. The range of conductivity values in FS is 9,044 - 251,768  $\mu$ S/cm.

Natural, artificial dams, and saline lakes are sampled in a short date range in the KCB. 43 sample points are selected from various lakes. The range of conductivity values in FT1 is  $64 - 240,000 \mu$ S/cm.

Lakes have different contents, sampled in a short date range in KCB and BCB. The range of conductivity values in FT2 is 398 - 237,300 µS/cm.

High-salinity lakes are sampled in a short date range in KCB in BCB. 3 of the sample points selected in KCB, remaining one is selected in BCB. The range of conductivity values in FT3 is  $72,440 - 266,900 \,\mu$ S/cm.

During the field trips 165 points are sampled in total and summary of field trips are given in Table 3.1.

Field	Start Data	Fnd Data	Number of	Basin	EC Range	Notes
Trip Code	Start Date	End Date	Samples	Dasin	(µS/cm)	Notes
FS	12.12.2015	10.12.2016	101	KCB	9,044-251,768	Periodical
FT1	23.06.2020	27.06.2020	43	KCB	64-240,000	Snapshot
FT2	05.07.2021	26.07.2021	18	KCB-BCB	398-237,300	Snapshot
FT3	18.05.2022	21.05.2022	4	KCB-BCB	72,440-266,900	Snapshot

Table 3.1: Field Sampling Summary

#### 3.1.3 Remote Sensing Data: Sentinel-2 and Landsat-5 & 8 Images

Sentinel-2 is one of the missions of the European Space Agency (ESA). It is a twin satellite constellation which has wide-swath, high-resolution, multi-spectral imaging capabilities. These twin satellites are placed at 180° in the orbit. The temporal resolution of the satellites is 5 days/cycle. Sentinel-2 carries a MultiSpectral Instrument (MSI) passive imager. Sentinel-2 has 13 bands that are shown in Table 3.2. Bands 1, 9, and 10 are designed for atmospheric corrections. Also, bandwidth of the band 8A is in the range of band 8, which has better spatial resolution. Therefore, these bands are excluded in this study.

The Landsat programme was initiated by the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) and the United States Geological Survey (USGS) about 50 years ago. Landsat legacy has provided very important data to monitor the changes in earth. Landsat-5 is one of the important members of this legacy by its longest-served satellite (29 years) title. Moreover, it has temporal resolution of 16 days and ground resolution of 30 meters. Landsat-5 carries Thematic Mapper (TM) sensor. Band properties of Landsat-5 are given in Table 3.3

The other important optical imager is Landsat-8. It is one the milestone in this legacy and it was launced in 2013. Temporal and ground resolutions are the same as Landsat-5. Landsat-8 carries two sensors, one is Operational Land Imager (OLI) and the other is Thermal Infrared Sensor (TIRS). The Landsat-8 band designation is provided in Table 3.4.

Landsat-5 & 8 and Sentinel-2 data are used in mapping the waterpixels and monitoring the change in water surface area of the lakes in this study.

### Table 3.2: Sentinel-2 bands

	Sentinel	-2A	Sentinel-2B		
Bands	Central	Bandwidth	Central	Bandwidth	Spatial
	wavelength (nm)	( <b>nm</b> )	wavelength (nm)	( <b>nm</b> )	resolution (m)
Band 1 – Coastal aerosol	442.7	21	442.2	21	60
Band 2 – Blue	492.4	66	492.1	66	10
Band 3 – Green	559.8	36	559.0	36	10
Band 4 – Red	664.6	31	664.9	31	10
Band 5 – Vegetation red edge	704.1	15	703.8	16	20
Band 6 – Vegetation red edge	740.5	15	739.1	15	20
Band 7 – Vegetation red edge	782.8	20	779.7	20	20
Band 8 – NIR	832.8	106	832.9	106	10
Band 8A – Narrow NIR	864.7	21	864.0	22	20
Band 9 – Water vapour	945.1	20	943.2	21	60
Band 10 - SWIR - Cirrus	1373.5	31	1376.9	30	60
Band 11 – SWIR	1613.7	91	1610.4	94	20
Band 12 – SWIR	2202.4	175	2185.7	185	20

Table	3.3	: L	_andsat-5	bands
-------	-----	-----	-----------	-------

Bands	Central	Bandwidth	Spatial	
Danus	wavelength (nm)	(nm)	resolution (m)	
Band 1 - Blue	485.0	70	30	
Band 2 - Green	560.0	80	30	
Band 3 - Red	660.0	60	30	
Band 4 - NIR	830.0	140	30	
Band 5 - SWIR	1650.0	200	30	
Band 6 - Thermal Infrared	11450.0	2100	120	
Band 7 - SWIR	2215.0	270	30	

Sentinel-2 MSI Level-1C data is used for EC data analysis. (Medina-Lopez & Ureña-Fuentes, 2019) stated that non-preprocessed images give better results for water quality studies. Google Earth Engine repository is used for both image selection and pixel extraction. The Sentinel-2 data contain 13 spectral bands which have 16-bit unsigned integer (UINT16) data type representing TOA reflectance scaled by 10,000.

#### Table 3.4: Landsat-8 bands

Bands	Central	Bandwidth	Spatial
	wavelength (nm)	( <b>nm</b> )	resolution (m)
Band 1 - Coastal Aerosol	443.0	16	30
Band 2 - Blue	482.0	60	30
Band 3 - Green	561.0	57	30
Band 4 - Red	655.0	37	30
Band 5 - NIR	865.0	28	30
Band 6 - SWIR	1609.0	85	30
Band 7 - SWIR	2201.0	187	30
Band 8 - Pan	590.0	172	15
Band 9 - Cirrus	1373.0	20	30
Band 10 - Thermal Infrared	10895.0	590	100
Band 11 - Thermal Infrared	12005.0	1010	100

#### 3.2 Methods

#### **3.2.1 Image Selection**

In order to decide the satellite images, the following conditions are required;

- Cloud free pixel (Checked from QA60 Cloud Mask obtained from GEE Sentinel-2 Level-1 product)
- Minimum date difference with the field sampling date (manual selection from image list)

After applying these conditions, 71 Sentinel-2 (years between 2015-2020), 112 Landsat-5 (years between 1984-2011), and 32 Landsat-8 (years between 2013-2020) images are selected.

## 3.2.2 Finding water pixels

As mentioned in Chapter 2 in detail, MNDWI can be used to find the water pixels. However, the ground resolution of the Sentinel-2 bands are different as seen in Table 3.2. Therefore, Du et al. (2016) suggest band 3 and resampled band 11 (to 10 m). As a result we modified the Eq. 2.3 for Sentinel-2 images as given in Eq. 3.1, for Landsat-5 as given in Eq. 3.2, and for Landsat-8 images as given in Eq. 3.3.

$$MNDWI_{S2} = \frac{Band3 - Band11}{Band3 + Band11}$$
(3.1)

$$MNDWI_{L5} = \frac{Band2 - Band5}{Band2 + Band5}$$
(3.2)

$$MNDWI_{L8} = \frac{Band3 - Band6}{Band3 + Band6}$$
(3.3)

As a result of MNDWI image, range of pixel values are -1 to 1. Positive values of MNDWI indicate water pixels. An example MNDWI image can be seen in Figure 3.3c and 3.3d.

Figure 3.3 shows that water areas of Lake Uyuz obtained by Landsat-8 and Sentinel-2 in similar dates. Lake Uyuz has very dense marches near the shore indicated by red colour. MNDWI method clearly separates vegetation and water pixels, as seen in Figures 3.3c and 3.3d.

As area detection method, negative NDVI values (3.3a, 3.3b) and MNDWI values which is larger than 0.1 (3.3c, 3.3d) interpreted as water pixels. And the water areas are polygonized and measured in km<sup>2</sup>. As clearly seen in Figure 3.3, Sentinel-2 has better area detection due to its higher spatial resolution.

#### 3.2.2.1 Field Sampling Point Correction

While *in-situ* sampling, the common approach is to take samples from the lake shore. Therefore, we used the one pixel sample from where the water is observed for the sampling point. Thus, the first criterion for pixel selection is  $MNDWI \ge 0.1$ . On the other hand, due to possible reflectance errors, the selected pixels cannot be located in deep water as well. Due to projection and GPS errors, most of the sample points are located in the land side of the shore. Also, the kernel methods used in the study of He



Figure 3.3: a) and b) show Normalised Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) images of Lake Uyuz obtained from Landsat-8 (date of image-27.08.2019) and Sentinel-2 (date of image-30.08.2019) respectively. c) and d) shows the MNDWI images. The water surface areas obtained by the images are presented in km<sup>2</sup> for each image.

et al. (2008) cannot be performed due to a possible mixed-pixel problem which means land and water reflectances can mix and this may cause a possible error. Therefore, manual correction of field sampling points is essential. An example of a sampled point location is given in Figure 3.4a. Original and corrected field sample points are shown in Figures 3.4b and 3.4c, respectively.

A different method was applied for the case study and is explained in section 4.4.6.


Figure 3.4: a) Point correction example of field sampling points. b) the original sampling point showed as red, the corrected sampling point is blue. c) MNDWI image is presented.

## 3.2.2.2 Coherent Noise Problem

During this study, there are some stripes observed on the lake surface areas (Figure 3.5, Figure 3.6). These stripes are the result of an artefact called Coherent Noise (CN). Helder and Ruggles (2004) defined the CN as a periodic pattern with low amplitude generally seen in homogenous areas like water surfaces and deserts.

Pahlevan et al. (2017) stated that this artifact is related with the Signal to Noise Ratio (SNR). SNR is inversely correlated with the CN. Also, they found that, in turbid

waters, this noise is reducing. Pahlevan et al. (2018) also said that this problem occurs more strongly in the blue (480 - 490 nm) band.

There are some studies to reduce this CN. There are mainly two approaches. First one is using the median filter to the bands (Nichol & Vohora, 2004; Pahlevan et al., 2018) and the other one is filtering the image in the Fourier domain (Tilton et al., 1985).

In this study, both median and Fourier filtering methods are tried for several lake images. However, because of the huge variation of the images and the application difficulties, it is not found feasable to apply the correction, therefore none of them are applied in this study.

In order to see the differences between the Sentinel-2 and Landsat-8 CN characteristics, monthly images are selected for 2016, for Lake Salda. Non-cloudy blue band is considered for the analysis. Unfortunately, less number of Landsat images were found due to cloudness problem. No significant seasonality is observed according to the results of the analysis shown in Table 3.5.

## 3.2.3 Band Value Extraction

Sentinel-2 has 13 bands as mentioned in Table 3.2. Values of selected bands of Sentinel-2 from the field sampling points are automatically extracted from the images in Google Earth Engine (GEE). After extraction, criterias mentioned in Section 3.2.1 are applied while selecting the appropriate band values. The band values corresponding to field sampled conductivity values are obtained as a flat file.

#### 3.2.4 Statistical Data Analysis and Correlations

First of all, K-Means method is selected for clustering the dataset proposed by Mac-Queen (1967) according to their conductivity levels. Before applying the K-means method, the optimal number of clusters is decided using the elbow method proposed by Tibshirani et al. (2001). According to the result of optimal cluster number, Kmeans clustering is applied. After clustering, correlation between band values and conductivity values is calculated for the whole dataset and for each cluster. As a cor-



Figure 3.5: Landsat-5 images of Lake Düden. Bands are not atmospherically corrected. Figures a1) and b1) are Fourier domians of the selected areas on the lake surface. Figures a2) and b2) are close-up images of band 4 and the stripes on the lake surface can be interpreted visually.

relation method, Pearson's correlation coefficient (Pearson, 1895) is used and results of  $R^2$  values are obtained. R language is used for statistical analyses.



Figure 3.6: Coherent noise over the Lake Düden. Left, CN of band 4. Right, CN of MNDWI image.

Date	Median	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max				
Sentinel-2									
06-03-16	1005.00	1005.88	22.46	936.00	1100.00				
05-04-16	857.00	854.20	15.71	781.00	896.00				
25-05-16	1207.38	1258.34	257.90	838.00	4390.00				
24-06-16	1091.56	1109.14	127.73	851.00	1913.00				
14-07-16	929.51	973.22	96.24	867.00	1489.00				
23-08-16	1150.00	1150.63	15.48	1090.00	1215.00				
12-09-16	935.00	936.67	12.56	891.00	1014.00				
02-10-16	818.00	819.36	11.40	780.00	872.00				
21-11-16	758.50	789.95	84.22	669.00	981.00				
11-12-16	850.00	849.77	11.06	798.00	897.00				
Landsat-8									
22-02-16	7636.53	7628.77	64.48	7470.00	7836.00				
10-04-16	9118.46	9126.25	43.11	9032.00	9294.00				
15-07-16	9418.48	9440.81	73.75	9288.00	9794.00				
16-08-16	11014.45	11027.73	83.31	10793.00	11299.00				
17-09-16	8196.00	8200.77	21.80	8151.00	8297.00				
19-10-16	7984.00	7987.75	25.44	7930.00	8115.00				
20-11-16	7422.00	7422.61	17.24	7372.00	7482.00				

Table 3.5: Zonal statistics of rectangular area on the surface of the Lake Salda on different dates of blue bands of Sentinel-2 and Landsat-8 images.

#### **CHAPTER 4**

## **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

In this chapter, the results obtained from the proposed methodology are given. Also, Lake Salda is investigated in more detail as a case study. The average date difference between sample dates and the satellite images is 3 days. The maximum difference is 16 days because of the cloudy periods over the area.

#### 4.1 Mapping the water

The lake surface area is determined from MNDWI data. The performance of this index is evaluated in published papers in which Landsat-5 and 8 data were used to monitor the changes in lake surface areas (Appendix A.1, Appendix A.2). The index performed very well in mapping the lakes in KCB and BCB. As an example lake from KCB, Lake Düden is mapped for the years between 1985-2020 in 5-year periods as presented in Figure 4.1.

In further detailed studies on the KCB, meteorological and hydrological parameters are included and discussed in details on the published paper presented in the Appendix A.1. For KCB, Figure 5b in A.1 shows the SPEI which is highly related with meteorological parameters temperature and precipitation, and the surface areas of the lakes Düden and Uyuz. The results of this study showed that about 50% of the surface area of these three lakes was lost during the 35-year period. Also, Lake Uyuz has a lower dependence on groundwater than the other two and this shows the hydrological differences of the lakes. After 2000, there is a significant decrease in SPEI values and surface areas which indicated the water deficit in the KCB. In addition to this, the uncontrolled use of groundwater for irrigation purposes causes a significant decrease



Figure 4.1: The True Color Image (TCI) of Lake Düden (above), surface water boundary detected using the MNDWI binary image (Landsat-5 and 8 is used.) Retrieved from (Yılmaz et al., 2021).

in groundwater levels in KCB (Appendix A.1).

Other published paper on BCB showed that there is a trend of increasing temperature while no-change in precipitation (Appendix A.2 - Figure 8). As a result of this, water loss is increasing due to the increase in evaporation and transpiration. Also, negative SPEI values indicate dry conditions, which has an additional effect on water loss (Appendix A.2 - Figure 5). As discussed in the paper (Appendix A.2), each lake has different responses to the SPEI. For example, while changes in deep lakes (e.g. Lake Burdur and Salda) depend on meteorological events, shallower lakes (e.g. Lakes Acıgöl and Akgöl) depend on groundwater and streamflow (Appendix A.2).

The climate projection models used for the BCB predict an increase in annual mean temperature of up to 1.18 °C, an increase in annual precipitation of 10 mm per year where the long term mean annual precipitation is 413 mm. Also, an increase in the potential annual evaporation of 200 mm per year (Appendix A.2) is predicted. The budget analysis of Lake Burdur (the third deepest lake in Turkey) and the projected SPEI values (Appendix A.2-Eq. 1, Figure 9, Figure 10) show that there is a high risk that the lake may reach the critical level due to excessive evaporation and water abstraction for irrigation until 2080 (Appendix A.2-Figure 9). Lake Acıgöl also faces great shrinkage, since its water balance is highly controlled by the water use of the salt and sulfate facilities around the lake.

FCODE	Name	EC	B2	<b>B3</b>	<b>B4</b>	B5	<b>B6</b>	<b>B7</b>	<b>B8</b>	B11	B12
FT1_01	Godet_Dam	357.50	910	806	762	718	764	795	745	281	488
FT1_02	Ibrala_Dam	293.60	1203	1153	830	814	853	908	796	441	557
FT1_03	Ayranci_Dam	306.00	1384	1567	1155	992	948	995	909	327	567
FT1_04	Ivriz_Dam	261.80	1123	1102	2157	2239	2640	2939	2731	322	2548
FT1_05	Akgol	3039.00	1055	1054	896	1178	1876	2206	1644	613	541
FT1_06	Yollarbasi_Dam	302.20	1146	1181	1542	1598	1783	2007	3109	480	1588
FT1_07	Delicay_Dam	383.10	1343	1477	1046	912	831	872	870	379	534
FT1_08	Aydogmus_Dam	386.30	1016	989	765	693	664	707	653	268	358
FT1_09	Apa_Dam	217.30	1099	1011	627	597	575	597	536	418	346
FT1_10	Sugla_Lake	231.30	1326	1286	649	695	680	662	527	813	430

Table 4.1: A sample view of flat file.

#### 4.2 Field and Satellite Data

The spectral band values (B2, B3, B4, B5, B6, B7, B8, B11, and B12) from Sentinel-2 MSI Level-1C data corresponding to the EC values sampled at the field are generated as a flat file. A sample view is given in Table 4.1 and all data are presented in Appendix B.1.

#### 4.3 Clustering

The dataset used in the clustering consists of the EC values sampled at the lake and the associated Sentinel-2 band values. The clustering is applied for 165 sample points since the sampled lakes have different characteristics and conductivity values. K-means clustering method is used after deciding the number of clusters from the result of Elbow method (Tibshirani et al., 2001). According to the elbow method, the optimal clustering number is obtained as 4 (Figure 4.2) since beyond 4 cluster, the effect of the clustering is negligible. When dataset is sorted, the pattern can be seen in Figure 4.3. The dataset has very wide conductivity properties. This means that there are different types of lakes in terms of conductivity. Naturally, different lakes have different colours and dynamics. Therefore, reflectance spectrums may be different. Spatial distribution of the clusters is mapped in Figure 4.4. In this figure, we can see

that there is a wide spread of the lakes over the basins KCB and BCB.



## **Optimal number of Clustering**

Figure 4.2: Optimal number of cluster after obtained by Elbow method.



Figure 4.3: EC and cluster groups.



Figure 4.4: The cluster groups

#### 4.4 Correlations between field measurements and Sentinel-2 band values

In this section, correlations between field measurements and datasets without clustering, different cluster groups are investigated.

#### 4.4.1 Without Clustering

When all data are taken into consideration without clustering by conductivities,  $R^2$  of the highest correlations found for Band 2 and Band 3 as 0.60 and 0.61 respectively. All  $R^2$  values are presented in Table 4.2 and Figure 4.5. In the figure, we can see that there is a difference between Band 2, 3 and others. The correlation between the first three bands and the remaining nine bands is very low.

B2	B3	B4	B5	B6	<b>B7</b>	<b>B8</b>	B11	B12
0.602	0.617	0.213	0.205	0.094	0.086	0.069	0.093	-0.222
0.640	0.640	-0.002	0.035	0.033	0.041	-0.019	0.581	0.066
0.123	0.256	0.143	0.155	0.010	0.011	-0.016	-0.075	-0.117
0.007	-0.021	0.013	0.040	0.009	-0.011	0.003	-0.143	-0.166
-0.114	-0.076	-0.009	0.007	0.016	0.037	0.062	0.157	0.169
	<b>B2</b> 0.602 0.640 0.123 0.007 -0.114	B2         B3           0.602         0.617           0.640         0.640           0.123         0.256           0.007         -0.021           -0.114         -0.076	B2         B3         B4           0.602         0.617         0.213           0.640         0.640         -0.002           0.123         0.256         0.143           0.007         -0.021         0.013           -0.114         -0.076         -0.009	B2         B3         B4         B5           0.602         0.617         0.213         0.205           0.640         0.640         -0.002         0.035           0.123         0.256         0.143         0.155           0.007         -0.021         0.013         0.040           -0.114         -0.076         -0.009         0.007	B2         B3         B4         B5         B6           0.602         0.617         0.213         0.205         0.094           0.640         0.640         -0.002         0.035         0.033           0.123         0.256         0.143         0.155         0.010           0.007         -0.021         0.013         0.040         0.009           -0.114         -0.076         -0.009         0.007         0.016	B2         B3         B4         B5         B6         B7           0.602         0.617         0.213         0.205         0.094         0.086           0.640         0.640         -0.002         0.035         0.033         0.041           0.123         0.256         0.143         0.155         0.010         0.011           0.007         -0.021         0.013         0.040         0.009         -0.011           -0.114         -0.076         -0.009         0.007         0.016         0.037	B2         B3         B4         B5         B6         B7         B8           0.602         0.617         0.213         0.205         0.094         0.086         0.069           0.640         0.640         -0.002         0.035         0.033         0.041         -0.019           0.123         0.256         0.143         0.155         0.010         0.011         -0.016           0.007         -0.021         0.013         0.040         0.009         -0.011         0.003           -0.114         -0.076         -0.009         0.007         0.016         0.037         0.062	B2         B3         B4         B5         B6         B7         B8         B11           0.602         0.617         0.213         0.205         0.094         0.086         0.069         0.093           0.640         0.640         -0.002         0.035         0.033         0.041         -0.019         0.581           0.123         0.256         0.143         0.155         0.010         0.011         -0.016         -0.075           0.007         -0.021         0.013         0.040         0.009         -0.011         0.003         -0.143           -0.114         -0.076         -0.009         0.017         0.016         0.037         0.062         0.157

Table 4.2:  $R^2$  values for both non-clustered and clustered data.



Figure 4.5: Correlation between non-clustered EC and Sentinel-2 band values

## 4.4.2 Cluster 1

Cluster 1 has the lowest conductivity range between  $64.79 - 46775.00 \,\mu$ S/cm. Mostly, freshwaters, artificial lakes, and dams are in this cluster. After cluster, 56 points are placed in this group. In Table 4.2, the correlations between low conductivity cluster and Band 2, 3 and 11 is the highest among others. Furthermore, the correlations between other bands can be seen in Figure 4.6a. Bands 2, 3 and 11 has low correlation between the other 6 bands.



Figure 4.6: Correlation between the EC and Sentinel-2 band values for different clusters.

#### 4.4.3 Cluster 2

Cluster 2 has the conductivity range between  $69,520 - 124,482 \mu$ S/cm. After cluster, 58 points are placed in this group. The correlations between conductivity cluster and Band 3 is the highest among others. However, it is not a high correlation. On the other hand, in Figure 4.6b, the correlations between bands are significant.

#### 4.4.4 Cluster 3

Cluster 3 has the conductivity range between  $137,548 - 196,543 \mu$ S/cm. After cluster, 22 points are placed in this group. There is no significant correlation observed between EC and Sentinel-2 bands. On the other hand, there is good correlation between all bands, except Bands 11 and 12, as seen in Figure 4.6c.

#### 4.4.5 Cluster 4

Cluster 4 has the highest conductivity range between  $200,641 - 266,900 \mu$ S/cm. After cluster, 29 points are placed in this group. Mostly, iconic Lake Tuz and some salt production areas like Lakes Bolluk and Tersakan are in this cluster. There is no significant correlation between conductivity and band values. On the other hand, in Figure 4.6d, the correlations between bands are significant, except Bands 11 and 12.

As seen in the non-clustered and clustered results, there are no significant correlations between the conductivity and the Sentinel-2 band reflectances. For the whole dataset, Bands 2-3 show high correlation with conductivity values. However, results of the clusters show that there is no correlation between the bands except the Cluster 1, which is the lowest conductivity cluster.

As seen in Table 3.1, lakes were periodically visited and sampled between 2015 and 2016. There are 4 lakes in this category, Acıgöl, Bolluk, Tersakan and Lake Tuz. Therefore, we look at these lakes in a time-series (Appendix - Figure B.1). For Acıgöl and Lake Tuz there were 3 different sample locations, whereas for Bolluk and Tersakan there are 2 sample locations. There are different characteristics of sampling locations of the lakes. This is the reason behind why conductivities of the same lakes show different values. As seen in the Appendix - Figure B.1, there are missing data at some dates because of cloud contamination or sampling difficulties. There are no seasonality and meaningful correlations obtained from these samples.

#### 4.4.6 Case Study: Lake Salda

Lake Salda is one of the important inland waters in Turkey. Lake Salda is selected as natural protected environment in 2019 because of its ecological features (Dereli & Tercan, 2020). It has some unique properties. Lake Salda is one of the deepest lakes in Turkey by its depth up to 100 m. However, there are some other comments on the depth which emphasised that the depth is up to 190 m (Dereli & Tercan, 2020). The composition of the lake is mostly alkaline with the EC range 1690 - 2124  $\mu$ S/cm (Davraz et al., 2019b). Davraz et al. (2019b) compared the EC of Lake Salda in dry and wet periods, and realized that conductivity is increasing in dry period.

Lake Salda has a special place among the sampled lakes because the methodology of sampling is different. The sampling path on the surface is selected. The sampling is started at P01 (Figure 4.7a) which is located near the inlet of the lake. A similar method applied to the Lake Pontchartrain as selecting vertical and horizontal paths over the lake surface in Wang and Xu (2008). The main expectation from this study is to identify if there is any difference in the surface salinity and related band values of Sentinel-2. Therefore, we sampled the surface water with the multiprob as described in Chapter 3.1.2, approximately in each 100 meters and 50 cm depth. The date difference between sampling date (27.07.2021) and the nearest-time Sentinel-2 image (25.07.2021) is 2 days.

The buffered (8 x 8 pixels) and the exact pixel points are extracted from the images. In Figure 4.7a, the path of sampling can be seen.

## 4.4.6.1 Results of the Case Study

EC and extracted band values for 27 sample points are given in the Appendix B.2, B.3. The conductivity values are also presented in Figure 4.8. As expected, conductivity values are not changing dramatically over the lake surface area, as seen in Figure 4.8. Salda has an inlet near the field sample point (P01) (Figure 4.7). Sikora and Kjerfve (1985) and Wang and Xu (2008) commented that there are fluctuations in the estuarine lakes which implies the existence of an inlet river. In Figure 4.8a, first point is a sample from the inlet of the lake. Also, Sentinel-2 band values are grapically



Figure 4.7: a) Sample points over surface path, b) Close look up to the inlet area. Below, photograph is shoot on sampling date (25.07.2021) and place. Photos from Lake Salda; c) shoreline, d) inlet area.

presented in Figure 4.8.

The correlations between conductivities of sampled points and the Sentinel-2 data are given in the Table 4.3. Also, correlations with respect to Sentinel-2 bands can be seen in Figure 4.9.

The results of this case study showed that, except bands 2 and 3, there are small correlation between the conductivity and the exact band reflectance values. The method of buffering has slightly lower correlation results than exact point method. As a contradiction to the all conductivity data over the KCB and BCB (Figure 4.5), the bands, except bands 2 and 3, have very low correlation. Also, as seen in Figure 4.9 there are no significant correlation.



Figure 4.8: EC and Sentinel-2 band values of exact sampled points in 25.07.2021.



Figure 4.9: a) Correlation of conductivity and exact pixel values of field points, b) 8 x 8 median filtered pixel values.

Lake Salda is in the first cluster (Figure 4.6a) with respect to its conductivity. However, the correlation results in Table 4.3 show different pattern than the first cluster. While bands 2, 3 and 11 show highest correlation with conductivity values in the first cluster, bands 2 and 3 has the lowest correlation with surface conductivity of Lake Salda in the case study.

Dörnhöfer and Oppelt (2016) emphesized that different lake properties affect the reflectances of the surface of the lakes. Therefore, there are many emprical studies for specific area and sensors are developed, rather than general aspect (Dörnhöfer & Oppelt, 2016).

In our dataset, there are many different types of lakes. For the low conductivity classes, there are mostly freshwater dams and freshwater natural lakes exist. Also, chemical compositions of the lakes show variations. For example, Lake Burdur is an alkaline and very deep lake with high ion compositon, whereas Lake Acıgöl is hypersaline soda and very shallow lake situated in a tectonic depression (Çolak et al., 2022). Therefore, in this study, it was found that raw band and conductivity correlations is not enough to develop a general relationship between electrical conductivity and reflectance values of optical bands.

Table 4.3:  $R^2$  values for exact and buffered pixels.

	B2	<b>B3</b>	<b>B4</b>	B5	<b>B6</b>	<b>B7</b>	<b>B8</b>	B11	B12
Exact point	0.168	0.194	0.351	0.368	0.300	0.329	0.353	0.385	0.366
<b>Buffered</b> point	0.160	0.176	0.249	0.253	0.246	0.253	0.250	0.304	0.361

## **CHAPTER 5**

#### CONCLUSION

Studies showed that with climate change and an increase in temperature patterns, lakes are getting in target. As a semi-arid region; KCB and BCB are in this target list. In KCB, the surface areas of the lakes are significantly decreased, as observed in Lake Düden. In the studied dataset, there are huge variety in lakes in terms of area, depth, composition, colour, conductivity etc. Therefore, monitoring of these lake is an important target for the better environmental future.

Optical satellite imagers are very powerful at mapping the water surface area even in vegetative lakes using MNDWI. In this study, time-series of many lake surface areas are measured. Also, Landsat legacy provides land images since 1984 and this is a very important tool for monitoring the changes in the land cover. Sentinel-2 has some advantages over the Landsat-8 in terms of its spatial and temporal resolutions.

Naturally, in all optical imagers, there are some artefacts. One of them is Coherent Noise problem, which occurs mainly on homogenous surfaces such as lakes, seas, and desserts. Therefore, for surface analyses, this noise effect should be considered. In this study, the sample pixels were selected according to this as one point and its neighbours, rather than averaging the band values for all the surface area of the lake under investigation.

The lakes are clustered according to their conductivity levels. Sentinel-2 bands are compared with each cluster. Unfortunately, there are no meaningful correlations between the bands and the *in-situ* conductivity measurements. In addition, during the field trip in 2021, surface conductivity values of Lake Salda were measured, and then, correlation between measurements and Sentinel-2 bands are calculated. Unfor-

tunately, again there is no meaningful correlations obtained. Generally, field samples are taken from the shores of the lakes, so this may cause the mismatch with the lake surface conductivity. For example, in Lake Salda, conductivity values are uniformly distributed while, in the estuarine part of the lake, conductivity values are slightly lower.

Different lakes show different reflectance properties, and their conductivity levels depend on many other parameters; therefore, the construction of a general correlation without considering these parameters is not applicable in this level of study.

For future steps, more field studies should be conducted periodically in different types of inland waters. Also, many other parameters such as depth, colour, turbidity, temperature, precipitation, and hydrological dynamics of the lakes should be included in the analyses. These parameters can be investigated using artificial intelligence methods, as the number of samples increases.

## REFERENCES

- Acharya, T. D., Lee, D. H., Yang, I. T., & Lee, J. K. (2016). Identification of water bodies in a landsat 8 oli image using a j48 decision tree. *Sensors*, *16*(7), 1075.
- Albert, A., & Mobley, C. D. (2003). An analytical model for subsurface irradiance and remote sensing reflectance in deep and shallow case-2 waters. *Optics Express*, 11(22), 2873–2890.
- Ansari, M., & Akhoondzadeh, M. (2020). Mapping water salinity using landsat-8 OLI satellite images (case study: Karun basin located in iran). Advances in Space Research, 65(5), 1490–1502. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asr.2019.12.007
- Bağçaci, S. Ç., Yucel, I., Duzenli, E., & Yilmaz, M. T. (2021). Intercomparison of the expected change in the temperature and the precipitation retrieved from CMIP6 and CMIP5 climate projections: A Mediterranean hot spot case, Turkey. *Atmospheric Research*, 256, 105576. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosres.2021. 105576
- Barcikowska, M. J., Kapnick, S. B., Krishnamurty, L., Russo, S., Cherchi, A., & Folland, C. K. (2020). Changes in the future summer Mediterranean climate: Contribution of teleconnections and local factors [Publisher: Copernicus GmbH]. *Earth System Dynamics*, 11(1), 161–181. https://doi.org/10.5194/esd-11-161-2020
- Blix, K., Pálffy, K., R. Tóth, V., & Eltoft, T. (2018). Remote Sensing of Water Quality Parameters over Lake Balaton by Using Sentinel-3 OLCI [Number: 10 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute]. *Water*, 10(10), 1428. https://doi.org/10.3390/w10101428
- Çolak, M. A., Öztaş, B., Özgencil, İ. K., Soyluer, M., Korkmaz, M., Ramírez-García, A., Metin, M., Yılmaz, G., Ertuğrul, S., Tavşanoğlu, Ü. N., Amorim, C. A., Özen, C., Apaydın Yağcı, M., Yağcı, A., Pacheco, J. P., Özkan, K., Beklioğlu, M., Jeppesen, E., & Akyürek, Z. (2022). Increased Water Abstraction and Climate Change Have Substantial Effect on Morphometry, Salinity, and Biotic

Communities in Lakes: Examples from the Semi-Arid Burdur Basin (Turkey). *Water*, *14*(8), 1241. https://doi.org/10.3390/w14081241

- Davraz, A., Sener, E., & Şener, S. (2019a). Evaluation of climate and human effects on the hydrology and water quality of Burdur Lake, Turkey. *Journal of African Earth Sciences*, 158, 103569. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jafrearsci.2019. 103569
- Davraz, A., Varol, S., Sener, E., Sener, S., Aksever, F., Kırkan, B., & Tokgözlü, A. (2019b). Assessment of water quality and hydrogeochemical processes of salda alkaline lake (burdur, turkey). *Environmental monitoring and assessment*, 191(11), 1–18.
- Dekker, A. G., Zamurović-Nenad, Ž., Hoogenboom, H. J., & Peters, S. W. M. (1996).
  Remote sensing, ecological water quality modelling and *in situ* measurements: A case study in shallow lakes. *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, 41(4), 531–547. https://doi.org/10.1080/02626669609491524
- Dereli, M. A., & Tercan, E. (2020). Assessment of shoreline changes using historical satellite images and geospatial analysis along the lake salda in turkey. *Earth Science Informatics*, *13*(3), 709–718.
- Deus, D., & Gloaguen, R. (2013). Remote Sensing Analysis of Lake Dynamics in Semi-Arid Regions: Implication for Water Resource Management. Lake Manyara, East African Rift, Northern Tanzania [Number: 2 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute]. *Water*, 5(2), 698–727. https://doi.org/10. 3390/w5020698
- Dewidar, K., & Khedr, A. (2001). Water quality assessment with simultaneous landsat-5 tm at manzala lagoon, egypt. *Hydrobiologia*, 457(1), 49–58.
- Dörnhöfer, K., & Oppelt, N. (2016). Remote sensing for lake research and monitoringrecent advances. *Ecological Indicators*, 64, 105–122.
- Du, Y., Zhang, Y., Ling, F., Wang, Q., Li, W., & Li, X. (2016). Water bodies' mapping from sentinel-2 imagery with modified normalized difference water index at 10-m spatial resolution produced by sharpening the swir band. *Remote Sensing*, 8(4), 354.
- Flöder, S., & Burns, C. W. (2004). Phytoplankton Diversity of Shallow Tidal Lakes: Influence of Periodic Salinity Changes on Diversity and Species Number of a

Natural Assemblage1. *Journal of Phycology*, *40*(1), 54–61. https://doi.org/10. 1046/j.1529-8817.2004.03050.x

- Frazier, P. S., Page, K. J., et al. (2000). Water body detection and delineation with landsat tm data. *Photogrammetric engineering and remote sensing*, 66(12), 1461–1468.
- Gao, B.-C. (1996). Ndwi—a normalized difference water index for remote sensing of vegetation liquid water from space. *Remote sensing of environment*, 58(3), 257–266.
- Giardino, C., Bresciani, M., Stroppiana, D., Oggioni, A., & Morabito, G. (2013).
  Optical remote sensing of lakes: An overview on Lake Maggiore. *Journal of Limnology*, 73(s1). https://doi.org/10.4081/jlimnol.2014.817
- He, W., Chen, S., Liu, X., & Chen, J. (2008). Water quality monitoring in a slightly-polluted inland water body through remote sensing Case study of the Guant-ing Reservoir in Beijing, China [Company: Springer Distributor: Springer Institution: Springer Label: Springer Number: 2 Publisher: SP Higher Education Press]. *Frontiers of Environmental Science & Engineering in China*, 2(2), 163–171. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11783-008-0027-7
- Helder, D. L., & Ruggles, T. A. (2004). Landsat thematic mapper reflective-band radiometric artifacts. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and remote Sensing*, 42(12), 2704–2716.
- Hellweger, F., Schlosser, P., Lall, U., & Weissel, J. (2004). Use of satellite imagery for water quality studies in New York Harbor. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 61(3), 437–448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2004.06.019
- Hereher, M. E. (2015). Assessing the dynamics of El-Rayan lakes, Egypt, using remote sensing techniques. Arabian Journal of Geosciences, 8(4), 1931–1938. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12517-014-1356-4
- Hu, C., Chen, Z., Clayton, T. D., Swarzenski, P., Brock, J. C., & Muller–Karger,
  F. E. (2004). Assessment of estuarine water-quality indicators using MODIS medium-resolution bands: Initial results from Tampa Bay, FL. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 93(3), 423–441. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2004.08.007
- Huang, C., Chen, Y., Wu, J., Li, L., & Liu, R. (2015). An evaluation of suomi nppviirs data for surface water detection. *Remote sensing letters*, 6(2), 155–164.

- Huang, C., Chen, Y., Zhang, S., & Wu, J. (2018). Detecting, Extracting, and Monitoring Surface Water From Space Using Optical Sensors: A Review [\_eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1029/2018RG000598]. *Reviews of Geophysics*, 56(2), 333–360. https://doi.org/10.1029/2018RG000598
- Huete, A. (2004). Remote sensing for environmental monitoring. In *Environmental monitoring and characterization* (pp. 183–206). Elsevier.
- Hui, F., Xu, B., Huang, H., Yu, Q., & Gong, P. (2008). Modelling spatial-temporal change of Poyang Lake using multitemporal Landsat imagery [Publisher: Taylor & Francis \_eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/01431160802060912]. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 29(20), 5767–5784. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431160802060912
- IPCC. (2014). Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (tech. rep.). [Core Writing Team, R.K. Pachauri, L.A. Meyer (eds.)] IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland.
- IPCC. (2021). Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis (V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S. Connors, C. Pean, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, & M. Gomis, Eds.). Cambridge University Press (In Press). https://www. ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg1/downloads/report/IPCC\_AR6\_WGI\_Full\_Report.pdf
- Jeppesen, E., Beklioğlu, M., Özkan, K., & Akyürek, Z. (2020). Salinization Increase due to Climate Change Will Have Substantial Negative Effects on Inland Waters: A Call for Multifaceted Research at the Local and Global Scale. *The Innovation*, 1(2), 100030. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xinn.2020.100030
- Jeppesen, E., Brucet, S., Naselli-Flores, L., Papastergiadou, E., Stefanidis, K., Nõges, T., Nõges, P., Attayde, J. L., Zohary, T., Coppens, J., Bucak, T., Menezes, R. F., Freitas, F. R. S., Kernan, M., Søndergaard, M., & Beklioğlu, M. (2015). Ecological impacts of global warming and water abstraction on lakes and reservoirs due to changes in water level and related changes in salinity. *Hy- drobiologia*, 750(1), 201–227. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-014-2169-x
- Karpatne, A., Khandelwal, A., Chen, X., Mithal, V., Faghmous, J., & Kumar, V. (2016). Global Monitoring of Inland Water Dynamics: State-of-the-Art, Challenges, and Opportunities. In J. Lässig, K. Kersting, & K. Morik (Eds.), *Com-*

*putational Sustainability* (pp. 121–147). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-31858-5\_7

- Kirwan, G., Demirci, B., Welch, H., Boyla, K., Özen, M., Castell, P., & Marlow, T. (2010). *The Birds of Turkey* [Google-Books-ID: kRnSBAAAQBAJ]. Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Kutser, T., Hedley, J., Giardino, C., Roelfsema, C., & Brando, V. E. (2020). Remote sensing of shallow waters A 50 year retrospective and future directions. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 240, 111619. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse. 2019.111619
- Lin, Q., Xu, L., Hou, J., Liu, Z., Jeppesen, E., & Han, B.-P. (2017). Responses of trophic structure and zooplankton community to salinity and temperature in Tibetan lakes: Implication for the effect of climate warming. *Water Research*, 124, 618–629. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.07.078
- MacQueen, J. (1967). Classification and analysis of multivariate observations. 5th Berkeley Symp. Math. Statist. Probability, 281–297.
- Manavalan, P., Sathyanath, P., & Rajegowda, G. (1993). Digital image analysis techniques to estimate waterspread for capacity evaluations of reservoirs. *Photogrammetric engineering and remote sensing*, 59(9), 1389–1395.
- McFeeters, S. K. (1996). The use of the Normalized Difference Water Index (NDWI) in the delineation of open water features [Publisher: Taylor & Francis]. *International journal of remote sensing*, *17*(7), 1425–1432.
- Medina-Lopez, E., & Ureña-Fuentes, L. (2019). High-Resolution Sea Surface Temperature and Salinity in Coastal Areas Worldwide from Raw Satellite Data [Number: 19 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute]. *Remote Sensing*, 11(19), 2191. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11192191
- Mukhtar, M. K., Supriatna, & Manessa, M. D. M. (2021). The validation of water quality parameter algorithm using Landsat 8 and Sentinel-2 image in Palabuhanratu Bay [Publisher: IOP Publishing]. *IOP Conference Series: Earth* and Environmental Science, 846(1), 012022. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/846/1/012022
- Nair, P. K., & Babu, D. (2016). Spatial shrinkage of vembanad lake, south west india during 1973-2015 using ndwi and mndwi. *International Journal of Science* and Research, 5(7), 319–7064.

- Nichol, J. E., & Vohora, V. (2004). Noise over water surfaces in landsat tm images. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 25(11), 2087–2093.
- Olthof, I. (2017). Mapping seasonal inundation frequency (1985–2016) along the stjohn river, new brunswick, canada using the landsat archive. *Remote Sensing*, 9(2), 143.
- Ozesmi, S. L., & Bauer, M. E. (2002). Satellite remote sensing of wetlands. *Wetlands* ecology and management, 10(5), 381–402.
- Pahlevan, N., Balasubramanian, S. V., Sarkar, S., & Franz, B. A. (2018). Toward long-term aquatic science products from heritage landsat missions. *Remote Sensing*, 10(9), 1337.
- Pahlevan, N., Sarkar, S., Franz, B., Balasubramanian, S., & He, J. (2017). Sentinel-2 multispectral instrument (msi) data processing for aquatic science applications: Demonstrations and validations. *Remote sensing of environment*, 201, 47–56.
- Parry, M. L., Canziani, O., Palutikof, J., Van der Linden, P., & Hanson, C. (2007). Climate change 2007-impacts, adaptation and vulnerability: Working group II contribution to the fourth assessment report of the IPCC (Vol. 4). Cambridge University Press.
- Pearson, K. (1895). Vii. note on regression and inheritance in the case of two parents. *proceedings of the royal society of London*, 58(347-352), 240–242.
- Ritchie, J. C., Zimba, P. V., & Everitt, J. H. (2003). Remote Sensing Techniques to Assess Water Quality. *Photogrammetric Engineering & Remote Sensing*, 69(6), 695–704. https://doi.org/10.14358/PERS.69.6.695
- Rodríguez Díaz, J. A., Weatherhead, E. K., Knox, J. W., & Camacho, E. (2007). Climate change impacts on irrigation water requirements in the Guadalquivir river basin in Spain. *Regional Environmental Change*, 7(3), 149–159. https: //doi.org/10.1007/s10113-007-0035-3
- Sarp, G., & Ozcelik, M. (2017). Water body extraction and change detection using time series: A case study of Lake Burdur, Turkey [Publisher: Taylor & Francis \_eprint: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtusci.2016.04.005]. *Journal of Taibah University for Science*, 11(3), 381–391. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtusci.2016.04. 005

- Schallenberg, M., Hall, C. J., & Burns, C. W. (2003). Consequences of climateinduced salinity increases on zooplankton abundance and diversity in coastal lakes. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 251, 181–189. https://doi.org/10. 3354/meps251181
- Sikora, W. B., & Kjerfve, B. (1985). Factors influencing the salinity regime of lake pontchartrain, lousiana, a shallow coastal lagoon: Analysis of a long-term data set. *Estuaries*, 8(2), 170–180.
- Soomets, T., Uudeberg, K., Jakovels, D., Brauns, A., Zagars, M., & Kutser, T. (2020).
  Validation and Comparison of Water Quality Products in Baltic Lakes Using
  Sentinel-2 MSI and Sentinel-3 OLCI Data [Number: 3 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute]. *Sensors*, 20(3), 742. https://doi.org/10.
  3390/s20030742
- Stefanidis, K., & Papastergiadou, E. (2012). Relationships between lake morphometry, water quality, and aquatic macrophytes, *Fresenius Environmental Bulletin*, 21(10), 10.
- Sun, D., Yu, Y., & Goldberg, M. D. (2011). Deriving water fraction and flood maps from modis images using a decision tree approach. *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Applied Earth Observations and Remote Sensing*, 4(4), 814–825.
- Tebbs, E., Remedios, J., Avery, S., & Harper, D. (2013). Remote sensing the hydrological variability of Tanzania's Lake Natron, a vital Lesser Flamingo breeding site under threat. *Ecohydrology & Hydrobiology*, 13(2), 148–158. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.ecohyd.2013.02.002
- The Ministry of Foresty and Water Affairs. (2016). *Climate Change Impacts on Water Resources* (Final Report, Executive Summary). The Ministry of Foresty and Water Affairs, General Directorate of Water Management. Ankara, Turkey.
- Tibshirani, R., Walther, G., & Hastie, T. (2001). Estimating the number of clusters in a data set via the gap statistic. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Statistical Methodology)*, 63(2), 411–423.
- Tilton, J. C., Markham, B. L., & Alford, W. L. (1985). And removal. *Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing*, 51(9), 1263–1279.
- Toming, K., Kutser, T., Laas, A., Sepp, M., Paavel, B., & Nõges, T. (2016). First Experiences in Mapping Lake Water Quality Parameters with Sentinel-2 MSI Im-

agery [Number: 8 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute]. *Remote Sensing*, 8(8), 640. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs8080640

- Tyler, A. N., Svab, E., Preston, T., Présing, M., & Kovács, W. A. (2006). Remote sensing of the water quality of shallow lakes: A mixture modelling approach to quantifying phytoplankton in water characterized by high-suspended sediment. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 27(8), 1521–1537. https:// doi.org/10.1080/01431160500419311
- Vidal, N., Yu, J., Gutierrez, M. F., de Mello, F. T., Tavşanoğlu, Ü. N., Çakiroglu, A. I., He, H., Meerhoff, M., Brucet, S., Liu, Z., & Jeppesen, E. (2021). Salinity shapes food webs of lakes in semiarid climate zones: A stable isotope approach. *Inland Waters*, 11(4), 476–491. https://doi.org/10.1080/20442041. 2020.1859290
- Wang, F., & Xu, Y. J. (2008). Development and application of a remote sensing-based salinity prediction model for a large estuarine lake in the US Gulf of Mexico coast. *Journal of Hydrology*, 360(1-4), 184–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhydrol.2008.07.036
- Williams, W. D., Boulton, A. J., & Taaffe, R. G. (1990). Salinity as a determinant of salt lake fauna: A question of scale. *Hydrobiologia*, 197(1), 257–266. https: //doi.org/10.1007/BF00026955
- Wong, M. S., Lee, K. H., Kim, Y. J., Nichol, J. E., Li, Z., & Emerson, N. (2007). Modeling of Suspended Solids and Sea Surface Salinity in Hong Kong using Aqua/MODIS Satellite Images. *Korean Journal of Remote Sensing*, 10.
- Xu, H. (2006). Modification of normalised difference water index (NDWI) to enhance open water features in remotely sensed imagery [Publisher: Taylor & Francis]. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 27(14), 3025–3033. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431160600589179
- Yano, T., Aydin, M., & Haraguchi, T. (2007). Impact of Climate Change on Irrigation Demand and Crop Growth in a Mediterranean Environment of Turkey [Number: 10 Publisher: Molecular Diversity Preservation International]. Sensors, 7(10), 2297–2315. https://doi.org/10.3390/s7102297
- Yılmaz, G., Çolak, M. A., Özgencil, İ. K., Metin, M., Korkmaz, M., Ertuğrul, S., Soyluer, M., Bucak, T., Tavşanoğlu, Ü. N., Özkan, K., Akyürek, Z., Beklioğlu, M., & Jeppesen, E. (2021). Decadal changes in size, salinity, waterbirds, and fish

in lakes of the Konya Closed Basin, Turkey, associated with climate change and increasing water abstraction for agriculture [Publisher: Taylor & Francis \_eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/20442041.2021.1924034]. *Inland Waters*, *11*(4), 538–555. https://doi.org/10.1080/20442041.2021.1924034

Zhang, F., Tiyip, T., Johnson, V. C., Kung, H.-t., Ding, J.-l., Sun, Q., Zhou, M., Kelimu, A., Nurmuhammat, I., & Chan, N. W. (2015). The influence of natural and human factors in the shrinking of the Ebinur Lake, Xinjiang, China, during the 1972–2013 period. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 187(1), 4128. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-014-4128-4 Appendix A

## APPENDIX A

# A.1 Paper A

	Inland Waters		Taylor & Francis Vysk khoest Corp		
Contraction of the second seco	ISSN: (Print) (Online) Journal homepage: <u>https://w</u>	ww.tandfonline.com/loi/tinw20			
D fi a w	Decadal changes in size, s ish in lakes of the Konya ssociated with climate cl vater abstraction for agri	alinity, waterbirds, and Closed Basin, Turkey, nange and increasing culture			
G M N Je	ültekin Yılmaz, Mehmet Arda Çolak, İ ustafa Korkmaz, Serhat Ertuğrul, Me ihan Tavşanoğlu, Korhan Özkan, Zuh ppesen	brahim Kaan Özgencil, Melisa Metin, lisa Soyluer, Tuba Bucak, Ülkü al Akyürek, Meryem Beklioğlu & Erik			
To Mu Öz sa ch 10	cite this article: Gültekin Yılmaz, Mehmet Ard ustafa Korkmaz, Serhat Ertuğrul, Melisa Soyluer zkan, Zuhal Akyürek, Meryerm Beklioğlu & Erik J linity, waterbirds, and fish in lakes of the Konya ange and increasing water abstraction for agricu 1080/2042/041.2021.1924034	a Çolak, İbrahim Kaan Özgencil, Melisa Metin, ; Tuba Bucak, Ülkü Nihan Tavşanoğlu, Korhan eppesen (2021) Decadal changes in size, Closed Basin, Turkey, associated with climate ılture, Inland Waters, 11:4, 538-555, DOI:			
То	link to this article: https://doi.org/10.1080/2	0442041.2021.1924034			
	+ View supplementary material I	Published online: 09 Aug 2021.			
-	Submit your article to this journal	Article views: 1215	-		
-	View related articles C	Uiew Crossmark data	-		
-	Citing articles: 3 View citing articles		-		
_					

Full Terms & Conditions of access and use can be found at https://www.tandfonline.com/action/journalInformation?journalCode=tinw20



Check for updates

## Decadal changes in size, salinity, waterbirds, and fish in lakes of the Konya Closed Basin, Turkey, associated with climate change and increasing water abstraction for agriculture

Gültekin Yılmaz <sup>(a)</sup>, <sup>a</sup> Mehmet Arda Çolak <sup>(a)</sup>, <sup>b</sup> İbrahim Kaan Özgencil <sup>(a)</sup>, <sup>c</sup> Melisa Metin <sup>(a)</sup>, <sup>d</sup> Mustafa Korkmaz <sup>(a)</sup>, <sup>a,c</sup> Serhat Ertuğrul <sup>(b)</sup>, <sup>a</sup> Melisa Soyluer <sup>(b)</sup>, <sup>c</sup> Tuba Bucak <sup>(a)</sup>, <sup>e,d</sup> Ülkü Nihan Tavşanoğlu <sup>(a)</sup>, <sup>f,c</sup> Korhan Özkan <sup>(b)</sup>, <sup>a,g</sup> Zuhal Akyürek <sup>(b)</sup>, <sup>b,g,h</sup> Meryem Beklioğlu <sup>(b)</sup>, <sup>d,g</sup> and Erik Jeppesen <sup>(b)</sup>, <sup>a,d,g,i,j</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Institute of Marine Sciences, Middle East Technical University, Mersin, Turkey; <sup>b</sup>Department of Geodetic and Geographic Information Technologies, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey; <sup>c</sup>Department of Biological Sciences, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey; <sup>d</sup>Limnology Laboratory, Department of Biological Sciences, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey; <sup>e</sup>The Nature Conservation Center (DKM), Ankara, Turkey; <sup>f</sup>Department of Environmental Health, Eldivan Vocational School of Health Services, Çankırı Karatekin University, Çankırı, Turkey; <sup>g</sup>Centre for Ecosystem Research and Implementation (EKOSAM), Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey; <sup>h</sup>Department of Civil Engineering, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey; 'Department of Bioscience and Arctic Research Centre (ARC), Aarhus University, Silkeborg, Denmark; <sup>I</sup>Sino-Danish Centre for Education and Research (SDC), Beijing, People's Republic of China

#### ABSTRACT

The Konya Closed Basin (KCB) in Turkey has a cold semiarid to warm Mediterranean climate and hosts the largest Turkish freshwater lake, Lake Beyşehir, and the iconic saline Lake Tuz. Using published as well as our own ground-truth and remote sensing data, we provide (1) a brief description of the paleoenvironmental changes in the KCB; followed by (2) a detailed description of the changes in land use, crop farming, groundwater and surface water levels, and climate; and (3) associated changes in lake water surface area and salinity as well as in waterbird and fish communities during the past 40 years. The KCB is intensively farmed, and the farming of mainly water intensive crops has increased substantially, especially since 2000. This, combined with climate warming, has led to a substantial rate of reduction of the groundwater level (up to 1 m/yr) and the surface area of the lakes and wetlands, followed by an increase in salinisation, and even complete loss of several wetlands. Three globally threatened waterbird species face extinction in the basin, and 18 of the 62 previous breeding species have already been lost. The KCB has 38 fish species, of which 74% are endemic and 61% are considered threatened or near threatened. Modelling projections using various climate and land use scenarios predict serious additional reductions of the water level in the future due to climate change, leading to deterioration (or complete loss) of lake ecosystems and the services they provide.

#### **ARTICLE HISTORY**

Received 14 November 2020 Accepted 26 April 2021

KEYWORDS fish; habitat loss; irrigation; land-use change; salinisation; waterbird

#### Introduction

Globally, temperature and precipitation patterns are predicted to change markedly as a result of climate change (IPCC 2007, 2014). Particularly regions with a cold or hot semiarid to arid and Mediterranean climate are expected to be strongly affected (Giorgi 2006, Vicente-Serrano et al. 2014). In the Mediterranean region, a major increase of land in drought is expected (Pegion 2012, Russo et al. 2019), and water abstraction, not least for irrigation purposes, is predicted to increase markedly (Rodriguez Diaz et al. 2007, Yano et al. 2007) because of reduced net precipitation. In addition, a global increase in the demand for food by a growing population and a shift to more water intensive crops will accelerate the agricultural water use and may cause salinisation of lakes and soils (IPCC 2007, Jeppesen et al. 2020).

The magnitude of the future changes poses a major threat to the functioning and biodiversity of inland aquatic ecosystems. Many lakes may dry out temporarily or permanently with rising temperature, while salinisation in the remaining waterbodies may lead to reduced biodiversity (Williams et al. 1990, Schallenberg et al. 2003, Flöder and Burns 2004, Jeppesen et al. 2015) and loss of ecosystem functioning (Lin et al. 2017, Vidal et al. 2021). To date, however, knowledge of the effects of warming on saline lakes is fragmented and far from

CONTACT Gültekin Yılmaz 😒 tekin.ims@gmail.com 🗈 Institute of Marine Sciences, Middle East Technical University, Mersin 33731, Turkey

<sup>© 2021</sup> International Society of Limnology (SIL)

the level achieved for freshwater lakes (Jeppesen et al. 2015, Cañedo-Argüells et al. 2019).

Closed basins in semiarid or arid regions often respond rapidly to geological and climatic changes because any slight alteration may have significant consequences for their water balance. Moreover, a few years of prolonged drought may lead to enhanced salinity and, consequently, alteration of the ecosystem characteristics of the lakes (Levi et al. 2016, Beklioğlu et al. 2018). We focus on the semiarid Konya Closed Basin (KCB), the largest closed basin of Turkey, spanning almost 50 000 km<sup>2</sup> and covering 7% of the country's land area. It has a population of 3.2 million and supports extensive agricultural activities that depend heavily on surface water and groundwater abstraction, implying that many natural streams have been regulated and channelised for dam construction to provide water for irrigation. Despite this, the KCB still exhibits an astonishing biodiversity and a high degree of endemism, which reflects its role as a refuge during the ice ages in the Quaternary period (Eken et al. 2006, Şenkul and Kaya 2017). The basin is home to several globally threatened waterbird species and is an important area for breeding, wintering, and migrating waterbirds (Kirwan et al. 2010). The KCB has large freshwater and saline lakes as well as extensive marshes, some of which are the remnants of a paleolake, Lake Konya, which dried out in the early Holocene (Roberts 1983). The region is located at the intersection of 3 ecoregions and comprises 2 national parks, 1 strict nature reserve, 2 Ramsar sites, 10 Important Plant Areas (IPAs; Özhatay et al. 2003), 11 NATURA 2000 areas (Republic of Turkey Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry 2018a), and 16 Important Bird Areas (IBAs; Eken et al. 2006, Kirwan et al. 2010, BirdLife International 2020).

In this overview, we first provide a brief paleoecologically based description of the KCB since the last glacial maximum. We then focus on the changes in climate, land use (mainly agriculture), and groundwater level that have occurred in the past 4-6 decades and reveal how these changes have affected the lakes in terms of size, salinity, and fish and waterbird communities using remote sensing, field data, literature, and existing databases. Included are also 2 case studies focusing on the recent drastic transformations occurring in the large wetlands, the Ereğli, Eşmekaya, and Hotamış marshes, as well as the future of Lake Beyşehir, the largest freshwater lake in the basin and in the whole Mediterranean region. Finally, we discuss the future of the KCB lakes seen in the light of global change, with emphasis on the need for mitigation initiatives.

#### **Material and methods**

#### Remote sensing analyses and agricultural data

We used Sentinel-2 MSI and Landsat data on the longterm (>40 years) changes in the lake surface area and salinity of 3 lakes in the region, Lakes Düden, Little Düden, and Uyuz. These lakes represented a wide range of salinity (48.4, 65.3, and 1.2 ppt of measured salinity, respectively) while having similar meteorological/ climatic conditions due to their spatial proximity. Optical satellite images (Landsat and Sentinel data) including 80 noncloudy Landsat 1-3 MSS, Landsat 4-5-7-8 TM, ETM+, OLI data, and 6 noncloudy Sentinel 2A images (for 2016-2019) were downloaded from www.earthexplorer.usgs.gov. The Sentinel images were processed using Sen2Cor (software processing Sentinel 2 data, ESA). For the Landsat image series, Dark-Object Subtraction atmospheric correction technique was applied using the Semi-Automatic Classification plugin in QGIS (Congedo 2016). Images were preprocessed (radiometric and geometric corrections) before determining the lake surface areas. The Normalised Water Index and the Modified Normalised Water Index (Xu 2006) were used to assign the water pixels, which were subsequently checked for correctness against the normalised vegetation index for the vegetation-covered lake surface area.

Because water is highly absorptive within the near and shortwave infrared spectrum, the majority of waterleaving radiance occurs within the visible spectrum with slight variations dependent on temperature and salinity (Topp et al. 2020). Shortwave infrared (SWIR) and red-edge spectral bands were used to improve the salinity detection of the spectral indices (Bannari et al. 2018, Wang et al. 2019). Thus, SWIR bands (2.2 µm of Landsat 8, 2.205 µm of Landsat 5, and 2.194 µm of Sentinel data), near infrared (NIR) bands (0.865 µm of Landsat 8, 0.835 µm of Landsat 5), and a red-edge band (0.78 µm) of Sentinel data were used to create the salinity index (SWIR-NIR)/(SWIR + NIR). The salinity index was calibrated using ground truth data (using a YSI ProDSS Multiparameter Water Quality Meter, Yellow Springs, OH, USA) obtained for 14 lakes in the region in June 2020 having a salinity between 0.5 and 230 ppt.

Monthly mean air temperature and annual precipitation data were obtained from Turkish State Meteorological Service for the period 1970–2020. After testing the normality and homogeneity of the data, Mann Kendall and Şen's trend analysis (Şen 2011) were applied. We used the Thornthwaite method (Thornthwaite and Mather 1955) to estimate evapotranspiration and the standardised precipitation evapotranspiration index (SPEI; Vicente-Serrano et al. 2010) for the time scales 540 🖌 G. YILMAZ ET AL.

3, 9, 12, 24, 36, and 48 months to determine which time periods best describe the hydrologic response of small waterbodies in the study area. The groundwater levels at the observation wells located in the basin were obtained from the State Hydraulic Works.

Data on agricultural land area, crop patterns, and their biomass production (i.e., crops, vegetables, fruits) for 1980–2019 were obtained from the database of the Turkish Statistical Institute (TUIK 2020).

#### Populations of globally threatened waterbird species and fish

We compiled population estimates and observation records for globally threatened waterbird species in the region for 1960–2020, including common pochard (*Aythya ferina*), marbled teal (*Marmaronetta angustirostris*), whiteheaded duck (*Oxyura leucocephala*), slender-billed curlew (*Numenius tenuirostris*), and red-breasted goose (*Branta ruficollis*), supplemented with sighting records in Cornell Lab of Ornithology's databases (Cornell Lab of Ornithology 2019) as well as midwinter waterbird censuses (DKMP 2019) to evaluate population changes in the KCB. A full list of the resources used and a detailed description of the methodology followed for our final abundance estimates is in Supplemental Material S1.

We also quantified the change in the species richness of breeding waterbirds in the KCB by analysing data gathered in 2 breeding bird atlases from the period 1998-2018 when the wetlands of the basin underwent substantial degradation. The first breeding bird atlas survey of the KCB was conducted in 1998 (Eken and Magnin 2000). The second survey for the atlas was conducted at a national scale between 2014 and 2018 (Boyla et al. 2019). Because the surveys for the 2 atlases used the same coordinate and grid systems and similar methodologies, they are practically comparable. We chose 50 km  $\times$  50 km spatial resolution because the most recent atlas survey did not report results at the finer resolution. For the atlas squares coinciding with the KCB border, only bird sightings obtained within the borders of the KCB were included in the analyses (see Supplemental Material S2 for detailed descriptions of methods).

We collected information on fish species and their status in the KCB from a wide range of literature (Supplemental Material S3). The validity of fish names was checked using Fishbase (Froese and Pauly 2020) and Catalog of Fishes (Fricke et al. 2020). The conservation status of species was obtained from the IUCN Red List (IUCN 2020).

#### Results

#### Konya basin – paleoenvironmental history

The KCB is located at a mean elevation of 900-1050 m in the south Central Anatolian Plateau (Fig. 1). The flat and mostly marl and limestone terrain of the basin, formed as a result of lacustrine deposition during the Quaternary (Roberts 1983), is enclosed by the Taurus Mountains (>3000 m) to the south and the west and the uplands of the Anatolian plateau to the east and the north. The basin housed the extensive Paleolake Konya (Fig. 1), during most of the Quaternary until the end of the last glacial period, but with intermittent dry-outs (Kuzucuoğlu et al. 1999). Although the basin is endorheic with no surface outflows, the southern basin has a few karstic outlets to the deeper strata, which probably prevented complete salinisation of the basin during the paleo-history (Roberts 1983, Kuzucuoğlu et al. 1999).

The KCB lakes display complex responses to climate change. High water levels have appeared in cold and dry periods with prominent ice cover when evaporation was low (Roberts 1983). In addition, despite the limited precipitation in the basin in the cold periods, the seasonal snow build-up and consequent thawing of the glacial formations in the Taurus Mountains to the south, where precipitation was presumably higher than in the northern basin, have contributed to the positive water balance of the lakes (Fontugne et al. 1999). Whether the water levels are principally determined by changes in precipitation or evaporation has been debated (Roberts et al. 1999), but recent research using stable isotope signals indicates a strong role of evaporation, especially during the interglacial periods and in the early Holocene (Roberts et al. 2016).

In the last glacial maximum (25–20 ka BP), Paleolake Konya reached its largest surface area >4000 km<sup>2</sup> and a maximum depth of 30 m (Roberts 1983, Fontugne et al. 1999, Roberts et al. 1999), and Lake Tuz was 15 m deeper than today (Kashima 2002). The lakes started to recede between 17 to 13 ka BP (Roberts 1983, Kuzu-cuoğlu et al. 1999, Roberts et al. 1999) but exhibited markedly higher water levels than the current level during the Younger Dryas (13 ka BP). The cold intermittent period marked the last high stand of Paleolake Konya, which fragmented into smaller isolated waterbodies in the following millennia, not least when warmer conditions predominated at the beginning of the Holocene (Roberts 1983).

In the early Holocene, warmer and wetter conditions prevailed in the region (Dean et al. 2015, Roberts et al. 2016) and the landscape shifted from steppe plant



**Figure 1.** Konya Closed Basin (KCB) showing the location of KBC in Turkey (inset), its boundaries, its major watebodies; salinity (ppt) of its lakes and reservoirs based on YSI ProDSS multiprobe measurements taken in June 2020, and the greatest extent of the Paleolake Konya during the last glacial maximum.

dominance (e.g., Chenopodiaceae, Artemisia; Roberts et al. 2016, Woodbridge et al. 2019) to (oak) tree dominance (Roberts et al. 2011). However, the simultaneous dry-out of Paleolake Konya suggested that the precipitation pattern changed less than the temperature-induced increase in evaporation (Roberts 1983). The early Holocene was also the first period in which human activity had an unequivocal impact on the environmental landscape and altered the vegetation (Asouti and Hather 2001), likely as a result of animal herding and early crop farming activities. Çatalhöyük, one of the most populous Neolithic settlements so far discovered, with a population of 10 000 at its height, was founded in the southern alluvial margins of the basin and remained there for more than one millennium (Hodder 1996, Roberts 2002, Roberts et al. 2011, Asouti and Kabukcu 2014). After the Holocene climatic optimum (9000-5000 BP), a period of gradual aridification occurred in the mid-Holocene (Dean et al. 2015). The late Holocene witnessed a climatic amelioration accompanied by an increase in settlement numbers (Allcock and Roberts 2014) in the region, called the Beyşehir Occupation (BO) phase (~3000-1300 BP). The basin was repopulated, with widespread arboreal agricultural areas with

fruit trees (Eastwood et al. 1999). Following the centennial hiatus after the BO phase, agricultural activities regained momentum in the area, but this time with a greater emphasis on cereal farming and pastoralism during the last millennia (England et al. 2008). This pattern of agro-pastoralism remained stable well into the modern period; thus, by the mid-19th century and afterward in the Republic period, cereals, especially rye (*Secale cereale*), markedly increased in the pollen record (England et al. 2008). In the more recent past, with the development of irrigation techniques, water intensive crops (e.g., sugar beet and legumes) increased their share while livestock production became restricted to the mountainous regions where irrigation was not possible (Fontugne et al. 1999).

#### Konya Closed Basin – recent history

# Climate, precipitation, evaporation, and temperature changes

Today the KCB has a diverse climate. Thus, in the southwest basin the climate is Mediterranean while a cold-dry steppe climate prevails in the northern basin and a desert climate in the central Karapinar region. Long-term annual mean precipitation in the basin was 340 mm during 1970–2020; the lowest (289 mm) was observed in the Karapınar and the highest (747 mm) in the Seydişehir region (Fig. 2). Mann Kendall and Şen's trend analysis (Şen 2011) of existing data indicated an increase in annual mean temperatures (~0.045 °C/yr) at most of the stations used in our study and a decrease in annual precipitation at some, but not all, sites (Fig. 2). Evaporation from the water surfaces is measured by pan evaporation by DSI in the basin for months April–October. A maximum of 262 mm in July and a minimum of 100 mm in October were recorded during 1970–2013.

#### Changes in land and water use

According to the Coordination of Information on the Environment Land Cover 2012 first-level classification database, produced by visual interpretation of high-resolution satellite imagery to create land cover/use maps, ~56% of the KCB area was used for crop farming across  $27 \times 10^3$  km<sup>2</sup>, of which  $8 \times 10^3$  km<sup>2</sup> were irrigated (Republic of Turkey Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry 2018b). Although a semiarid climate prevails in most of the KCB, with 70% of the precipitation occurring outside the crop-growing period, cultivation of water intensive crops has been widespread in the KCB farmlands (Berke et al. 2014).

The municipalities of Konya and Karaman cover most of the KCB ( $40 \times 10^3$  and  $9 \times 10^3$  km<sup>2</sup>, respectively). From 1995 to 2019, the total agricultural area of Konya and Karaman decreased by 27% (from ~ $30 \times 10^3$  to  $22 \times 10^3$  km<sup>2</sup>; TUIK 2020). Despite these reductions in cultivated area, the crop production increased substantially after 2000, coinciding with increased use of fertilisers and water for irrigation (Konya Directorate of Provincial Agriculture and Forestry 2019; Fig. 3). In 2019, the dominant crops were sugar beet, maize, wheat, alfalfa, and barley, accounting for 28%, 18%, 9%, 9%, and 6%, respectively, of the  $>22 \times 10^6$  tonne of agricultural production (TUIK 2020).

As the total production increased, the extent of irrigated land and water use also increased (Fig. 3). In 2019,  $>3 \times 10^3$  hm<sup>3</sup> of water was used to irrigate  $6 \times 10^3$  km<sup>2</sup> in Konya, more than the calculated amount needed if multiplying the irrigation demand of each crop with their cultivated area (Republic of Turkey Ministry of Environment and Urbanisation 2020), which is a conservative value. In 2008, sprinkler and drip irrigation methods were introduced for irrigation as a water saving potential at the expense of the more primitive surface irrigation (Republic of Turkey Ministry of Environment and Urbanisation 2020).

Although sugar beet is the second most water intensive crop, its production in the KCB has increased with the establishment of new sugar factories (i.e., Konya, Çumra Sugar Factory with a capacity of  $0.3 \times 10^6$  tonne/yr) and privatisation of existing ones (i.e., Konya Sugar Factory in 1991 and Turkish Sugar Factory in 2008), a result of the new "Sugar Law" (Türkşeker 2020) that facilitates sugar beet production in the area, with major implications in the form of enhanced water use for irrigation (Fig. 3).

#### Change in groundwater resources

The water potential of the basin is estimated at  $4.7 \times 10^3$  hm<sup>3</sup>/yr, 42.8% of which comes from groundwater resources (Dolsar 2015). The basin has 22 reservoirs, mostly designed and operated for irrigation purposes. In 2015, the annual amount of water used in the KCB was  $5.0 \times 10^3$  hm<sup>3</sup>, of which 95% was used for irrigation, 4% for domestic water supply, and 1% for industrial purposes.



Figure 2. Trend analysis of annual precipitation and mean annual air temperature for selected meteorological stations for the period 1970–2020 in Konya Closed Basin based on data from the Turkish State Meteorological Service.
#### INLAND WATERS 😞 543



**Figure 3.** Total agricultural products, number of livestock, and estimated irrigation amount in the Konya and Karaman provinces between 1980 and 2019 (data taken from TUIK 2020). Net amount of irrigation water for crops largely cultivated in the Konya Closed Basin (upper left) (Berke et al. 2014) and estimated total irrigation demand of main crops. Estimates were obtained by multiplying the area in which the crop was cultivated with the net irrigation requirements, assuming that 85% of KBC's winter cereals were fed by rainfall (Topak et al. 2008).

The extra water needed was provided by transfer from neighbouring catchments (Gembos and Blue Tunnel projects,  $0.5 \times 10^3$  hm<sup>3</sup>/yr; Dolsar 2015). A 5–10% decrease in precipitation is estimated to result in a 34% decrease in surface water (Dolsar 2015). Of the 88 394 wells in the KCB used for irrigation, 41% were unlicensed in 2013 (Dolsar 2015). Overall, the average groundwater level decrease from the wells was 1 m/yr during the 20-year period from 1995 to 2015, although there are a few exceptions from this general pattern (Fig. 4).

#### Change in lake surface area and salinity

The KCB holds many lakes, including the iconic saline Lake Tuz and the largest Turkish freshwater lake, Lake Beyşehir. To illustrate the changes in lake surface areas during the last 35 years caused by the reduction in groundwater level and surface water amount, we used surface area data derived from remote sensing data from May (wettest month) and August (driest month) on 3 representative lakes and combined these data with monthly temperature and precipitation data on the entire catchment (Fig. 5). About 50% of the



Figure 4. (a) The 5 selected observational wells numbered from 1 to 5 and (b) long-term changes in the groundwater levels of the 5 selected wells in the Konya Closed Basin.



**Figure 5.** (a) Monthly total precipitation and average temperature and (b) long-term (1985–2020) changes in the 36-month Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration index (SPEI) for KCB for the wet season (May each year; left column) and the dry season (August each year, right column). The superimposed coloured lines show the surface area of Lakes Big Düden, Little Düden, and Uyuz, as retrieved from satellite images.

surface area of the 3 lakes studied was lost during this 35-year period (Fig. 5b), the decrease being most prominent in the dry season for Lake Düden.

Among the calculated Standardised Precipitation Evapotranspiration Indices (SPEI), we determined a

36-month period (SPEI 36) to be optimal. A water deficit was seen after 2000 in Lake Düden, accompanied by a decrease in lake surface area (Fig. 6). The groundwater level increased after 2008 in the well in the vicinity of Düden Lakes (Fig. 4), followed by an

#### INLAND WATERS 😔 545



Figure 6. Landsat true colour RGB images (upper panels) and black and white images marking the surface area (lower panels) of Lakes Big Düden and Little Düden at 5-year intervals from 1985 to 2020.

increase in lake area, emphasising the importance of groundwater input (Fig. 5b and 6). Also, in Lake Uyuz water deficit effects led to surface area changes, although an increase was observed in the wet season in 2002 and in the dry season in 2004 and 2015 (Fig. 5b), suggesting a lower dependency of groundwater input in Lake Uyuz than in the other 2 lakes, which can mainly be attributed to the differences in aquifer systems.

The remote sensing-based salinity index calibrated on ground truth data revealed a correlation coefficient of 0.92. We used salinity index as a proxy for salinity for Lakes Uyuz and Düden for 1985–2020. In the observed period, the salinity of the 3 lakes showed no clear trend in the wet season while both Düden lakes became increasingly more saline in the dry periods, as indicated by a more negative index value (Fig. 7). Lake Uyuz showed no such trend of salinisation, which can be attributed to difference in hydrology of this lake with less dependency on surface inputs.

# Populations of globally threatened waterbird species

The changes in lake area and salinity in the KCB were associated with major changes in the waterbird communities. Common pochard had a small population of breeding birds but large migrating and wintering populations in the KCB (Supplemental Fig. S1). During the 1990s and early 2000s, its breeding population in the basin peaked with >120 pairs occurring at several sites across the KCB, but in 2019 the breeding population had declined by 95% to only 6 pairs. The highest number of common pochard recorded during migration was 45 000 individuals at Lake Düden in 1970, counted on a single day. During the last 20 years, only 200 migrating/molting individuals have been observed in the basin, a >99% decline. The wintering population of the species exceeded 45 000 individuals at Lakes Düden and Beyşehir in the 1980s and 1990s, but during the last few years the wintering populations have been confined to Lake Beyşehir, counting only 2000-3000 individuals, a 94-96% decline.



Figure 7. Changes in the salinity index for Lakes Düden, Little Düden, and Uyuz from 1985 to 2020 at 5-year intervals in (a) the wet season and (b) the dry season.

546 🕒 G. YILMAZ ET AL.



Figure 8. Changes in the sizes of the breeding populations of the 3 globally threatened waterbird species: common pochard, marbled teal, and white-headed duck from 1970 to 2020 in the KCB.

Marbled teal used to breed at several localities in the basin, all of which have either been totally lost or severely degraded, such as Ereğli and Hotamış marshes (see Case 1). The highest recorded breeding population in the basin was 60 pairs in 1985 (Fig. 8). Migrating individuals have only been observed in the Ereğli Marshes and Lakes Düden, Samsam, and Beyşehir, and since 1994 no migrating marbled teal have been sighted in the KCB (Supplemental Fig. S1). The species has not been observed in the KCB since 2000 and not in Turkey since 2015.

White-headed duck populations in the KCB have suffered major losses over the last few decades (Fig. 8, Supplemental Fig. S1). The size of the breeding population peaked in the late 1980s, with at least 152 breeding pairs distributed over several wetlands, but the most recent fieldwork and sightings reported no breeding pairs in the basin in 2019 and only a single pair in 2020 (Özgencil 2019; Ogün Aydın pers. comm.). More than 1500 molting/migrating individuals were observed across the KCB in the 1980s, but in 2019 only 3 individuals were sighted at a single locality, suggesting a 99% decline in migrating populations. The wintering population of the species in the basin was >500 individuals in the late 1990s. Only a single individual has been sighted wintering in the region since 2005.

Both slender-billed curlew and red-breasted goose were rare visitors in the basin with fewer than 4 records during 1980–2000. All sightings of the 2 species were in wetlands that are currently either totally drained or severely degraded. The 2 species have not been observed in the basin recently, and the slender-billed curlew is thought to be globally extinct (Buchanan et al. 2018).

# Changes in breeding waterbird communities between 1998 and 2018

Our comparison of the 2 bird atlases indicated a widespread decline in the species richness of breeding waterbirds in the whole basin, with a loss of 18 species over the last 20 years (Fig. 9). Total breeding waterbird richness has declined by 23% (from 62 to 48 species), and 76% of the species that no longer breed in the KCB were Red-Listed at the national scale in the 2004 assessment (Kılıç and Eken 2004). Among the lost species were the iconic common crane (Grus grus), which used to breed around the former Eşmekaya Marshes, and the Dalmatian pelican (Pelecanus crispus), which used to breed in the former Ereğli Marshes, and some rare breeders such as the Caspian tern (Hydroprogne caspia), which has confirmed breeding at only 2 localities in the whole of Turkey. During this 20-year period, only 4 new species have (re)colonised the basin: cattle egret (Bubulcus ibis), great cormorant (Phalacrocorax carbo), white-tailed lapwing (Vanellus leucurus), and yellow-legged gull (Larus michahellis).

Compared with 20 years ago, of the thirty-four 50 km  $\times$  50 km grid squares, 62% had a lower species richness (mean change: -7.53), 29% exhibited zero net change, and only 9% had a higher breeding waterbird species richness (Fig. 9). The biggest losses of breeding waterbird richness have occurred in the squares corresponding to Ereğli, Hotamış, and Eşmekaya Marshes with a loss of >40 species in each (see Case 1).

#### Threats to fish species

The KCB hosts 38 fish species, 74% of which are endemic. This extreme endemism ratio is 1.6 times higher than the average ratio for Turkey, which is already a biodiversity hotspot for fishes (384 species, 47.4% endemic; Çiçek et al. 2020). Of the endemic species in the KCB, 61% are considered threatened or near threatened by IUCN (Supplemental Material 3), and the Beyşehir bleak (*Alburnus akili*), endemic to Lake Beyşehir and its tributaries, is now extinct (Küçük 2012). Endemic fish populations in the KCB have exhibited major reductions



**Figure 9.** Species richness loss of breeding waterbirds in Konya Closed Basin over the last 20 years. Some species that no longer breed in the basin are (a) Caspian tern, (b) Dalmatian pelican, (c) and common crane. 1: Lake Düden, 2: Former Eşmekaya Marshes, 3: Lake Beyşehir, 4: Former Hotamış Marshes, 5: Former Ereğli Marshes. Satellite imagery source: Esri, DigitalGlobe, GeoEye, Earthstar, Geo-graphics, CNES/Airbus DS, USDA, USGS, AeroGRID, IGN, and the GIS User Community.

over the last few decades (Meke et al. 2012, Yeğen et al. 2015, Küçük et al. 2016), coinciding with habitat loss, and most of the once widespread endemic fish species are now restricted to small refuges (Freyhof et al. 2020). The distribution range contraction of the declining endemic fish populations is indicative of an ongoing extinction process (Pimm et al. 2014, Ceballos et al. 2015).

The already stressed native and mostly endemic fish fauna of the KCB (Supplemental Material 3, Table S1) is further threatened by non-native invasive species introductions that include pikeperch (*Sander lucioperca*), tench (*Tinca tinca*), and Prussian carp (*Carassius gibelio*) (İnnal and Erk'akan 2006, Tarkan et al. 2015). The big-scale sand smelt (*Atherina boyeri*) was illegally dispersed by fishermen in the early 2000s for commercial reasons (Gençoğlu and Ekmekçi 2016). In addition, the exotic eastern mosquitofish (*Gambusia holbrooki*), rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*), and stone moroko (*Pseudorasbora parva*) were introduced, and the sakarya bleak (*Alburnus escherichii*), common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*), and Caucasian dwarf goby (*Knipowitschia caucasica*) were translocated to the KCB (Tarkan et al. 2015). Anatolian killifish (*Anatolich-thys anatoliae*) in the Central Anatolia region, Konya killifish (*A. iconii*) in Lake Beyşehir, and pearl-spotted killifish (*Paraphanius similis*) in Lake Akgöl have been affected by the exotic mosquitofish (Yeğen et al. 2006, Kurtul and Sarı 2019).

#### **Case studies**

To illustrate the severity of the changes that the KCB lakes and wetlands have faced/undergone and will expectedly face in the future, we present case stories on the iconic marshes and Lake Beyşehir.

# Case 1: the iconic marshes

The KCB once had several large marshes of exceptional biological value that contributed to biodiversity, fisheries, reed-cutting, and the maintenance of a local mild climate (Fig. 1). Among these were the iconic

548 🕳 G. YILMAZ ET AL.

Hotamış, Ereğli, and Eşmekaya Marshes, which have almost or totally disappeared over the last 4 decades.

The Hotamış Marshes covered ~174 km<sup>2</sup> (33.050E, 37.550 N) in the mid-1980s, and at its deepest point the water depth was 3 m (Ertan et al. 1989, Magnin and Yarar 1997). The size of the marshland decreased over time, mainly due to diversion of its major inflows through construction of drainage channels and groundwater extraction and, to a lesser extent, reduced rainfall (10% between 1965 and 1994) in the catchment (Magnin and Yarar 1997). Before then, the marshes supported breeding populations of >50 species of waterbirds along with regionally important breeding and nonbreeding populations of the globally threatened white-headed duck and marbled teal, making it an IBA; Eken and Magnin 2000, Kılıç and Eken 2004). Before the drainage in the 1990s, the marshes accommodated as many as 110 000 wintering waterbirds, whose number fell to a few thousands afterward (DKMP 2019).

The area of the Ereğli Marshes was even larger than that of the Hotamış Marshes (estimated total area:  $215 \text{ km}^2$ ) and included Lake Akgöl with a surface area of  $192 \text{ km}^2$  when its water level was highest in the early 20th century (Akkuş 1991, Magnin and Yarar 1997). The main inflow of the marshes was the İvriz stream (providing  $0.23 \times 10^3 \text{ hm}^3/\text{yr}$ ) until 1984 when it was diverted to the İvriz reservoir for irrigation (Fig. 10). Thereafter, the derivative channel Karaman Deliçay and sewage effluent from the nearest town, Ereğli, became the main inflow, lowering the water input. In 1988, the Karaman Deliçay was also diverted to Gödet reservoir, leaving the treated sewage effluent from Ereğli as the main inflow to the marshes. At one point, the Ereğli Marshes hosted 5 endemic fish species, including Anatolian gudgeon (Gobio hettitorum), Anatolian loach (Oxynoemacheilus eregliensis), Anatolian minnow (Pseudophoxinus anatolicus), Ereğli minnow (Garra kemali), and killifish (Paraphanius similis), but they have all disappeared. The marshes, a designated IBA (Ertan et al. 1989), were also home to a high variety of breeding, migrating, and wintering waterbirds occurring in the tens of thousands before the lake dried out in the 1990s (Fig. 10; DKMP 2019), including the globally endangered white-headed duck and marbled teal as well as nationally rare breeders like white pelican (Pelecanus onocrotalus), Dalmatian pelican, and white-tailed lapwing (Magnin and Yarar 1997).

The Eşmekaya Marshes were the smallest of the 3 with a maximum surface area of  $112.5 \text{ km}^2$  in the 1980s before the construction of a diversion channel drained most of the area (Magnin and Yarar 1997). The marshes were home to important populations of 2 endemic freshwater fish species: spring minnow (*Pseudophoxinus iconii*) and killifish (*A. anatoliae*; Eken et al. 2006, Küçük et al. 2016). The marshes also accommodated rich bird communities making it an IBA (Magnin and Yarar 1997) where nationally rare breeders such as pallid harrier (*Circus macrourus*) and short-eared owl



Figure 10. Changes in (a) wintering waterbird abundances and (b) water level (m a.s.l) of Lake Akgöl in the Ereğli Marshes.

(*Asio flammeus*) were found (Eken and Magnin 2000, Eken et al. 2006).

#### Case 2: Lake Beyşehir

Lake Beysehir, positioned in the upstream part of the KCB with a surface area of 650 km<sup>2</sup> and a catchment area of 4704 km<sup>2</sup>, is the largest freshwater lake in Turkey and in the whole Mediterranean basin. More than 40% of the catchment is covered by range-brush and >25% agricultural land, while forested areas (evergreen and deciduous forests) constitute >11% (Bucak et al. 2017). The lake shows inter- and intra-annual water level fluctuations (Fig. 11) and has a maximum depth of 8-9 m depending on the season. The lake is primarily fed by streams from the Sultan and Anamas mountains as well as by springs from Mesozoic calcareous cracks and one outflow. The lake is oligotrophic to mesotrophic, with low phytoplankton biomass (mean chlorophyll  $a \sim 3 \mu g/L$ ) and nutrient concentrations (mean total phosphorus ~23  $\mu$ g/L; Bucak et al. 2018).

The first study of fish in the lake revealed 6 species, none of which were predators (Numan 1958). A number

of species have since been introduced, including pikeperch in 1978, tench in the early 1990s, Prussian carp in the late 1990s, big-scale sand smelt in the early 2000s, topmouth gudgeon (Pseudorasbora parva) in the early 2010s, with rapidly increasing populations (Balık 1997, Yeğen et al. 2006, Meke et al. 2012, Bayçelebi et al. 2020), which likely caused the observed decline of the endemic fish species and extinction of the Beysehir bleak (Küçük 2012). Today, 15 fish species native to the lake are threatened with extinction, 7 of which are assessed as endangered and 1 as vulnerable according to IUCN (Supplemental Material 3, Table S1). The introductions also affected the waterbird communities. The islands in the lake used to accommodate big colonies of wading, diving, and scooping piscivorous birds such as black-crowned night heron (Nycticorax nycticorax), great cormorants, and Dalmatian pelicans, but these have either disappeared or declined in numbers following the stocking of non-native fish (Ertan et al. 1989, Magnin and Yarar 1997, Bucak et al. 2018).

Historical and paleolimnological studies of Lake Beyșehir have shown that water level fluctuations are critical for its ecosystem structure and functioning (Beklioglu et al. 2006, Levi et al. 2016), as seen elsewhere (Zohary



**Figure 11.** Changes in the actual water level of Lake Beyşehir from 1910 to 2010 and under different climate change scenarios. RCP4.5 assumes that greenhouse gas emission will peak around 2040, followed by a decline, while RCP8.5 assumes that emissions will increase throughout the 21st century (IPCC 2014) (reproduced from Bucak et al. 2017).

and Ostrovsky 2011). During 1960-2012, the monthly average water input to the lake (including precipitation, inflows, and groundwater) was  $0.09 \pm 0.07 \times 10^3$  hm<sup>3</sup>, and surface evaporation was  $0.08 \pm 0.04 \times 10^3$  hm<sup>3</sup>. However, the average monthly water abstraction for irrigation of the downstream basin was as high as  $0.02 \pm 0.03 \times 10^{3}$  hm<sup>3</sup> (Bucak et al. 2017). The future water level state of the lake looks gloomy. Bucak et al. (2017) conducted a simulation of the future water level changes relative to different land uses and climate change scenarios using the watershed model Soil and Water Assessment Tool (SWAT; Arnold et al. 1998) with ε-SVR (Support Vector Regression model; Vapnik 1995, Raghavendra and Deka 2014). In this water level study, outputs of 2 general circulation models (GCM), HadGEM2-ES (Hadley Centre Global Environmental Model) and an MPI-ESM-MR (Max Planck Institute Earth System Model) were used with 2 Representative Concentration Pathways (RCP4.5 and RCP8.5). RCP 4.5 assumes that greenhouse gas emission will peak around 2040, followed by a decline, while RCP8.5 assumes that emissions will increase throughout the 21st century (IPCC 2014). The climate models were dynamically downscaled by Demir et al. (2013) for the period 2013-2099 at a 20 km resolution using the RegCM 4.3.4 Regional Climate Model. In all scenarios, the results revealed a major water level reduction, and the most pessimistic climate and land use scenario predicts a potential dry out by the 2030s at the current outflow regime (Bucak et al. 2017). Outflow management scenarios run to determine the reduction of water abstraction needed to maintain the water level of the lake showed that a 20-60% reduction of the outflow is required to save the lake from complete disappearance (Bucak et al. 2017). Therefore, urgent and strict water resource planning and outflow management are clearly vital to sustain the lake ecosystem and its many services (Bucak et al. 2017).

#### Discussion

# The past

Judged from the examples presented, a drastic loss of lake surface area and salinisation have occurred during the past 40 years in the KCB, not least during the last 2 decades, in part due to changes in climate but largely a result of water abstraction and landscape regulation conducted to support an increasing agricultural production. The changes have had significant effects on the lakes, waterbirds, and fish, as clearly illustrated by the 2 case studies.

While increased evaporation has contributed to further deterioration of the already damaged water balance, water

withdrawal for agriculture is by far the key factor behind the substantial changes observed in the groundwater table (overall 1 m/yr rate of decrease since 1980s) and the major reduction of lake and marsh surface areas in the KCB. A major increase in crop production and a shift to water intensive crops have transformed the land use to intensively irrigated crop farming at the expense of the animal farming and herding that historically characterised the farming in the region (England et al. 2008). Especially after 2000, crop production has increased 2-fold (Fig. 3), in part due to the establishment and privatisation of sugar factories, which is clearly mirrored by the major drop in the groundwater tables (Fig. 4). A yearly water deficit of almost 350 hm<sup>3</sup> owing to irrigation has led to water import from neighbouring catchments (e.g., the Blue Tunnel Project involving transfer of water from the Göksu catchment to Konya Plain). Such compensatory import is well known from other arid regions (e.g., Zadereev et al. 2020) but has negative consequences for the lakes in the exporting catchments, a notable example being the iconic Aral Sea (Aladin et al. 2018). Moreover, reservoirs have been constructed, mainly in the southern KCB, in some cases at the expense of natural lakes and marshes by diverting their major inflows (Republic of Turkey Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry 2018b). Reservoir construction is a common practice in semiarid and arid areas worldwide but has led to redistribution of water and water loss with devastating effects on downstream aquatic ecosystems (Albert et al. 2020, Zadereev et al. 2020). That changes in land use and irrigation rather than in climate have had the most devastating effects in semiarid and arid areas worldwide in recent decades is well established (Wurtsbaugh et al. 2017, Zadereev 2018, Albert et al. 2020, Zadereev et al. 2020).

In the KCB, the surface areas of lakes have decreased markedly (e.g., Lake Düden) and several have even dried out (see Case Study 1). Moreover, many lakes have become more saline, such as Lake Düden (Fig. 7). Increasing salinity may lead to reduced biodiversity and an expected loss of ecosystem functioning (Williams et al. 1990, Schallenberg et al. 2003, Flöder and Burns 2004, Kipriyanova et al. 2007, Jeppesen et al. 2015, Anufriieva and Shadrin 2018, Golubkov et al. 2018). Often, pronounced effects are seen when specific salinity thresholds are surpassed, such as a complete loss of fish at high salinities (Lin et al. 2017, Vidal et al. 2021). In addition, widespread drainage of the wetlands and deterioration of the lake ecosystems in the KCB in the last 60 years have resulted in major declines in the populations of threatened waterbirds and species richness in the region (Fig. 9 and 10).

The fish fauna of the KCB, which includes a large component of endemic species, is subject to a serious

threat of extinction (Çiçek et al. 2018). Abstraction and diversion of freshwater to reservoirs cause habitat fragmentation and alteration of natural seasonal patterns (Korkmaz et al. 2015, Albert et al. 2020) and have forced the native fish fauna to find refuge in restricted springfed tributaries, making these species even more vulnerable to hydrological alterations (İnnal and Erk'akan 2006). Even relatively low environmental stress on these small populations of native fish can lead to local extinction; 61% of the endemic species are threatened. Moreover, invasive species now comprise 20% of the fish fauna, thus adding additional pressure on the native fish fauna, which has already led to the extinction of the Beyşehir bleak (Küçük 2012), with potential cascading effects on waterbird populations (see Case Study 2). For example, carp can compete with diving omnivorous ducks for benthic macroinvertebrate food sources and thereby cause eutrophication, both of which are factors that may disturb the habitats of diving omnivorous waterbirds (Maceda-Veiga et al. 2017, Özgencil et al. 2020).

#### The future

The trend analysis suggests that the water loss from the basin will increase due to enhanced evaporation and transpiration, clearly evidenced by the observed negative SPEI values (Fig. 5b) that indicate a water deficit after 2000. Increased evapotranspiration was historically critical for either the shrinkage or complete loss of lakes in the basin (e.g., Paleolake Konya), and now it seems that history is unfortunately repeating itself. We used the global circulation models MPI-ESM-MR, HadGEM2-ES, and GFDL-ESM2M, together with the regional climate models RCP4.5 and RCP8.5 (Dolsar 2015), to analyse the water balance in the KCB until 2050 and predict a decrease in water resources. Moreover, with the current agricultural policies, the agricultural production in the KCB will likely continue to increase to satisfy the demand of an increasing human population. Left uncontrolled, the production of crops with a high irrigation requirement such as sugar beets will increase, and so will the extent of irrigated areas and the amount of water used (Republic of Turkey Ministry of Environment and Urbanisation 2020). To ensure effective use of the basin, a switch to watersaving irrigation methods and planting of crops suitable for the climate and water potential of the area are needed through strict regional level actions (Albert et al. 2020). If the demand for water remains at the current level or increases to meet irrigation needs, the groundwater table will expectedly drop further, which may be compensated for by a radical change in water allocation inside the

basin or additional inter-basin water transfer, with all the negative consequences this may have.

The major changes in climate and continued water abstraction are also expected to create future environmental changes in lakes, clearly illustrated by the simulation of the future water level changes in the largest freshwater lake in Turkey, Lake Beyşehir (Case Study 2). The simulation showed that, under the current outflow regime, the lake might suffer from frequent episodes of dry out as soon the 2030s-2050s (Bucak et al. 2017). Reduced water input to the lake will result in a lower nutrient loading from the catchment to the lake, which, as judged from modelling results, will only insignificantly affect the biomass of algae in this nutrientpoor lake (Bucak et al. 2018). More eutrophic lakes in semiarid climates may be more substantially affected by the climate change (Zohary and Ostrovsky 2011). A mass balance and modelling study of Lakes Mogan and Eymir (outside the KCB) revealed that, during dry periods, low inflow rates and high evaporation produced increased in-lake nutrient concentrations due to both the concentration of nutrients in less water and increased internal loading (Coppens et al. 2016, 2020). The algal biomass and the abundance of cyanobacteria were also much higher in the drier and warmer scenarios. Overall, the results show that lower hydraulic loads and reduced flushing rates as a result of drier and warmer conditions lead to lower water levels and higher in-lake nutrient concentrations. Such changes are also accompanied by salinisation, a state where even a few years with a prolonged hydraulic residence time can shift a lake to briny conditions (Beklioğlu et al. 2018). Apart from eutrophication, the expected salinity changes will severely affect the biodiversity and trophic dynamics of the KCB lakes (Brucet et al. 2012, Lin et al. 2017, Jeppesen et al. 2020, Zadereev et al. 2020, Vidal et al. 2021), and major shifts may occur when certain salinity thresholds are surpassed (Jeppesen et al. 2007, Lin et al. 2017). To reverse the ecosystem degradation or even preserve the current status, a framework policy is needed that aims to restrict the exploitation of water resources within sustainable limits in the KCB while simultaneously promoting conservation efforts. This action seems achievable only if the basin-wide legal regulation of water abstraction is combined with economic incentives of transition to climatically appropriate crop farming.

#### **Acknowledgements**

We thank Doğa Koruma ve Milli Parklar Genel Müdürlüğü for providing the mid-winter waterbird census data; Itri Levent Erkol for the IBA GIS layers; all the 2018 atlas volunteers;

#### 552 🛞 G. YILMAZ ET AL.

Ece Işil Eren, and Figen Kepenek for drawing the bird illustrations; Kiraz Erciyas Yavuz for the scans of the draft of the 1998 atlas; Aybüke Uysal and Alaz Uslu for help with data preparation, analyses and visualisation; Lider Sinav for the distribution maps of the 1998 breeding bird atlas; Cem Orkun Kıraç and Sühendan Karauz for sharing their articles; Ogün Aydın and Selami Oral for sighting reports; Doğa Derneği, OSME, and Mohamed bin Zayed Species Conservation Fund for funding the 2016 and 2019 White-headed Duck projects; and all the atlas volunteers for the data collection. We thank Anne Mette Poulsen for manuscript assistance.

#### **Disclosure statement**

No potential conflict of interest was reported by the author(s).

#### Funding

The project and EJ, KÖ, GY, MM, AÇ, SE, and MK were supported by TÜBITAK program BIDEB 2232 International Fellowship for Outstanding Researchers (project 118C250). MB and EJ were supported by EU-H2020, INFRAIA project AQUACOSM (Project no 731063), and AQUACOSM-Plus (no 871081); MB and ZA were supported by EU-H2020, PONDERFUL (No 869296); and KÖ was supported by TÜBA GEBİP programme; Turkish Academy of Sciences.

# ORCID

Gültekin Yılmaz http://orcid.org/0000-0002-6986-016X Mehmet Arda Çolak http://orcid.org/0000-0003-2051-129X İbrahim Kaan Özgencil http://orcid.org/0000-0002-5189-162X

Melisa Metin D http://orcid.org/0000-0002-1273-0671 Mustafa Korkmaz D http://orcid.org/0000-0002-8710-1095 Serhat Ertuğrul D http://orcid.org/0000-0002-5221-169X Melisa Soyluer D http://orcid.org/0000-0002-0952-8501 Tuba Bucak D http://orcid.org/0000-0002-6710-0423 Ülkü Nihan Tavşanoğlu D http://orcid.org/0000-0001-8462-415X

Korhan Özkan <sup>®</sup> http://orcid.org/0000-0003-1911-6508 Zuhal Akyürek <sup>®</sup> http://orcid.org/0000-0003-3744-2702 Meryem Beklioğlu <sup>®</sup> http://orcid.org/0000-0003-2145-3941 Erik Jeppesen <sup>®</sup> http://orcid.org/0000-0002-0542-369X

#### References

- Akkuş A. 1991. Karaman çevresinin fiziki coğrafyası. [Physical geography of Karaman Region]. SÜAF Proje No: 91–83, Konya. Turkish.
- Aladin NV, Chida T, Chuikov YS, Ermakhanov ZK, Kawabata Y, Kubota J, Micklin P, Plotnikov IS, Smurov AO, Zaitzev VF. 2018. The history and future of the biological resources of the Caspian and the Aral seas. J Oceanog Limnol. 36(6):2061–2084.
- Albert JS, Destouni G, Duke-Sylvester SM, Magurran AE, Oberdorff T, Reis RE, Winemiller KO, Ripple WJ. 2020. Scientists' warning to humanity on the freshwater biodiversity crisis. Ambio. 50:85–90.

- Allcock SL, Roberts N. 2014. Changes in regional settlement patterns in Cappadocia (central Turkey) since the Neolithic: a combined site survey perspective. Anatol Stud. 64:33–57.
- Anufriieva EV, Shadrin NV. 2018. Extreme hydrological events destabilize aquatic ecosystems and open doors for alien species. Quat Int. 475:11–15.
- Arnold JG, Srinivasan R, Muttiah RS, Williams JR. 1998. Large area hydrologic modeling and assessment part I: model development. J AmWater Resour Assoc. 34(1):73–89.
- Asouti E, Hather J. 2001. Charcoal analysis and the reconstruction of ancient woodland vegetation in the Konya Basin, south-central Anatolia, Turkey: results from the Neolithic site of Çatalhöyük East. Veg Hist Archaeobot. 10(1):23–32.
- Asouti E, Kabukcu C. 2014. Holocene semi-arid oak woodlands in the Irano-Anatolian region of Southwest Asia: natural or anthropogenic? Quat Sci Rev. 90:158–182.
- Balık İ. 1997. Beyşehir Gölü Su Ürünleri Geliştirme Projesi, Balık Populasyonlarının Araştırılması ve Sudak Populasyonunun Göl Balıkçılığı Üzerine Etkileri, Sonuç Raporu. [Beyşehir Lake Aquaculture Project, Research of Fish Populations and Effects of Sudak Population on Lake Fisheries, Final Report.] Tarım ve Köyişleri Bak Eğirdir Su Ürün Araş Ens Müd 93s. Turkish.
- Bannari A, El-Battay A, Bannari R, Rhinane H. 2018. Sentinel-MSI VNIR and SWIR bands sensitivity analysis for soil salinity discrimination in an arid landscape. Remote Sens. 10(6):855.
- Bayçelebi E, Kaya C, Güçlü SS, Küçük F, Turan D. 2020. Taxonomic status of endemic fish species in Lake Beyşehir Basin (Turkey). Acta Aquatica Turcica. 16(1):138–147.
- Beklioglu M, Altinayar G, Tan CO. 2006. Water level control over submerged macrophyte development in five shallow lakes of Mediterranean Turkey. Arch Hydrobiol. 166(4):535–556.
- Beklioğlu M, Bucak T, Coppens J, Bezirci G, Tavşanoğlu N, Çakiroğlu AI, Levi EE, Erdoğan S, Filiz N, Özkan K, Özen A. 2018. Restoration of eutrophic lakes with fluctuating water levels: a 20-year monitoring study of two interconnected lakes. Water. 9(2):127.
- Berke ÖM, Dıvrak BB, Sarısoy DH. 2014. Konya'da Suyun Bugünü Raporu [Today's report of water in Konya]. Istanbul: WWF-Turkey.
- BirdLife International. 2020. Country profile: Turkey. Data Zone: IBAs. http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/country/ turkey
- Boyla KA, Sınav L, Dizdaroğlu DE. 2019. Türkiye Üreyen Kuş Atlası [Turkey breeding bird atlas]. Istanbul (Turkey): WWF-Turkey. Doğal Hayatı Koruma Vakfı. Turkish.
- Brucet S, Boix SD, Nathansen LW, Quintana XD, Jensen E, Balayla D, Meerhoff M, Jeppesen E. 2012. Plant-associated macroinvertebrate community structure in shallow brackish lakes: role of climate, salinity and predation. PLos One. 7(2):e30877.
- Bucak T, Trolle D, Andersen HE, Thodsen H, Erdoğan Ş, Bezirci G, Filiz N, Jeppesen E, Beklioğlu M. 2017. Future water availability in the largest freshwater Mediterranean lake is at great risk as evidenced from simulations with the SWAT model. Sci Total Environ. 581–582:413–425.
- Bucak T, Trolle D, Tavşanoğlu ÜN, Aİ Ç, Özen A, Jeppesen E, Beklioğlu M. 2018. Modeling the effects of climatic and

INLAND WATERS 😓 553

land use changes on phytoplankton and water quality of the largest Turkish freshwater lake: Lake Beyşehir. Sci Total Environ. 621:802–816.

- Buchanan GM, Bond AL, Crockford NJ, Kamp J, Pearce-Higgins JW, Hilton GM. 2018. The potential breeding range of Slender-billed curlew *Numenius tenuirostris* identified from stable-isotope analysis. Bird Conserv Int. 28(2):228–237.
- Cañedo-Argüells M, Kefford B, Schäfer R. 2019. Salt in freshwaters: causes, effects and prospects – introduction to the theme issue. Phil T R Soc B. 374:20180002.
- Ceballos G, Ehrlich PR, Barnosky AD, García A, Pringle RM, Palmer TM. 2015. Accelerated modern human–induced species losses: entering the sixth mass extinction. Sci Adv. 1(5):e1400253.
- Çiçek E, Fricke R, Sungur S, Eagderi E. 2018. Endemic freshwater fishes of Turkey. Fish Taxa. 3(4):1–39.
- Çiçek E, Sungur S, Fricke R. 2020. Freshwater lampreys and fishes of Turkey; a revised and updated annotated checklist 2020. Zootaxa. 4809(2):241–270.
- Congedo L. 2016. Semi-automatic classification plugin documentation. Release, No. 5.3.6.1. 219 p.
- Coppens J, Özen A, Çakıroğlu I, Tavşanoğlu UN, Yozgatlıgil C, Jeppesen E, Beklioğlu M. 2016. Impact of alternating wet and dry periods on long-term seasonal phosphorus and nitrogen budgets of two shallow Mediterranean lakes. Sci Total Environ. 563–564:456–467.
- Coppens J, Trolle D, Jeppesen E, Beklioğlu M. 2020. The impact of climate change on a Mediterranean shallow lake: insights based on catchment and lake modelling. Reg Environ Chang. 20(Article 62).
- Cornell Lab of Ornithology. 2019. eBird basic dataset; [accessed 2020 Sep 14]. https://ebird.org/
- Dean JR, Jones MD, Leng MJ, Noble SR, Metcalfe SE, Sloane HJ, Sahy D, Eastwood WJ, Roberts CN. 2015. Eastern Mediterranean hydroclimate over the late glacial and Holocene, reconstructed from the sediments of Nar lake, central Turkey, using stable isotopes and carbonate mineralogy. Quat Sci Rev. 124:162–174.
- Demir Ö, Atay H, Eskioğlu O, Tüvan A, Demircan M, Akçakaya A. 2013. RCP4.5 senaryosuna göre sıcaklık ve yağış projeksiyonları [Temperature and precipitation projections according To RCP4.5 scenario]. Proceedings of the 3rd Turkey Climate Change Conference; June 3–5; Istanbul, Turkey. Turkish.
- DKMP. 2019. Kış Ortası Su Kuşu Sayımları Veri Seti [Midwinter water bird counts dataset] 1967–2019. Turkish.
- Dolsar. 2015. Drought management plan for Konya closed basin. Report prepared for Republic of Turkey Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry-General Directorate of Water Management.
- Eastwood WJ, Roberts N, Lamb HF, Tibby JC. 1999. Holocene environmental change in southwest Turkey: a palaeoecological record of lake and catchment-related changes. Ouat Sci Rev. 18(4–5):671–695.
- Eken G, İsfandiyaroğlu S, Bozdoğan M. 2006. Türkiye'nin Önemli Doğa Alanları [Important nature areas of Turkey]. Ankara (Turkey): Doğa Derneği. Turkish.
- Eken G, Magnin G. 2000. A preliminary biodiversity atlas of the Konya Basin, Central Turkey. Istanbul (Turkey): Doğal Hayatı Koruma Derneği.

- England A, Eastwood WJ, Roberts CN, Turner R, Haldon JF. 2008. Historical landscape change in Cappadocia (central Turkey): a palaeoecological investigation of annually laminated sediments from Nar lake. Holocene. 18(8):1229–1245.
- Ertan A, Kılıç A, Kasparek M. 1989. Türkiye'nin Önemli Kuş Alanları [Important bird areas of Turkey]. Istanbul (Turkey): Doğal Hayatı Koruma Derneği. Turkish.
- Flöder S, Burns CW. 2004. Phytoplankton diversity of shallow tidal lakes: influence of periodic salinity changes on diversity and species number of a natural assemblage. J Phycol. 40:54–61.
- Fontugne M, Kuzucuoğlu C, Karabiyikoğlu M, Hatté C, Pastre JF. 1999. From Pleniglacial to Holocene: a 14C chronostratigraphy of environmental changes in the Konya plain, Turkey. Quat Sci Rev. 18(4–5):573–591.
- Freyhof J, Bergner L, Ford M. 2020. Threatened freshwater fishes of the Mediterranean basin biodiversity hotspot: distribution, extinction risk and the impact of hydropower. EuroNatur and RiverWatch. i-viii+:1–348.
- Fricke R, Eschmeyer WN, Van der Laan R. 2020. Eschmeyer's catalog of fishes: genera, species, references; [accessed 2020 Sep 15]. http://researcharchive.calacademy.org/research/ ichthyology/catalog/fishcatmain.asp
- Froese R, Pauly D. 2020. Fishbase; [accessed 2020 Sep 15]. http://www.fishbase.org
- Gençoğlu L, Ekmekçi FG. 2016. Growth and reproduction of a marine fish, Atherina boyeri (Risso 1810), in a freshwater ecosystem. Turk J Zool. 40(4):534–542.
- Giorgi F. 2006. Climate change hot-spots. Geophys Res Lett. 33(8):1-4.
- Golubkov SM, Shadrin NV, Golubkov MS, Balushkina EV, Litvinchuk LF. 2018. Food chains and their dynamics in ecosystems of shallow lakes with different water salinities. Russ J Ecol. 49(5):442–448.
- Hodder I. 1996. On the surface: Çatalhöyük 1993–95. Çatalhöyük Reseach Project Series Volume 1. McDonald Institute for Archaeological Research/British Institute of Archaeology at Ankara Monograph No. 22.
- Innal D, Erk'akan F. 2006. Effects of exotic and translocated fish species in the inland waters of Turkey. Rev Fish Biol Fisher. 16(1):39–50.
- [IPCC] Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. 2007. Climate change 2007: impacts, adaptation and vulnerability. In: Parry, ML, Canzian OF, Palutikof JP, van der Linden PJ, Hanson CE, editors. Contribution of working group II to the fourth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge (UK): Cambridge University Press.
- [IPCC] Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. 2014. Summary for policymakers. Climate change 2014: impacts, adaptation, and vulnerability. Contribution of working group II to the fifth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge (UK): Cambridge University Press; 1–32.
- [IUCN] International Union for Conservation of Nature. 2020. The IUCN red list of threatened species. 2020. Version 2020; [accessed 2020 Sep 30]. http://www. iucnredlist.org
- Jeppesen E, Beklioğlu M, Özkan K, Akyürek Z. 2020. Salinisation increase due to global change will have substantial negative effect on inland waters and freshwater

554 👄 G. YILMAZ ET AL.

resources: a call for multifaceted research at the local and global scale - The Innovation 1, art. 100030.

- Jeppesen E, Brucet S, Naselli-Flores L, Papastergiadou E, Stefanidis K, Nõges T, Nõges P, Attayde JL, Zohary T, Coppens J, et al. 2015. Ecological impacts of global warming and water abstraction on lakes and reservoirs due to changes in water level and salinity. Hydrobiologia. 750:201–227.
- Jeppesen E, Søndergaard M, Pedersen AR, Jürgens K, Strzelczak A, Lauridsen TL, Johansson LS. 2007. Salinity induced regime shift in shallow brackish lagoons. Ecosystems. 10:48–58.
- Kashima K. 2002. Environmental and climatic changes during the last 20,000 years at Lake Tuz, central Turkey. Catena. 48(1-2):3-20.
- Kılıç D, Eken G. 2004. Türkiye'nin Önemli Kuş Alanları 2004 Güncellemesi [Update on important bird areas of Turkey, 2004]. Ankara (Turkey): Doğa Derneği. Turkish.
- Kipriyanova LM, Yermolaeva NI, Bezmaternykh DM, Dvurechenskaya SY, Itrofanova EY. 2007. Changes in the biota of Chany Lake along a salinity gradient. Hydrobiologia. 576(1):83–93.
- Kirwan G, Demirci B, Welch H, Boyla K, Özen M, Castell P, Marlow T. 2010. The birds of Turkey. London (UK): Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Konya Directorate of Provincial Agriculture and Forestry. 2019. Konya Tarımı: 2018 Yılı Şube/İlçe Faaliyetleri Değerlendirme ve 2019 Yılı Koordinasyon Toplantısı [Agriculture in Konya: 2018 activities evaluation and 2019 coordination meeting report]. Turkish.
- Korkmaz M, Mangit F, Yerli SV. 2015. The effect of hydroelectric power stations on fish migration: a case study at Yanbolu stream. Fish Passage 2015: International Conference on River Connectivity Best Practices and Innovations; June 2015; p. 22–24.
- Küçük F. 2012. Extinct endemic fishes of Turkey: Alburnus akili (Gövce) and Pseudophoxinus handlirschi (Kavinne) (Pisces: Cyprinidae). Turkish J Fish Aquat Sci. 12:345–347.
- Küçük F, Gülle I, Güçlü SS. 2016. Pseudophoxinus iconii, a new species of spring minnow from Central Anatolia (Teleostei: Cyprinidae). Ichthyol Explor Freshw. 27(3):283–288.
- Kurtul I, Sarı H. 2019. Gambusia holbrooki (Sivrisinek balığı)'nin Türkiye'deki dağılımına katkılar [Contribution on the distribution of Gambusia holbrooki (Mosquitofish) in Turkey]. J Limnol Freshw Fish Res. 5(3):170–180. Turkish.
- Kuzucuoğlu C, Bertaux J, Black S, Denefle M, Fontugne M, Karabiyikoğlu M, Kashima K, Limondin-Lozouet N, Mouralis D, Orth P. 1999. Reconstruction of climatic changes during the Late Pleistocene, based on sediment records from the Konya Basin (Central Anatolia, Turkey). Geol J. 34(12):175–198.
- Levi EE, Bezirci G, Çakıroğlu AI, Turner S, Bennion H, Kernan M, Jeppesen E, Beklioğlu M. 2016. Effects of water level change on the benthic-pelagic ecosystems in three Turkish shallow lakes: a palaeolimnological approach. Palaeogeogr Palaeoclimatol Palaeoecol. 449:553–566.
- Lin Q, Xu L, Liu Z, Jeppesen E, Han BP. 2017. Responses of trophic structure and zooplankton community to salinity and temperature in Tibetan lakes: implication for the effect of climate. Water Res. 124:618–629.

- Maceda-Veiga A, López R, Green AJ. 2017. Dramatic impact of alien carp *Cyprinus carpio* on globally threatened diving ducks and other waterbirds in Mediterranean shallow lakes. Biol Conserv. 212:74–85.
- Magnin G, Yarar M. 1997. Important bird areas in Turkey. Istanbul (Turkey): Doğal Hayatı Koruma Derneği.
- Meke T, Küçükkara R, Çınar Ş, Çavdar N, Babar B, Yener O. 2012. Beyşehir Gölü balık faunası için yeni bir kayıt: istilacı bir tür: [A new record for the Beyşehir Lake fish fauna: an invasive species: *Pseudorasbora parva* (Temminck & Schlegel, 1846)]. Paper presented at Limnology Symposium V; Isparta, Turkey. Turkish.
- Numan W. 1958. Anadolunun Muhtelif Göllerinde Limnolojik ve Balıkçılık İlmi Bakımından Araştırmalar ve Bu Göllerde Yaşayan Sazanlar Hakkında Özel Bir Etüd. [Limnological and fisheries studies in various lakes of Anatolia and a special study on the carp living in these lakes]. İst Üni Fen Fak Hidrobiyoloji Araş Ens Yay. 7 İstanbul. Turkish.
- Özgencil İK. 2019. Searching for white-headed duck (*Oxyura leucocephala*) breeding and wintering grounds in Central Anatolia and monitoring of its populations. Ankara (Turkey): The Mohamed bin Zayed Species Conservation Fund.
- Özgencil İK, Beklioğlu M, Özkan K, Tavşanoğlu Ç, Fattorini N. 2020. Changes in functional composition and diversity of waterbirds: the roles of water level and submerged macrophytes. Freshwater Biol. 65(11):1845–1857.
- Özhatay N, Byfield A, Atay S. 2003. Türkiye'nin Önemli Bitki Alanları [Important plant areas of Turkey]. İstanbul (Turkey): WWF-Turkey (Doğal Hayatı Koruma Vakfı).
- Pegion P. 2012. On the increased frequency of Mediterranean drought. J Climate. 25(6):2146–2161.
- Pimm SL, Jenkins CN, Abell R, Brooks TM, Gittleman JL, Joppa LN, Raven PH, Roberts CM, Sexton JO. 2014. The biodiversity of species and their rates of extinction, distribution, and protection. Science. 30(6187):344.
- Raghavendra S, Deka PC. 2014. Support vector machine applications in the field of hydrology: a review. Appl Soft Comput J. 19:372–386.
- Republic of Turkey Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry. 2018a. Yaşayan alanlar, Yaşamak için Alanlar. [Living spaces, spaces for living. Ankara (Turkey): NATURA 2000. Turkish.
- Republic of Turkey Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry. 2018b. Havza Koruma Eylem Planlarının Nehir Havzası Yönetim Planlarına Dönüştürülmesi için Teknik Yardım: Konya Kapalı Havzası Yönetim Planı [Konya Closed Basin management plan: technical assistance for converting basin protection action plans into river basin management plans]. Turkish.
- Republic of Turkey Ministry of Environment and Urbanisation. 2020. Environmental Impact Assessment 2020. Konya İli 2019 Yılı Çevre Durum Raporu [2019 Environmental Status of Konya Province Report]. Turkish.
- Roberts N. 1983. Age, palaeoenvironments, and climatic significance of late Pleistocene Konya Lake, Turkey. Quat Res. 19(2):154–171.
- Roberts N. 2002. Did prehistoric landscape management retard the post-glacial spread of woodland in Southwest Asia? Antiquity. 76(294):1002–1010.
- Roberts N, Allcock SL, Arnaud F, Dean JR, Eastwood WJ, Jones MD, Leng MJ, Metcalfe SE, Malet E, Woodbridge J,

Yiğitbaşıoğlu H. 2016. A tale of two lakes: a multi-proxy comparison of Lateglacial and Holocene environmental change in Cappadocia, Turkey. J Quat Sci. 31(4):348–362.

- Roberts N, Black S, Boyer P, Eastwood WJ, Griffiths HI, Lamb HF, Leng MJ, Parish R, Reed JM, Twigg D, Yiğitbaşioğlu H. 1999. Chronology and stratigraphy of late Quaternary sediments in the Konya basin, Turkey: results from the KOPAL project. Quat Sci Rev. 18(4–5):611–630.
- Roberts N, Eastwood WJ, Kuzucuoğlu C, Fiorentino G, Caracuta V. 2011. Climatic, vegetation and cultural change in the eastern Mediterranean during the mid-Holocene environmental transition. Holocene. 21(1):147–162.
- Rodriguez Diaz JA, Weatherhead EK, Knox JW, Camacho E. 2007. Climate change impacts on irrigation water requirements in the Guadalquivir River basin in Spain. Reg Environ Change. 7:149–159.
- Russo A, Gouveia CM, Dutra E, Soares PMM, Trigo RM. 2019. The synergy between drought and extremely hot summers in the Mediterranean. Environ Res Lett. 14(1):014011.
- Schallenberg M, Hall CJ, Burns CW. 2003. Consequences of climate-induced salinity increases on zooplankton abundance and diversity in coastal lakes. Mar Ecol Prog Ser. 251:181–189.
- Şen Z. 2011. Innovative trend analysis methodology. J Hydrol Eng, 17(9):1042–1046.
- Şenkul Ç, Kaya S. 2017. Türkiye endemik Bitkilerinin Coğrafi Dağılışı [Geographic distribution of the endemic plants of Turkey]. Türk Coğrafya Dergisi. 69:109–120. Turkish.
- Tarkan AS, Marr SM, Ekmekçi FG. 2015. Non-native and translocated freshwater fish. FiSHMED Fish Med Environ. 3:28.
- Thornthwaite CW, Mather JR. 1955. The water balance. Pub Climatol. 8:1–104.
- Topak R, Süheri S, Acar B. 2008. İklim-Tarımsal Kuraklık-Sulama ve Çevre Etkileşimi Yönünden Konya Havzası. Konya Kapalı Havzası Yer altı Suyu ve Kuraklık Konferansı, Bildiri Kitabı [Climate-agricultural-drought in Konya Closed Basin in terms of irrigation and environmental Interaction. Konya Closed Basin groundwater and drought conference]. Turkish.
- Topp SN, Pavelsky TM, Jensen D, Simard M, Ross MRV. 2020. Research trends in the use of remote sensing for inland water quality science: moving towards multidisciplinary applications. Water. 12:169.
- [TUIK] Turkish Statistical Institute. 2020. Database for agricultural area, crop pattern, biomass, and livestock; [accessed 2020 September 15]. www.tuik.gov.tr
- Türkşeker. 2020. Sektör Raporu 2019 [Sugar Report of 2019]. Turkish.
- Vapnik V. 1995. The nature of statistical learning theory. New York (NY): Springer.
- Vicente-Serrano SM, Beguería S, López-Moreno JI. 2010. A multiscalar drought index sensitive to global warming: the standardized precipitation evapotranspiration index. J Clim. 23:1696–1718.

- Vicente-Serrano SM, Lopez-Moreno JI, Beguería S, Lorenzo-Lacruz J, Sanchez-Lorenzo A, García-Ruiz JM, Azorin-Molina C, Morán-Tejeda E, Revuelto J, Trigo R, et al. 2014. Evidence of increasing drought severity caused by temperature rise in Southern Europe. Environ Res Lett. 9(4):044001.
- Vidal N, Yu J, Gutierrez MF, de Mello F T, Tavsanoglu ÜN, Çakiroglu AI, He H, Meerhoff M, Brucet S, Liu Z, Jeppesen E. 2021. Salinity shapes food webs in lakes: implications for increasing aridity with climate change. Inland Waters. 11(3). doi:10.1080/20442041.2020.1859290.
- Wang J, Ding J, Yu D, Ma X, Zhang Z, Ge X, Chen X. 2019. Capability of sentinel-2 MSI data for monitoring and mapping of soil salinity in dry and wet seasons in the Ebinur Lake region, Xinjiang, China. Geoderma. 353:172–187.
- Williams WD, Boulton AJ, Taaffe RG. 1990. Salinity as a determinant of salt lake fauna: a question of scale. Hydrobiologia. 197:257–266.
- Woodbridge J, Roberts CN, Palmisano A, Bevan A, Shennan S, Fyfe R, Eastwood WJ, Izdebski A, Çakırlar C, Woldring H, et al. 2019. Pollen-inferred regional vegetation patterns and demographic change in Southern Anatolia through the Holocene. Holocene. 29(5):728–741.
- Wurtsbaugh WA, Miller C, Null SE, DeRose RJ, Wilcock P, Hahnenberger M, Howe F, Moore J. 2017. Decline of the world's saline lakes. Nat Geosci. 10(11):816–821.
- Xu H. 2006. Modification of normalised difference water index (NDWI) to enhance open water features in remotely sensed imagery. Int J Remote Sens. 27(14):3025–3033.
- Yano T, Aydin M, Haraguchi T. 2007. Impact of climate change on irrigation demand and crop growth in a Mediterranean environment of Turkey. Sensors. 7:2297– 2315.
- Yeğen V, Balık S, Bostan H, Uysal R, Bilçen E. 2006. Göller bölgesindeki bazı göl ve baraj göllerinin balık faunalarının son durumu [Recent status of fish faunas in some lakes and dams in lakes region]. I. Balıklandırma ve Rezervuar Yönetimi Sempozyumu 7–9 Şubat; p. 129–140. Turkish.
- Yeğen V, Uysal R, Yağcı A, Cesur M, Çetinkaya S, Bilgin F, Bostan H, Apaydın Yağcı M. 2015. New records for distribution of invasive topmouth gudgeon (*Pseudorasbora parva* Temminck & Schlegel, 1846) in Anatolia. J Limnol Freshw Fish Res. 1(1):57–61.
- Zadereev E, Lipka O, Karimov B, Krylenko M, Elias V, Pinto IS, Alizade V, Anker Y, Feest A, Kuznetsova D, et al. 2020. Overview of past, current, and future ecosystem and biodiversity trends of inland saline lakes of Europe and Central Asia. Inland Waters. 10(4):438–452.
- Zadereev ES. 2018. Salt lakes, surrounding environments and environmental management. In: Zheng M, Deng T, Oren A, editors. Introduction to salt lake sciences. Beijing (China): Science Press; p. 172–179.
- Zohary T, Ostrovsky I. 2011. Ecological impacts of excessive water level fluctuations in stratified freshwater lakes. Inland Waters. 1(1):47–59.

# A.2 Paper B





# Increased Water Abstraction and Climate Change Have Substantial Effect on Morphometry, Salinity, and Biotic Communities in Lakes: Examples from the Semi-Arid Burdur Basin (Turkey)

Mehmet Arda Çolak <sup>1,\*</sup>, Barış Öztaş <sup>2</sup>, İbrahim Kaan Özgencil <sup>3,4</sup>, Melisa Soyluer <sup>3,4</sup>, Mustafa Korkmaz <sup>3,5</sup>, Arely Ramírez-García <sup>3,6</sup>, Melisa Metin <sup>3</sup>, Gültekin Yılmaz <sup>5</sup>, Serhat Ertuğrul <sup>5</sup>, Ülkü Nihan Tavşanoğlu <sup>7</sup>, Cihelio Alves Amorim <sup>3</sup>, Can Özen <sup>8</sup>, Meral Apaydın Yağcı <sup>9</sup>, Abdulkadir Yağcı <sup>9</sup>, Juan Pablo Pacheco <sup>10</sup>, Korhan Özkan <sup>5,8</sup>, Meryem Beklioğlu <sup>3,8</sup>, Erik Jeppesen <sup>3,5,8,11,12</sup> and Zuhal Akyürek <sup>1,2,8</sup>

- Department of Geodetic and Geographic Information Technologies, Middle East Technical University, 06800 Ankara, Turkey; zakyurek@metu.edu.tr
- <sup>2</sup> Department of Civil Engineering, Middle East Technical University, 06800 Ankara, Turkey; baris.oztas@metu.edu.tr
- <sup>3</sup> Department of Biological Sciences, Middle East Technical University, 06800 Ankara, Turkey; kaanozgencil@gmail.com (İ.K.Ö.); sylrmelisa@gmail.com (M.S.); korkmaz.hidro@gmail.com (M.K.); arelyr@umich.mx (A.R.-G.); melm1452@gmail.com (M.M.); alvescihelio@gmail.com (C.A.A.); meryem@metu.edu.tr (M.B.); ej@ecos.au.dk (E.J.)
- <sup>4</sup> Simurg Bird Sanctuary, 06800 Ankara, Turkey
- <sup>5</sup> Institute of Marine Sciences, Middle East Technical University, 33731 Mersin, Turkey; tekinims@gmail.com (G.Y.); serhatertugrul@gmail.com (S.E.); okorhan@metu.edu.tr (K.Ö.)
- <sup>6</sup> Programa Institucional de Doctorado en Ciencias Biológicas, Universidad Michoacana de San Nicolás de Hidaleo. Morelia 58000. Mexico
- Department of Biology, Çankırı Karatekin University, 18100 Çankırı, Turkey; unyazgan@gmail.com
   <sup>8</sup> Centre for Ecosystem Research and Implementation (EKOSAM), Middle East Technical University,
- 06800 Ankara, Turkey; canozen@metu.edu.tr 9 Department of Fisheries, Sheep Breeding Research Institute, Republic of Turkey Ministry of Agriculture and
- Forestry, 10200 Balkesir, Turkey; meralyagci@gmail.com (M.A.Y.); a.k.yagci5&@gmail.com (A.Y.)
   Centro Universitario de la Regional del Este (CURE), Universidad de la República,
- Maldonado 11200, Uruguay; jp@ecos.au.dk
- <sup>11</sup> Department of Ecoscience and Arctic Research Centre (ARC), Aarhus University, 8600 Silkeborg, Denmark
- <sup>12</sup> Sino-Danish Centre for Education and Research (SDC), Beijing 101408, China
- \* Correspondence: arda.colak@metu.edu.tr

Abstract: Global warming and altered precipitation patterns are predicted to intensify the water loss in semi-arid and arid regions, and such regions in Turkey will be particularly affected. Moreover, water abstraction, not least for irrigation purposes, is expected to increase markedly, posing major threats to the water balance of the lakes and thus their biodiversity. Among the closed basins in Turkey, the Burdur Closed Basin (BCB), located in the southwest of Turkey, is expected to be most affected. The BCB includes several types of aquatic ecosystems which support high biodiversity, including one Ramsar site, six Important Bird Areas, and a considerable richness of native and endemic fish species. Therefore, it is essential to analyze the potential environmental impacts of climate change and increased water abstraction on BCB lakes and their biotic communities. Here, we combined historical data on ecosystems as well as meteorological, remote sensing, and ground-truth data to analyze the changes in the temperature and precipitation of the BCB, water surface areas, and land use, as well as the potential effects on waterbird and fish communities. We calculated the water budget to elucidate water availability in the basin over the last few decades and predicted future conditions based on rainfall and temperature forecasts using climate models. The Standardized Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI) was used to relate the water surface area to precipitation and temperature change in the basin. Crop-farming irrigation in the BCB has increased notably since 2004, leading to intensive water abstraction from the lakes and their inflows, as well as from ground water, to meet the increased demand for irrigation. The water abstraction from the lakes, inflows to the

check for updates

Citation: Çolak, M.A.; Öztaş, B.; Özgencil, İ.K.; Soyluer, M.; Korkmaz, M.; Ramírez-García, A.; Metin, M.; Yılmaz, G.; Ertuğrul, S.; Tavşanoğlu, Ü.N.; et al. Increased Water Abstraction and Climate Change Have Substantial Effect on Morphometry, Salinity, and Biotic Communities in Lakes: Examples from the Semi-Arid Burdur Basin (Turkey). Water 2022, 14, 1241. https://doi.org/10.3390/ w14081241

Academic Editor: Jun Yang

Received: 24 February 2022 Accepted: 6 April 2022 Published: 12 April 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



**Copyright:** © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/).

Water 2022, 14, 1241. https://doi.org/10.3390/w14081241

https://www.mdpi.com/journal/water

MDP

lakes, and the groundwater in the basin has increased the water loss in the catchment substantially. Remotely sensed data on lake surface areas showed a major shrinkage of shallow lakes in the last 40 years. Moreover, the largest lake in the basin, Lake Burdur, lost nearly half of its surface area, which is worrisome since the shallower areas are the most suitable for supporting high biodiversity. Climate models (CNRM-ESM2-1GCM for temperature and GFDL-ESM4-GCM for precipitation) suggest that from 2070, the BCB will face long-term, moderate-to-severe dry periods. This, and the increased demand for water for irrigation, along with climate change, may accelerate the drying of these lakes in the near future with devastating effects on the lake ecosystems and their biodiversity.

Keywords: saline lakes; salinization; land-use change; habitat loss; fish biodiversity; waterbird

#### 1. Introduction

Global warming and altered precipitation patterns are predicted to intensify water loss in semi-arid and arid regions [1,2]. Among the eastern Mediterranean countries, Turkey will likely experience major increases in summer drought [3]. A recent study, based on global circulation models (GCMs) [4], showed that there will be at least a 2 °C increase in spring and summer mean temperatures and a 10% decrease in annual total precipitation in Turkey by 2100. Moreover, water abstraction, not least for irrigation purposes, is expected to increase markedly [5,6]. These changes are major threats to the water balance of many lakes that may dry out temporarily or permanently, with the shallower areas being particularly vulnerable. This may increase the salinity of the remaining lakes, leading to a loss of biodiversity, and subsequently leading to changes in ecosystem functions and services [7–11].

A recent paper on the semi-arid Konya Closed Basin (KCB), Turkey, analyzed the changes in water balance and crop patterns and showed that water-thirsty crops and their demand for water have intensified over the past few decades [12] This, combined with climate warming, has led to a substantial reduction of the groundwater level (>1 m/year) and a major decline in the surface area of lakes and wetlands, followed by an increase in salinization and a pronounced decrease of waterbird and fish populations, of which many are endemic [12]. A recent study, describing the predicted changes in the hydrogeological reserve of the basins in Turkey, reveals that the Burdur Closed Basin (BCB) will be the most affected Anatolian basin [13]. Although the BCB is the smallest of the closed basins in Turkey, it is estimated that, at the end of the present century, due to the effects of climate change, the hydrogeological reserve of the basin will decrease by 14% and the possible reserve by 26% [13] compared with 3% and 6% in the KCB, which has already faced dramatic changes in recent decades [12]. In the BCB, there are extensive agricultural activities (as in the KCB) that depend heavily on surface water and groundwater abstraction, and the surface water has been controlled by constructing dams that provide water for irrigation. The BCB includes the second- and third-deepest lakes in Turkey, while the lakes in the KCB are mainly shallow. In both areas, the lakes host large and diverse waterbird and fish populations. Some of the shallow lakes in both basins have already dried out, and the deeper lakes in the BCB have shown signs of shrinkage due to increased evaporation and water abstraction [14]. Therefore, it is essential to analyze the potential environmental impacts of climate change and increased water abstraction on BCB lakes and their biotic communities.

In this study, we aim at elucidating the effect of increased water abstraction and climate change on the morphometry, salinity, and biotic communities in the BCB, which faces a severe water shortage. We combined remote sensing data, meteorological data, and water budget calculations to analyze the changes in the amount of water in the lakes in the basin and the consequent effects on waterbird and fish populations. Furthermore, climate models (CMIP6) were used to predict the potential changes in temperature and precipitation in the basin until the end of the century. The novelty of this study is that we relate the lake surface area as derived from satellite images to the SPEI, which is an index

70

commonly used as an indicator of hydrological and meteorological droughts. With the help of climate model results, where the CMIP6 results are used for the first time for this basin, possible drought and wet periods can be predicted for the largest lake in the basin, and the effects on birds and fish are discussed. We took a close look at the basin in three case studies; we investigated the hydrological past and future of Lake Burdur in one of them; in the second one, we presented the bird and fish community changes in Lake Acıgöl, which is facing different pressures. Finally, we analyzed the current situation of the breeding avifauna, changes in the wintering waterbird populations, and the rapid decline of the most enigmatic bird in the basin, the White-headed Duck (*Oxyura leucocephala*), based on a review of bibliographic data.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

# 2.1. Study Area

The mountainous Burdur Closed Basin (BCB, area 6296 km<sup>2</sup>) is located in the southwest of Turkey, has a mean elevation of 1200 m, and contains deep lakes as a result of the Taurus graben formation in the Miocene and Pliocene periods [15]. The basin includes six large natural lakes: Lakes Acıgöl, Akgöl, Burdur, Salda, Yarışlı, and Karataş (Figure 1). Lake Akgöl has already dried out. Lakes Salda (max. depth: 184 m) and Burdur (max. depth: 110 m) are the second- and third-deepest lakes in Turkey, respectively. Moreover, there are six sub-basins, including the Burdur sub-basin, which is the largest. While the surface water flows into the lakes from the sub-basins Acıgöl, Akgöl, Salda, Yarışlı, and Burdur, in sub-basin Atabey, located in the north-eastern part of the BCB, surface water contributes only to the groundwater because of its karstic geology (Figure 1) [16].



Figure 1. Burdur Closed Basin topography, sub-basins, lakes, and locations of meteorological stations. 71

Variation in climate in the Holocene altered the landscape and the water balance of the lakes. Sediment cores from Lake Burdur revealed that the lake level fluctuated between 10 and 13 m during the Holocene [17,18]. The lowest water level in the last millennia occurred around 300 BC (the same as today's level), while its highest level was in the humid Medieval Warm Period [18]. Consistently, a multiproxy study of Lake Salda sediment showed that, in the last two millennia before the modern period, the climate variability of the region was mainly influenced by solar forcing [19]. However, with the agricultural intensification in the modern era, human activity overruled the climatic variation in terms of lake levels and salinity [20].

#### 2.2. Agriculture Data

Data on agricultural land area, crop patterns, and biomass production (i.e., crops, vegetables, and fruits) for the period 1980–2019 were obtained from the database of the Turkish Statistical Institute [21]. In addition, remotely sensed land-use data, from the Coordination of Information on the Environment Land Cover (CORINE) (2006 and 2018), were obtained from Copernicus Land Monitoring Service [22] to track land-use changes in the area.

#### 2.3. Hydrometeorological Data and Climate Models

Data on monthly mean temperature and total precipitation were obtained from the Turkish State Meteorological Service [23] for the period 1970–2020. There are two meteorological stations in the BCB (Burdur and Tefenni, located 967 m and 1142 m above sea level, respectively; Figure 1). We only used the data from the Burdur meteorological station as it provides continuous data since 1970. The long-term monthly mean temperature of the basin is 13.2 °C, and the long-term total annual precipitation is 413 mm. After testing for normality and homogeneity of the temperature and precipitation data, a Mann–Kendal analysis and a Sen's trend analysis [24] were applied.

The water level and surface area of a lake are the key parameters in the Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI) [25–27]. Thus, we chose to use the SPEI, a commonly used indicator of hydrological and meteorological droughts [28,29], in our study. We used time scales of 3, 9, 12, 24, 36, and 48 months to determine the interval that best describes the hydrological response of each of the waterbodies. We fitted the time series of the difference between precipitation and potential evaporation (PE) to a three-parameterized, log-logistic probability distribution to consider common negative values. The analyses were performed for wet (May) and dry (September) periods.

The surface water and groundwater levels and mean monthly discharge data in the basin were obtained from the State Hydraulic Works of Turkey (DSI).

We calculated the annual water storage of Lake Burdur since it is the largest lake in the basin and has the largest sub-basin area. We used a simple water balance approach (Equation (1)):

$$LWL(t) = LWL(t-1) + P(t) - Q_{obs}(t) - PE(t)$$
(1)

where annual precipitation (P), observed discharge ( $Q_{obs}$ ), and lake water level (LWL) data collected for this sub-basin and the PE were calculated using the Thornthwaite equation [30].

Information on the volume of annual surface water for the sub-basins between 1970 and 2020 was obtained from corresponding discharge observation stations. The surface water and the groundwater potentials of the basin are estimated to be 233 hm<sup>3</sup>/year and 422 hm<sup>3</sup>/year, respectively, while the total water needed for irrigation in the entire basin is 283 hm<sup>3</sup>/year [31]. As of 2016, there were 15 dams and reservoirs operating in the basin, mostly for irrigation purposes [32]. The Karamanlı, Karataş, and Karaçal dams have the most significant water potential (Lake Karataş was a natural lake that was dammed in 1982 [33]), and their volumes were 24.8 hm<sup>3</sup>, 65.3 hm<sup>3</sup>, and 76 hm<sup>3</sup>, respectively. These dams are located at the main inflow to Lake Burdur.

# 2.4. Satellite Data

We used long-life, operational Landsat Legacy satellite imagery data for the longterm monitoring and mapping of the lake surface area. Optical satellite images included 70 (two images for each year, representing dry (August–September) and wet (May–June) periods), non-cloudy Landsat Thematic Mapper (TM) (for 1984 to 2011), and Operational Land Imager (OLI) (for 2013 to 2020) images (30 m ground sample resolution), downloaded from the U.S. Geological Survey's (USGS) Earth Explorer (www.earthexplorer.usgs.gov, accessed on 20 November 2021). The Semi-Automatic Classification (SCA) plugin in QGIS [34] was used for the radiometric correction of satellite images.

#### 2.4.1. Surface Water Detection

To assign the water pixels, we used the Modified Normalized Difference Water Index (MNDWI), typically used for inland waters as recommended by [35] (Equation (2)). Water class has positive values in MNDWI, unlike soil, vegetation, and built-up classes that have negative values since they reflect more shortwave infrared (SWIR) light than green light. Then, water pixels were digitized to calculate the surface areas of the lakes:

$$MNDWI = ((Green - SWIR1) / (Green + SWIR1))$$
(2)

where Green and SWIR1 bands sense wavelengths 0.52–0.60 and 1.55–1.75  $\mu$ m, respectively, for Landsat images.

#### 2.4.2. Vegetation Change Detection

The Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) (Equation (3)), which is commonly used to quickly identify vegetated areas and their condition [36], was used to detect live, green plant canopies in Landsat images:

$$NDVI = (NIR - Red) / (NIR + Red)$$
(3)

#### 2.5. Climate Models

A total of eight CMIP6 GCMs previously used for this area [4] were chosen as climate models (MRI-ESM2, MPI-ESM1-2-HR, CNRM-ESM2-1, NOR-ESM2-MM, HADGEM-GC-31-MM, ACESS CM-2, GFDL-ESM4, and CNRM-CM6-1-HR, see Appendix A Table A1). All of the CMIP6 outputs were downloaded using the Earth System Grid Federation (ESGF) LiU datanode (https://esg-dn1.nsc.liu.se/projects/esgf-liu/, accessed on 3 November 2021).

Daily temperature and precipitation data from the CMIP6 outputs were extracted for the Burdur meteorological station. The daily data were converted to monthly values, and the analysis was performed for three periods: the historical period (1970–2014), the validation period (2015–2020), and the future prediction period (2021–2100). For the validation and future predictions, we ran IPCC SSP242 and SSP585 simulations using centered root mean squared error (RMSE), correlation coefficient, and standard deviation, plotted in Taylor diagrams [37]. We corrected temperature data for bias using a simple seasonal bias correction method [38] (Equation (4)):

$$T_{\text{Bias Corrected (Model)}} = T_{\text{Model}} - \Delta T \tag{4}$$

where  $\Delta T$  is the difference between the mean temperature of the climate model and the observations in the corresponding month. The difference between climate model results and observations (monthly data) was subtracted from the raw values of the model to get bias-adjusted temperature values for the historical, validation, and prediction periods.

Biases in the precipitation data were corrected by using the linear scaling method [39] (Equation (5)):

$$P_{\text{Bias-Corrected (Model)}} = P_{\text{Model}} * \left(\frac{P_{\text{Observation}}}{\bar{P}_{\text{Model}}}\right)$$
(5)

where P<sub>Bias-Corrected (Model)</sub> is the bias-corrected monthly precipitation of the model pre-

diction,  $P_{Model}$  is the monthly precipitation model value, and  $P_{Observation}$  is the means of the observation and model values for the corresponding month. The ratio between climate model results and observations was multiplied by the model's raw values to get bias-adjusted precipitation values for the historical, validation, and prediction periods.

#### 2.6. Birds

We used Turkish Breeding Bird Atlas data [40], along with reviewed and confirmed eBird sighting records [41], to present an overview of the breeding avifauna in the basin. Details on the methodology used in the *Breeding Bird Atlas* are given in Section S1. We consulted the latest assessments of The International Union for Conservation of Nature's Red List of Threatened Species [42] to check if any breeding bird species were threatened globally. We used the mid-winter waterbird survey database [43], both to present the wintering waterbird community size changes between 1969 and 2020 in the basin and as the main data source for the White-headed Duck and Lake Acıgöl case studies. Section S2 gives a detailed description of the methodology used in the mid-winter waterbird surveys. For the White-headed Duck case study, we supplemented the mid-winter waterbird survey data with records (see Section S3 for a full list of the sources used) from the whole winter season. For the Lake Acıgöl case study, we used body mass, foraging stratum, foraging behavior, and diet functional traits to calculate functional evenness (FEve; [44], an indicator of how evenly the abundances are distributed within the niche space. (See Section S4 for more information on the traits chosen and the sources used to score them.) We then used generalized linear models (GLM; [45]) to check for temporal trends in FEve. Finally, we used BirdLife International's Important Bird Area (IBA) data zone [46] to review the states of the IBAs in the basin.

#### 2.7. Fish

We collected information on fish species and their distribution and population status in the BCB from a wide range of literature [47–56]. The validity of the fish names was checked using FishBase [57] and the Catalog of Fishes [58]. The conservation statuses of the species were obtained from the IUCN's Red List [42].

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1. Changes in Land and Water Use

In 2019, 43.6% (1753 km<sup>2</sup>) of the land in the BCB was cultivated [59]. As 956 km<sup>2</sup> (54.5%) of this cultivated land belongs to the Burdur sub-basin, we used the crop production in this sub-basin as an example of that of the whole basin (Figure 2). The main products in 2019 were maize, tomatoes, alfalfa, sugar beets, wheat, and barley, which constituted 34, 11.6, 9.4, 9, 8.3, and 7.2% of total production, respectively (Figure 2) [21]. While the production fluctuated between 7 and  $10 \times 10^5$  tons per year from 1980 to 2007, it has increased since then to  $15 \times 10^5$  tons in 2019. The establishment of a new fodder-crop factory and the distribution of government-supported maize-gathering machines led to an increase in maize and alfalfa production after 2004 ([60], Figure 2). The increase in the production of the water-thirsty maize, and also alfalfa, mainly served the purpose of feeding an increasing number of livestock. Accordingly, livestock increases largely followed the agriculture trends during the most recent 10-year period (Figure 2).

The CORINE land-use data indicated no major change in irrigated land for crop farming between 2006 and 2018, whereas the crop pattern has markedly changed. Thus, the CORINE maps revealed a 3% decrease in the wetlands and water bodies, an increase of 30% in urbanized areas and mineral extraction sites, and a decrease of 22% in shrub land from 2006 to 2018 (Figure 3a,b).



**Figure 2.** Total agricultural products (tons) and number of livestock (heads) in the Burdur sub-basin between 1980 and 2019 (from TÜİK 2020).

Crop farming in the BKB was intense, particularly southwest of Lake Karataş and northeast of Lake Burdur (Figure 3c,d). High NDVI values (red color in Figure 3c,d) indicated that the increase in irrigated areas corresponded to cultivated crops from 2006 to 2018 (Figure 3c,d).

#### 3.2. Change in Surface-Water and Groundwater Resources

The water requirement for irrigation in the basin was estimated at 253 hm<sup>3</sup>/year, 43% of which was obtained from surface water and the rest from groundwater in 2018 [31]. The use of groundwater for irrigation purposes differed in intensity among the sub-basins: 80% in the Yarışlı, Acıgöl, and Akgöl sub-basins, and less than 30% in the Burdur, Salda, and Atabey sub-basins. In the sub-basins having the least surface water, the use of groundwater became high, especially after 1992, and declines in the groundwater levels have been observed [31]. The amount of water needed for domestic supply and industrial use is comparatively small (24.5 hm<sup>3</sup>/year and 4.9 hm<sup>3</sup>/year, respectively) [31].



**Figure 3.** CORINE land-use map ((**a**,**b**), years 2006 and 2018, respectively) (red: irrigated areas; dark green: forest; light green: natural grassland and pasture; yellow: agricultural land without irrigation; purple: mineral extraction sites; gray: urban and salt marshes) and Landsat NDVI images (red: healthy vegetation) from 6 September 2006 to 23 September 2018 ((**c**,**d**), respectively) for the Lake Karataş region in c and d, respectively.

# 3.3. Change in Lake Surface Areas

The surface areas of Lakes Acıgöl, Akgöl, Burdur, Karataş, and Yarışlı decreased drastically, whereas this was not the case in deep Lake Salda (Figure 4). (In Figure 4e, the surface-area change of Lake Yarışlı is not easy to observe in True Color Images, but MNDWI results indicate a state of complete drought in Lake Yarışlı).

The SPEI for 12-month periods (SPEI-12) correlated best with the surface area of wet and dry seasons of Lake Acıgöl and the wet season of Lake Akgöl. SPEI-3 had the best correlation with the dry season of Lake Akgöl. For Lakes Burdur and Salda, SPEI-6 and SPEI-9 were best correlated with the surface area for the wet and dry seasons, respectively.



For Lakes Karataş and Yarışlı, SPEI-36 was best correlated with the wet season and SPEI-24 with the dry season (Figure 5).

**Figure 4.** Change in the surface area of lakes: (**a**) Acıgöl, (**b**) Burdur, (**c**) Karataş, (**d**) Salda, and (**e**) Yarışlı for wet periods from 1985 to 2020.

A major decrease in the surface area of Lake Acıgöl occurred after 2005 in the wet season according to the SPEI changes (Figure 5a). Thus, the Acıgöl SPEI values for the 1986–2006 wet seasons corresponded to moderately wet conditions, followed by dry conditions from 2012 to 2020. For the dry season, the surface water of the lake started to decrease after 1984, and since then, it has ranged between 20 and 50 km<sup>2</sup>.

Lake Akgöl was completely dry from 1988 to 2009 during the dry season, as indicated by the extremely low SPEI values. From 2010 to 2015, positive SPEI values indicated wet conditions, but apart from two peaks corresponding to extreme precipitation events, the lake was dry (Figure 5b).

The surface area of Lake Burdur has decreased during both the wet and dry seasons since 1984 (Sen's slope: -2.231, p < 0.05) (Figure 5c), and a similar decreasing trend was evidenced for Lake Salda (Figure 5d).

Lakes Karataş and Yarışlı showed similar changes in SPEI (Figure 5e,f), and in both cases the positive SPEI values are not related to an increase in the surface area of the lakes. Lake Yarışlı has dried out, or almost dried out, for a prolonged period during the dry season.



Figure 5. SPEI moisture categories (left) and SPEI and lake surface areas in wet and dry seasons for the period 1984–2020 for lakes (a) Acıgöl, (b) Akgöl, (c) Salda, (d) Burdur, (e) Karataş, and (f) Yarışlı.

# 3.4. Changes in the Bird and Fish Communities

The major changes in the lake area in the BCB have led to substantial changes in the biota, which we elucidated by focusing on the threats to waterbirds and fish.

# 3.4.1. Birds

The BCB is home to 106 bird species with either probable or confirmed breeding records and 55 more with possible breeding records. Of these, five species are included in the IUCN red-list as globally threatened [42]. The six IBAs in the BCB have had worsening  $\frac{70}{70}$ 

scores and conditions, and half are listed among IBAs in danger, which are IBAs under intense pressure, requiring urgent action [61,62].

Over the last 50 years, the wintering waterbird population size has shown a significant negative trend (Figure 6; negative binomial GLM with log link; effect size estimate for year: -0.394, SE: 0.159, *p*-value: 0.013). The BCB harbored more than 360,000 waterbirds in the late 1960s, making it one of the most important waterbird wintering sites in Turkey, but for 2015–2020, the average declined to only 26,000 for the whole basin.



Figure 6. Total wintering waterbird abundance in the Burdur Basin between 1969 and 2019.

#### 3.4.2. Fish

The BCB has the second-highest fish endemicity (54%) after the Konya Closed Basin (74%) [12], with 13 of the 24 fish species being endemic. In addition, the BCB has non-native fish species: four introduced (*Cyprinus carpio, Knipowitschia caucasica, Sander lucioperca,* and *Silurus glanis*) and seven invasive (*Carassius gibelio, Clarias gariepinus, Coptodon zillii, Gambusia holbrooki, Hemichromis letourneuxi, Oreochromis niloticus,* and *Pseudorasbora parva*). Of the 13 endemic fish species, 7 are categorized as threatened: 2 as critically endangered and 5 as endangered [63]. Endemic fish species populations in the BCB basin have declined in recent decades [48,49,53,64], mainly due to significant loss of lakes and streams, climate change, water pollution [47], and the invasion of non-native species [54].

The Anatolia region is a hotspot for the diversity of the killifish family (Aphaniidae), a euryhaline group that tolerates changes in salinity and can live in both fresh and brackish waters [65,66]. Many species of the *Anatolichthys* genus have a limited distribution in the BCB, with some species restricted to only a few springs or lakes, such as *Anatolichthys transgrediens*, which is only found in Lake Acıgöl during the spring [48], *Anatolichthys saldae*, which is only found in Lake Salda, and *Anatolichthys sureyanus*, which only occurs in Lake Burdur [51]. The endangered *A. sureyanus* has been highlighted as being under threat due to massive water abstraction and damming [48,63].

# 3.5. Future Predictions of Temperature and Precipitation

Mann–Kendal and Şen's trend analyses indicated an increase in annual mean air temperatures (0.012 °C/year) (Figure 7), but there was no significant trend in precipitation. Moreover, open surface evaporation showed an increasing trend of 6 mm/year for the basin [31]. 79



**Figure 7.** Annual mean air temperature and annual total precipitation for the period 1970–2014; projected (bias-corrected) air temperature and precipitation values for 1970–2020.

CNRM-ESM2-1 GCM data on temperature and GFDL-ESM4 GCM data on precipitation were selected for predictions as the model results fit best with the observations for the Lake Burdur sub-basin. Taylor diagrams showing the performance of the climate model results are given in Appendix A Figure A1. The annual mean temperature and precipitation data, before and after bias correction with the observations, are given in Figure 7.

The climate model (CNRM-ESM2-1 GCM) indicates that in 2100 the long-term average (1970–2100) annual mean temperature will be 14.38 °C. This is 1.18 °C warmer compared to the long-term average mean annual temperature for 1970–2020 of 13.2 °C. Total annual precipitation is predicted to increase by 2% in 2100 from 413 mm (1970–2020) to 422 mm (1970–2100). Long-term potential annual evaporation is estimated to increase to 1626 mm for 2100 as compared to 1432 mm for 2020 (Figure 8).



**Figure 8.** Annual mean air temperature and annual total precipitation values for validation (2015–2020) and future prediction (2021–2100) periods.

# 3.6. Case Studies

To illustrate the severity of the ecological changes that the BCB is facing, we provide three case stories on: (1) the hydrological change of Lake Burdur, (2) changes in bird and fish communities in Lake Acıgöl, and (3) the globally endangered White-headed Duck in the BCB.

#### 3.6.1. Witnessing the Dry-Out of Lake Burdur

Lake Burdur has a basin area of approximately 3185 km<sup>2</sup>, an average lake depth of 40 m, and a maximum depth ranging between 68 and 110 m. The maximum surface area of Lake Burdur was 206 km<sup>2</sup> in 1985 (Figure 9a). The lake receives water from seasonal and perennial streams, groundwater, and rainfall. The water balance of Lake Burdur based on water level recordings since 1970 showed good correspondence between the observed and modeled lake volumes (Figure 9c).



Figure 9. Lake Burdur in 1985 (a) and in 2020 (b) and the volume of water change in the lake from 1970 to 2080 (c).

Several dams had already been built before 1994 [67]. These dams collectively retained  $31.17 \times 10^6$  m<sup>3</sup> water per year. The biggest dam built on the inflow is the Karaçal Dam. Between 2000 and 2010, small reservoirs were constructed on the rivers, also contributing to the lake's shrinkage.

The budget analysis for Lake Burdur revealed a decreasing trend in volume with time. The depth–volume curve indicates a depth of 841 m (mean sea level), corresponding to 4000 hm<sup>3</sup> volume by the end of 2045. Below 841 m, the side slopes of the lake are steep and without pronounced shallow areas. Since the mean annual temperature, and thus

century even if the water use in the lake basin remains the same (Figure 9c). The SPEI values calculated from the temperature and precipitation data obtained from the climate models indicate slightly dry periods after 2050 and extremely dry periods after 2075 (Figure 10). The duration of negative SPEI values were more pronounced for the dry than the wet periods (Figure 10b), indicating that long-term droughts are likely to occur in Burdur Lake from 2090.

evaporation, is predicted to increase, the lake is predicted to dry out by the end of the



**Figure 10.** SPEI prediction for Lake Burdur for wet (**a**) and dry (**b**) periods based on SPEI-6 and SPEI-9, respectively.

Lake Burdur is an alkaline lake, with high salinity and high ion concentrations [68], reflecting the absence of outflows. The projected increased evaporation not compensated by precipitation, along with the expected increase in water use, will lead to an increase in the concentration of these salts and ions, and therefore an increase in salinity, with the consequent effects on ecosystem services and functions, including the support of biodiversity.

#### 3.6.2. Lake Acıgöl

Lake Acıgöl is an endorheic, hypersaline soda lake situated in a tectonic depression. The lake receives spring water primarily characterized by high Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and NaCl values, with a total flow of 1140 L/s [69] that enters the lake from a fault line on the southern side (Figure 11). Lake Acıgöl is the source of more than 85% of the anhydrous Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> production of Turkey (400,000 tons in the late 1990s) [70]. The lake had a surface area of 160 km<sup>2</sup> and a maximum depth of 8 m until the mid-1970s before the soda production operations started in the region [71]. Between the late 1970s and late 1980s, the lake surface area decreased by 75%, and the permanent water level has dropped more than 10 m since 1971 when the salt factories opened up [72,73]. Figure 11 shows the decrease in the lake's shoreline and the increase of the factories between 1984 and 2020. A major inlet to the lake was diverted for use in anhydrous Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and Glauber salt extraction (60,000 tons/yearly). In addition, the major chemical factories around the lake used 25 million m<sup>3</sup> water per year for the extraction process [74]. Furthermore, the increased use of the southern springs for irrigation and domestic purposes, especially after the 2000s, contributed to the lake's shrinkage [69].



Figure 11. Lake Acıgöl in 1985 (left) and 2020 (right).

Lake Acigöl is an important breeding, wintering, and stopover site for many bird species. Thus, regionally important numbers of Greater Flamingos (*Phoenicopterus roseus*) and the globally threatened Great Bustards (*Otis tarda*) inhabit the lake [67]. The analyses of mid-winter waterbird censuses did not reveal any significant trend in the species richness of the wintering bird population between the 1960s and 2019 although there was a slight negative effect of the year (negative binomial GLM with log link, effect size estimate: -0.365, SE: 0.199, *p*-value = 0.067). However, the abundance of the total wintering waterbird communities (-0.397, SE: 0.165, *p*-value = 0.016) and the functional evenness of the wintering waterbird communities have declined significantly over the last 51 years (gamma GLM with log link, effect size estimate: -0.272, SE: 0.060, *p*-value < 0.001).

The springs of Lake Acıgöl are also an important migration and wintering site for the endemic and threatened Acıgöl toothcarp *Anatolichthys transgrediens* [47,51]. During heavy rainfalls, when the salinity concentration is low, *A. transgrediens* can be found near the shores, especially in the southern part of the lake [47,66]. *A. transgrediens* populations have declined dramatically, and the species is currently listed as Critically Endangered [51,63]. The loss of habitat around the lake, as a result of reduced rainfall, water abstraction, and drying springs, has negatively impacted the species [75]. Furthermore, Mosquito fish (*Gambusia holbrooki*) were introduced by the end of the 1990s and had a significant impact on the native and endemic species, probably mainly due to resource competition and predation of the juveniles. Also, negative impacts on a variety of other animals, such as frogs and macroinvertebrates [66,76], were observed. It has been reported that this non-native species could affect the trophic levels of the ecosystem [77,78].

#### 3.6.3. The Fall of the Endangered White-Headed Duck in the Burdur Basin

The White-headed Duck (WHD) is a globally endangered, diving duck [79,80]. It is an iconic bird in the basin, and there used to be a bird festival in Burdur province until the mid-2000s [67] as Lake Burdur harbored the majority of the global population during the winters of the early 1990s [81,82]. Back then, several thousand WHDs regularly wintered in the lake, and the numbers reached a peak of 10,927 in 1991, corresponding to 58% of the global population ([81]; Figure 12). Other lakes in the basin, including Lakes Acıgöl, Akgöl, Karataş, Salda, and Yarışlı, supported a total of nearly 1500 wintering WHDs until the late 1990s [43]. A relatively small wetland southwest of Lake Burdur and Soğanlı Marshes had a



breeding population of 2–3 pairs in the late 1990s [83]. Outside the breeding and wintering periods, in the migration and post-breeding periods, up to a few thousand WHDs could also be found in the basin, mainly in Lake Burdur [84].

Figure 12. Wintering White-headed Duck abundance in the Burdur Basin from 1967 to 2020.

Following the water level decline in the lake, wintering WHD numbers in the basin started to decrease dramatically. In 2019, there were only 18 wintering WHDs left in the lake and its basin, and none in 2020 [43]. Multiple factors seem to have contributed to this decline. First, when the lake started to shrink, the northern and shallowest part of the lake dried out [14]. This part was particularly important for waterbirds, including the WHD [83]. The remaining southern parts of the lake have a steeper morphometry and offer limited amounts of shallow areas for waterbirds [14]. The loss of the shallow areas seems to have been the biggest contributor to the decline of the WHD population, considering that most WHDs were found there earlier [81]. Water level declines in the other lakes in the basin may also have contributed to the regional decline of the wintering population. Secondly, the loss of the shallow areas and increasing salinity may have decreased the capacity of the lake to support chironomids, which are the main food sources of WHDs [80]. Chironomid abundance in the lake was found to increase steadily up to and peak at around 10 m and decreased steeply at higher depths [85]. Studies have shown that high salinity levels can decrease the growth rate, survival, size, and emergence rate of some chironomid species [86,87] as well. Taxonomic studies have also confirmed an overall decrease in the diversity of benthic macroinvertebrates, including chironomids, between the late 1980s and mid-2000s [88]. Furthermore, the once-high hunting pressure in Lake Burdur may have contributed to the decline of the WHD population. Even when the lake was declared a no-hunting zone, around 4.5 WHDs per day were estimated to have been shot in only one-quarter of the lake, which was well over the sustainable limit [81]. In the winter of 1992-1993 alone, at least 1000 WHDs were estimated to have been shot [89]. Finally, declines in the regional and national breeding populations [82] likely also contributed to the decline, showing the effects of multiple stressors in addition to the water loss effects.

84

# 4. Discussion

# 4.1. Change in Lake Surface Area and Water Budget of the Largest Lake in the Basin

We used remote sensing and hydrometeorological data to understand the change in lake surface areas in the Burdur Basin and the water budget of the largest lake in the basin. Especially in closed basins, the expansion and reduction of lakes are important indicators of the regional climate conditions and the local hydrological cycle. We used Landsat images dating back to 1985 and the SPEI values calculated from meteorological data to describe the decadal changes in the surface area of the lakes in the BCB (Figure 4). The trend analyses of temperature and rainfall observations at the Burdur meteorological station from 1970 to 2020 revealed an increasing temperature in the basin, while precipitation has exhibited no significant trend. Accordingly, the water loss from the basin has increased due to enhanced evaporation and transpiration, as also evidenced by the observed negative SPEI values after 2000. Historical and current Landsat images showed a great shrinkage of almost all of the lakes in the basin, except for deep Lake Salda, from 1984 to 2020 (Figure 4). The relation between SPEI and surface areas showed a response time of 6–9 months for precipitation anomalies of the deep Lakes Burdur and Salda, indicating that the changes in mean surface area mostly depended on the meteorological events. The Lakes Acigöl and Akgöl had a longer response time (12 months) and mostly interacted with groundwater and streamflow, while Lakes Yarışlı and Karataş had the highest response times (>24 months), which is generally the case for lakes used for irrigation purposes [14] (Figure 5).

As in the nearby, large Konya Closed Basin (KCB), a key factor driving the water loss in the lakes is the unsustainable use of water for agriculture. Crop production in the BCB increased from  $7 \times 10^5$  tons per year during the 1980s to  $10 \times 10^5$  tons per year in 2007, and later to  $15 \times 10^5$  tons per year in 2019. The increase in crop production was especially caused by the production of water-thirsty crops, maize, soy, and alfalfa, which has increased since 2004 [60], thereby substantially augmenting the use of water in agriculture (Figure 2). In KCB, production has increased 2-fold since 2000, especially due to the enhanced production of maize and sugar beets, this increase being mirrored in the groundwater tables where major drops have been observed in most of the basin [12]. A yearly irrigation-induced water deficit of almost 350 hm<sup>3</sup> in the KCB has led to water importation from neighboring catchments (e.g., the Blue Tunnel Project involving the transfer of water from the Göksu catchment to the Konya Plain) [60]. Such compensatory importation is well-known from other arid regions (e.g., [10]) but has negative consequences for the lakes in the exporting catchments, an evident example of this being the iconic Aral Sea [90].

The climate projection models for the BCB furthermore predict an increase in annual mean temperature of up to 1.18 °C, an increase in annual precipitation of 10 mm per year, and an increase in the potential annual evaporation of 200 mm per year. The temperature increase concurs with previous climate change modeling results for the basin, mostly based on CMIP5. However, in contrast to the CMIP5 model results, CMIP6 predicts a slight increase in annual precipitation; however, this does not compensate for the expected increase in loss by evapotranspiration. We used the CMIP6 model as it was the best to describe the recent changes in Lake Burdur and predicted warmer annual temperatures than CMIP5, and our results suggest that, after 2070, the BCB will face long-term, moderate-tosevere dry periods. The budget analysis of the lake and the projected SPEI values show that there is a high risk that the lake may entirely disappear (the third-deepest lake in Turkey) in the medium 12 rm (2045–2070) due to excessive evaporation and water abstraction for irrigation (Figure 9). Also, Lake Acıgöl faces great shrinkage, in part because its water balance is highly controlled by the water use in the salt and sulfate factories around the lake. A simulation for Lake Beysehir in KCB, Turkey's largest freshwater lake for which different climate models predicted a complete dry-out during the next 20-60 years if the current water use regimes continue, suggests that a reduction in water use of up to 60% is needed to avoid this [12,60]. Thus, a grim future is on the horizon for the lakes in the central plains of Turkey with a "business as usual" approach to irrigated crop farming.

#### 4.2. Changes in Waterbird Communities and Aquatic Habitats in the Basin

Despite the drastic habitat loss and degradation that the BCB has been experiencing over the last several decades, it still exhibits an astounding bird diversity. All IBAs in the basin, which contain the majority of the populations of these globally threatened birds [67], have deteriorating conditions and declining populations. The dramatic wetland habitat losses and degradation have also resulted in a steep decline in waterbird numbers in the basin, including the enigmatic White-headed Duck. We anticipate that the contributions of the wintering range will shift due to global climate change [91,92], and the global and regional population declines that some of the waterbirds have experienced [93] are minor compared to the effects of water drainage and habitat degradation. Thus, the range shifts are not likely to have resulted in huge declines in total community size because waterbird species respond differently to climate change. Some species have shown no range shift at all [92], as indicated by the absence of steep declines in other long-term datasets in Turkey [94]. The decreased FEve of the wintering waterbird communities at Lake Acıgöl may have caused the deterioration of fundamental community functions [95]. A less-even distribution of abundance within the functional space implies that some parts of the niche space are under-utilized (although part of the niche space is occupied), which may decrease the overall stability and resilience due to less optimal resource use and weaker species complementarity [95,96].

Habitat degradation and loss driven by the water deficit of lakes in the BCB has led to a drastic impact on bird populations in recent decades, decreasing by 93% from the late 1960s to the period 2015–2020. In particular, the loss of the more sensitive shallower areas of these lakes threatens those species that depend on the habitat or food resources these areas provide, as in the case of the White-headed Duck. Furthermore, water loss increases the salinization, which impacts various communities, such as the macroinvertebrates and plants that serve as food for waterbirds. Even more dramatic changes have occurred in the KCB [12]. Here, a comparison of two bird atlases (from 1998 and 2018) indicated a widespread decline in the species richness of breeding waterbirds in the whole basin, with a loss of 18 species, and the total breeding waterbird richness has declined by 23% (from 62 to 48 species), and 76% of the species that no longer breed in the KCB were Red-Listed on the national scale in the 2004 assessment. In addition to preventing their hunting, specific measures to reduce the consumption of water from these lakes require urgent action to avoid the total collapse of waterbird populations in the BCB. In particular, in the face of climate change scenarios that can accentuate the effects of water abstraction, accelerating the water loss and salinization of these lakes.

Impacts related to water deficits and salinization have also been observed in fish in the BCB. Since endemic freshwater fish species are often distributed over small areas, they are the most vulnerable group of vertebrates to anthropogenic impacts [97,98]. Lakes and streams in the BCB are currently being affected by habitat loss and modification, as well as by the introduction of non-indigenous species [49,99]. Endemic BCB fish species, particularly Anatolichthys and Pseudophoxinus populations, are currently declining [48,49,52]. Concerning the native and endemic fish species in the BCB, it is notable that the reduction of native fish populations and the increase of threatened species place the native fish species in restricted areas with poor water quality. Here, the non-native species can persist, tolerate, and sometimes thrive under an exceptional range of environmental conditions, displaying a high reproductive potential and becoming predators of native species. Non-native invasive species have impacted the natural habitats of almost all endemic species in the BCB [53]. However, biological (reproductive and trophic aspects) and ecological (population and community aspects) information on the native and endemic species of the BCB, as well as on their interactions with non-native species, is still scarce, hampering the development of optimal conservation guidance for the species.

#### 4.3. Management Perspectives

That changes in land use and irrigation rather than climate have had the most devastating effects in semiarid and arid areas worldwide in recent decades is well established (e.g., [10,100]) and clearly illustrated also when combing the results of the studies of the BCB and the KCB (in the present paper and [12]). The water deficit in the BCB and the KCB may be further affected by the intensification of agriculture. With the current agricultural policies, the crop production will likely continue to increase as in the past 20 years to satisfy the demand of an increasing human population. The war scenarios of the early 2020s in the region might further accentuate the needs for higher crop production, increasing even more the water abstraction and thus its environmental impacts. Left uncontrolled, the production of thirsty crops, especially that of fodder crops such as maize and alfalfa in the BCB, will likely increase, leading to higher demands for water [101]. To ensure effective use of the water in the basin, switching to water-saving irrigation methods and the planting of crops suitable for the climate and water potential of the area through regional-level action is highly needed [102]. If the demand for water remains at its current level or increases to meet irrigation needs, the groundwater table will drop further, and so will the lake levels, and therefore the potential of these lakes to support their functions and services, including irrigation. Given these and the projected increases in temperature and surface evaporation, the capacity of the basin to support waterbirds and endemic fish species might decline further in the future. The intense pressure on the BCB aquatic habitats has already resulted in a dramatic decline in the populations and range sizes of many waterbird and fish species [55,103]. Many endemic species have been restricted to isolated refuge habitats, such as springs and spring-fed streams, causing extreme limitation of dispersal. Therefore, immediate protection of these refuge areas, effective mitigation of current pressures, and restoration of native aquatic habitats in the BCB are critically important for the endemic fish fauna as well as for the iconic water birds (e.g., White-headed Duck, Flamingo) of the BCB. If these pressures remain at their current intensities, the local extinction of fish populations may be imminent. Restoring healthy and resilient ecosystems, with sustainable water use practices and strict control of invasive species, are a priority for maintaining the fish fauna of the BCB with its high endemism as well as habitat suitability for waterbird populations.

To reverse the ecosystem degradation or even preserve the current status, there is an urgent need for a policy framework that aims to restrict the exploitation of water resources within sustainable limits while simultaneously promoting conservation efforts. This seems achievable only if the basin-wide legal regulation of water abstraction is combined with economic incentives for the transition to climatically appropriate crop farming.

**Supplementary Materials:** The following supporting information can be downloaded at: https: //www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/w14081241/s1, Section S1: Breeding Bird Atlas Methodology, Section S2: Additional Sources Used for the White-headed Duck Case Study, Section S3: Midwinter Waterbird Survey Methodology, and Section S4: Functional Diversity & Statistical Analyses. References [104–124] are cited in the supplementary materials.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization: E.J., Z.A., M.B. and K.Ö.; methodology, software, validation, formal analysis, and investigation: M.A.Ç., B.Ö., Z.A., İ.K.Ö., M.S., M.M. and M.K.; resources: E.J.; data curation: M.A.Ç., B.Ö., Z.A., İ.K.Ö., M.S., M.M., M.K. and G.Y.; writing—original draft preparation: M.A.Ç., B.Ö., İ.K.Ö., M.S., M.K., A.R.-G., M.M., G.Y., S.E., Ü.N.T., C.A.A., C.Ö., M.A.Y., A.Y., J.P.P., K.Ö., M.B., E.J. and Z.A.; writing—review and editing: M.A.Ç., B.Ö., İ.K.Ö., M.S., M.K., A.R.-G., M.M., G.Y., S.E., Ü.N.T., C.A.A., C.Ö., M.A.Y., A.Y., J.P.P., K.Ö., M.B., E.J. and Z.A.; visualization: M.A.Ç., B.Ö., Z.A., İ.K.Ö. and M.S; supervision: K.Ö, M.B., Z.A. and E.J.; project administration: K.Ö., M.K., M.M. and E.J.; funding acquisition: E.J. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

**Funding:** The project and E.J., G.Y., M.M., M.A.Ç., S.E., C.A.A., and M.K. were supported by TÜBİTAK program BIDEB 2232 (project 118C250). M.B. and E.J. were supported by EU—H2020, INFRAIA project AQUACOSM-Plus (No. 871081). Z.A. and M.B. were also funded by the EU H2020-funded PONDERFUL project (No. 869296). KÖ was supported by TÜBA-GEBİP.

Data Availability Statement: The data are available from the authors on reasonable request.

Acknowledgments: We thank the General Directorate of Nature Conservation and National Parks for providing the mid-winter waterbird survey data and all of the 2018 atlas volunteers and the atlas team for the collection of the breeding bird atlas data. We also thank the OSME and Mohamed bin Zayed Species Conservation Fund for funding the İKÖ's 2016 and 2019 White-headed Duck projects. We are grateful to Anne Mette Poulsen for manuscript assistance, Tamer Yılmaz for up-to-date information about some of the investigated sites, and Beril Tezel for the White-headed Duck drawing. We acknowledge the World Climate Research Program, which, through its Working Group on Coupled Modelling, coordinated and promoted CMIP6. We thank the climate modeling groups for producing and making their model output available, the Earth System Grid Federation (ESGF) for archiving the data and providing access, and the multiple funding agencies that support CMIP6 and ESGF.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

# Appendix A

Table A1. Global circulation models.

Global Circulation Model	Ensemble	Historical Simulation	Future Simulation		Dementer
			SSP 245	SSP 858	- Parameter
CNRM-ESM2-1	r1i1p1f2	+	+	+	Near-surface air temperature
MPI-ESM1-2-HR	r1i1p1f1	+	+	+	Near-surface air temperature
MRI-ESM2	r1i1p1f1	+	+	+	Near-surface air temperature
NOR-ESM2-MM	r1i1p1f1	+	+	+	Near-surface air temperature
ACCESS CM-2	r1i1p1f1	+	+	+	Precipitation
GFDL-ESM4	r1i1p1f1	+	+	+	Precipitation
CNRM-CM6-1-HR	r1i1p1f2	+	NA	+	Precipitation
HADGEM-GC-31-MM	r1i1p1f3	+	NA	+	Precipitation



Figure A1. Cont.

# Precipitation





**Figure A1.** Taylor diagrams for temperature and precipitation comparison for the historical period (1970–2014) (**a**); the validation period (2015–2020) of R245 simulation (**b**); and the validation period (2015–2020) of R585 simulation (**c**).

# References

- IPCC Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change; Core Writing Team; Pachauri, R.K.; Meyer, L.A., Eds.; IPCC: Geneva, Switzerland, 2014; p. 151.
- IPCC Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis; Masson-Delmotte, V.; Zhai, P.; Pirani, A.; Connors, S.L.; Pean, C.; Berger, S.; Caud, N.; Chen, Y.; Goldfarb, L.; Gomis, M.I. (Eds.) Contribution of Working Group I to the [IPCC Sixth Assessment Report | Sixth Assessment Report] of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 2021; in press.
- 3. Barcikowska, M.J.; Kapnick, S.B.; Krishnamurty, L.; Russo, S.; Cherchi, A.; Folland, C.K. Changes in the Future Summer Mediterranean Climate: Contribution of Teleconnections and Local Factors. *Earth Syst. Dyn.* **2020**, *11*, 161–181. [CrossRef]
- Bağçaci, S.Ç.; Yucel, I.; Duzenli, E.; Yilmaz, M.T. Intercomparison of the Expected Change in the Temperature and the Precipitation Retrieved from CMIP6 and CMIP5 Climate Projections: A Mediterranean Hot Spot Case, Turkey. Atmos. Res. 2021, 256, 105576. [CrossRef]
- 5. Rodríguez Díaz, J.A.; Weatherhead, E.K.; Knox, J.W.; Camacho, E. Climate Change Impacts on Irrigation Water Requirements in the Guadalquivir River Basin in Spain. *Reg. Environ. Chang.* 2007, *7*, 149–159. [CrossRef]
- 6. Yano, T.; Aydin, M.; Haraguchi, T. Impact of Climate Change on Irrigation Demand and Crop Growth in a Mediterranean Environment of Turkey. *Sensors* 2007, *7*, 2297–2315. [CrossRef]

- Jeppesen, E.; Brucet, S.; Naselli-Flores, L.; Papastergiadou, E.; Stefanidis, K.; Nõges, T.; Nõges, P.; Attayde, J.L.; Zohary, T.; Coppens, J.; et al. Ecological Impacts of Global Warming and Water Abstraction on Lakes and Reservoirs Due to Changes in Water Level and Related Changes in Salinity. *Hydrobiologia* 2015, 750, 201–227. [CrossRef]
- Barbosa, L.G.; Amorim, C.A.; Parra, G.; Laço Portinho, J.; Morais, M.; Morales, E.A.; Menezes, R.F. Advances in Limnological Research in Earth's Drylands. *Inland Waters* 2020, 10, 429–437. [CrossRef]
- Jeppesen, E.; Beklioğlu, M.; Özkan, K.; Akyürek, Z. Salinization Increase Due to Climate Change Will Have Substantial Negative Effects on Inland Waters: A Call for Multifaceted Research at the Local and Global Scale. *Innovation* 2020, 1, 100030. [CrossRef]
- Zadereev, E.; Lipka, O.; Karimov, B.; Krylenko, M.; Elias, V.; Pinto, I.S.; Alizade, V.; Anker, Y.; Feest, A.; Kuznetsova, D.; et al. Overview of Past, Current, and Future Ecosystem and Biodiversity Trends of Inland Saline Lakes of Europe and Central Asia. *Inland Waters* 2020, 10, 438–452. [CrossRef]
- Vidal, N.; Yu, J.; Gutierrez, M.F.; de Mello, F.T.; Tavşanoğlu, Ü.N.; Çakiroglu, A.I.; He, H.; Meerhoff, M.; Brucet, S.; Liu, Z.; et al. Salinity Shapes Food Webs of Lakes in Semiarid Climate Zones: A Stable Isotope Approach. *Inland Waters* 2021, *11*, 476–491. [CrossRef]
- 12. Yılmaz, G.; Çolak, M.A.; Özgencil, İ.K.; Metin, M.; Korkmaz, M.; Ertuğrul, S.; Soyluer, M.; Bucak, T.; Tavşanoğlu, Ü.N.; Özkan, K.; et al. Decadal Changes in Size, Salinity, Waterbirds, and Fish in Lakes of the Konya Closed Basin, Turkey, Associated with Climate Change and Increasing Water Abstraction for Agriculture. *Inland Waters* **2021**, *11*, 538–555. [CrossRef]
- 13. Climate Change Impacts on Water Resources; The Ministry of Foresty and Water Affairs, General Directorate of Water Management: Ankara, Turkey, 2016.
- 14. Davraz, A.; Sener, E.; Sener, S. Evaluation of Climate and Human Effects on the Hydrology and Water Quality of Burdur Lake, Turkey. J. Afr. Earth Sci. 2019, 158, 103569. [CrossRef]
- 15. Mutlu, H.; Kadir, S.; Akbulut, A. Mineralogy and Water Chemistry of the Lake Acıgöl (Denizli), Turkey. *Carbonates Evaporites* **1999**, *14*, 191–199.
- 16. Şener, E.; Davraz, A.; Özçelik, M. An Integration of GIS and Remote Sensing in Groundwater Investigations: A Case Study in Burdur, Turkey. *Hydrogeol. J.* 2005, *13*, 826–834. [CrossRef]
- Roberts, N.; Karabıyıklıoğlu, M.; Jones, M.; Mather, A.; Jones, G.; Rodenberg, I.; Eastwood, W.; Kapan-Yeşilyurt, S.; Yiğitbaşıoğlu, H.; Watkinson, M. Climatic and Tectonic Controls over Late Quaternary Sedimantation in the Burdur Lake Basin, Southwest Turkey; International Limnogeology Congress: Tucson, AZ, USA, 2003; pp. 81–87.
- Tudryn, A.; Tucholka, P.; Özgûr, N.; Gibert, E.; Elitok, O.; Kamaci, Z.; Massault, M.; Poisson, A.; Platevoet, B. A 2300-Year Record of Environmental Change from SW Anatolia, Lake Burdur, Turkey. J. Paleolimnol. 2013, 49, 647–662. [CrossRef]
- 19. Danladi, I.B.; Akçer-Ön, S. Solar Forcing and Climate Variability during the Past Millennium as Recorded in a High Altitude Lake: Lake Salda (SW Anatolia). *Quat. Int.* **2018**, *486*, 185–198. [CrossRef]
- 20. Maftei, C.; Buta, C.; Carazeanu Popovici, I. The Impact of Human Interventions and Changes in Climate on the Hydro-Chemical Composition of Techirghiol Lake (Romania). *Water* **2020**, *12*, 2261. [CrossRef]
- 21. TÜİK Database for Agricultural Area, Crop Pattern, Biomass, and Livestock; Turkish Statistical Institue: Ankara, Turkey, 2020.
- 22. Corine Land Cover 2006 Raster Data—European Environment Agency (EEA). Available online: http://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/data/corine-land-cover-2006-raster-1 (accessed on 20 December 2021).
- 23. MGM. Turkish State Meteorological Service Ankara, Turkey. 2022.
- 24. Şen, Z. Innovative Trend Analysis Methodology. J. Hydrol. Eng. 2012, 17, 1042–1046. [CrossRef]
- 25. Bai, L.; Wang, C.; Zang, S.; Zhang, Y.; Hao, Q.; Wu, Y. Remote Sensing of Soil Alkalinity and Salinity in the Wuyu'er-Shuangyang River Basin, Northeast China. *Remote Sens.* **2016**, *8*, 163. [CrossRef]
- Ye, X.; Li, X.; Xu, C.-Y.; Zhang, Q. Similarity, Difference and Correlation of Meteorological and Hydrological Drought Indices in a Humid Climate Region—The Poyang Lake Catchment in China. *Hydrol. Res.* 2016, 47, 1211–1223. [CrossRef]
- 27. Bohn, V.Y.; Piccolo, M.C. Standardized precipitation evapotranspiration index (SPEI) as a tool to determine the hydrological dynamic of plain regions (argentina). *Geosciences* **2018**, *37*, 627–637. [CrossRef]
- Vicente-Serrano, S.M.; Beguería, S.; López-Moreno, J.I. A Multiscalar Drought Index Sensitive to Global Warming: The Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index. J. Clim. 2010, 23, 1696–1718. [CrossRef]
- 29. Abbasi, A.; Khalili, K.; Behmanesh, J.; Shirzad, A. Drought Monitoring and Prediction Using SPEI Index and Gene Expression Programming Model in the West of Urmia Lake. *Theor. Appl. Climatol.* **2019**, *138*, 553–567. [CrossRef]
- 30. Thornthwaite, C.W.; Mather, J. The Water Balance. Publ. Clim. 1957, 8.
- Dolsar Drought Management Plan for Burdur Basin: A Report Prepared for Republic of Turkey Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry-General Directorate of Water Management; Republic of Turkey Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry-General Directorate of Water Management: Ankara, Turkey, 2018.
- 32. DSI. Directorate General for State Hydraulic Works Ankara, Turkey. 2016.
- 33. Çetïn, B. Karataş (Bahçeözü) Gölü (Burdur-Karamanli) sulak alanının kullanımı ve ortaya Çıkan sorunlara coğrafi bir bakış. *Nat. Sci.* **2009**, *4*, 157–174.
- Congedo, L. Semi-Automatic Classification Plugin Documentation Release 7.9.7.1. Available online: http://fromgistors.blogspot. com.br/p/semi-automatic-classificationplugin.html (accessed on 23 February 2022).
- 35. Xu, H. Modification of Normalised Difference Water Index (NDWI) to Enhance Open Water Features in Remotely Sensed Imagery. *Int. J. Remote Sens.* 2006, 27, 3025–3033. [CrossRef] 90
- Pettorelli, N.; Vik, J.O.; Mysterud, A.; Gaillard, J.-M.; Tucker, C.J.; Stenseth, N.C. Using the Satellite-Derived NDVI to Assess Ecological Responses to Environmental Change. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 2005, 20, 503–510. [CrossRef]
- 37. Taylor, K.E. Summarizing Multiple Aspects of Model Performance in a Single Diagram. J. Geophys. Res. Atmos. 2001, 106, 7183–7192. [CrossRef]
- 38. Soriano, E.; Mediero, L.; Garijo, C. Selection of Bias Correction Methods to Assess the Impact of Climate Change on Flood Frequency Curves. *Water* **2019**, *11*, 2266. [CrossRef]
- Ines, A.V.M.; Hansen, J.W. Bias Correction of Daily GCM Rainfall for Crop Simulation Studies. Agric. For. Meteorol. 2006, 138, 44–53. [CrossRef]
- 40. Boyla, K.; Sinav, L.; Dizdaroğlu, D. Türkiye Üreyen Kuş Atlası; WWF, Doğal Hayatı Koruma Vakfı: İstanbul, Türkiye, 2019.
- 41. eBird Basic Dataset; Version: EBD\_relFeb-2021; Cornell Lab of Ornithology: Ithaca, NY, USA, 2021.
- 42. IUCN. *The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species*, Version 2020-3; 2020. Available online: https://www.iucnredlist.org (accessed on 23 May 2021).
- 43. DKMP Kış Ortası Su Kuşu Sayımları Veri Seti 1967–2020; Doğa Koruma ve Milli Parklar Genel Müdürlüğü—T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı: Ankara, Turkey, 2020.
- 44. Villéger, S.; Mason, N.W.H.; Mouillot, D. New Multidimensional Functional Diversity Indices for a Multifaceted Framework in Functional Ecology. *Ecology* **2008**, *89*, 2290–2301. [CrossRef]
- 45. Zuur, A.; Ieno, E.N.; Walker, N.; Saveliev, A.A.; Smith, G.M. *Mixed Effects Models and Extensions in Ecology with R*; Springer Science & Business Media: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 2009; ISBN 978-0-387-87458-6.
- 46. BirdLife International Country Profile: Turkey. Available online: http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/country/turkey (accessed on 26 May 2021).
- Güçlü, S.S.; Küçük, F. Two Threatened Endemic Fish Species of the World: Aphanius Splendens and Aphanius Transgrediens Cyprinodontidae, from Turkey. *Biyol. Çeşitlilik Ve Koruma* 2012, 5, 44–47.
- Freyhof, J. Aphanius transgrediens. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014, e.T1850A19006201. Available online: https://www.iucnredlist.org/species/1850/19006201 (accessed on 6 June 2021).
- 49. Küçük, F.; Gülle, I.; Güçlü, S.S. *Pseudophoxinus Iconii*, a New Species of Spring Minnow from Central Anatolia (Teleostei: Cyprinidae). *Ichthyol. Explor. Freshw.* **2016**, *27*, 283–288.
- Gülle, İ.; Küçük, F.; İnnal, D.; Güçlü, S.S. Burdur İli Balıkları: Biyoçeşitlilik Envanteri, Popülasyon ve Habitat Durumları. Mehmet Akif Ersoy Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü Derg. 2016, 7, 232–239.
- 51. Yoğurtçuoğlu, B. A Reassessment of the Conservation Status of Aphanius Sureyanus (Neu, 1937) (Cyprinodontiformes: Aphaniidae) and the First Data on Its Reproduction in Captivity. *Hacet. J. Biol. Chem.* **2018**, *46*, 601–607. [CrossRef]
- 52. Çiçek, E.; Fricke, R.; Sungur, S.; Eagderi, S. Endemic Freshwater Fishes of Turkey. FishTaxa 2018, 3, 1–39.
- 53. İnnal, D.; Çağlan, D.C.; Özdemïr, F. Species Composition of Fish Community in Onaç Creek (Burdur-Turkey) and Their Length-Weight Relationships. *Acta Biol. Turc.* **2019**, *32*, 135–142.
- 54. İnnal, D.; Sungur, S. First Record of Non-Indigenous Fish Hemichromis Letourneuxi (Cichlidae) From Pınarbaşı Creek (Burdur, Turkey). *Mehmet Akif Ersoy Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü Derg*. **2019**, *10*, 90–94. [CrossRef]
- 55. Freyhof, J.; Bergner, L.; Ford, M. Threatened Freshwater Fishes of the Mediterranean Basin Biodiversity Hotspot: Distribution, Extinction Risk and the Impact of Hydropower; EuroNatur: Radolfzell, Germany, 2020.
- 56. Çiçek, E.; Sungur, S.; Fricke, R. Freshwater Lampreys and Fishes of Turkey; a Revised and Updated Annotated Checklist 2020. *Zootaxa* 2020, 4809, 241–270. [CrossRef]
- 57. Froese, R.; Pauly, D.; FishBase. World Wide Web Electronic Publication, Version (08/2021). Available online: https://www.fishbase.org (accessed on 6 August 2021).
- 58. Fricke, R.; Eschmeyer, W.N.; Van der Laan, R. Eschmeyer's Catalog of Fishes: Genera, Species, References Version (08/2021). Available online: https://researcharchive.calacademy.org/research/ichthyology/catalog/fishcatmain.asp (accessed on 12 August 2021).
- 59. Republic of Turkey Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry. 2019.
- 60. Burdur İl Tarım Master Planı; Tarım ve Köyişleri Bakanlığı: Ankara, Turkey, 2006.
- 61. BirdLife International Monitoring Important Bird Areas: A Global Framework; BirdLife International: Cambridge, UK, 2006; p. 38.
- 62. Waliczky, Z.; Fishpool, L.D.C.; Butchart, S.H.M.; Thomas, D.; Heath, M.F.; Hazin, C.; Donald, P.F.; Kowalska, A.; Dias, M.P.; Allinson, T.S.M. Important Bird and Biodiversity Areas (IBAs): Their Impact on Conservation Policy, Advocacy and Action. *Bird Conserv. Int.* **2019**, 29, 199–215. [CrossRef]
- 63. IUCN. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species, Version 2021-3; Available online: https://www.iucnredlist.org (accessed on 7 June 2021).
- 64. Freyhof, J.; Yoğurtçuoğlu, B. A Proposal for a New Generic Structure of the Killifish Family Aphaniidae, with the Description of *Aphaniops Teimorii* (Teleostei: Cyprinodontiformes). *Zootaxa* **2020**, 4810. [CrossRef]
- 65. Kosswig, C. Tethys and Its Relation to the Peri-Mediterranean Faunas of Freshwater Fishes. Aspects of Tethyan Biogeography. *Syst. Assoc. Publ.* **1967**, *7*, 313–324.
- Wildekamp, R.H.; Küçük, F.; Ünlüsayın, M.; Van Neer, W. The Genus Aphanius Nordo, 1827 (Pisces: Cyprinidontidae) and Its Species in Turkey with Remarks on Systematics. *Turk. J. Zool.* 1999, 23, 23–44.
- 67. Eken, G.; İsfandiyaroğlu, S.; Bozdoğan, M. Türkiye'nin Önemli Doğa Alanları; Doğa Derneği: Ankara, Turkey, 2006; ISBN 9759890131.
- 68. Şener, Ş.; Şener, E.; Davraz, A.; Varol, S. Hydrogeological and Hydrochemical Investigation in the Burdur Saline Lake Basin, Southwest Turkey. *Geochemistry* 2020, *80*, 125592. [CrossRef]

- 69. Bahadır, M. Uzaktan Algılama ve Coğrafi Bilgi Sistemleri ile Acıgöl Havzası'nın Sürdürülebilir Kullanımı ve Yönetimi. Ph.D. Thesis, Afyon Kocatepe University, Afyonkarahisar, Turkey, 2011.
- Kuşcu, M.; Şener, Ş.; Tuncay, E.B. Recharge Sources and Hydro Geochemical Evaluations of Na2SO4 Deposits in the Acigöl Lake (Denizli, Turkey). J. Afr. Earth Sci. 2017, 134, 265–275. [CrossRef]
- 71. Mineral Processing on the Verge of the 21st Century; Özbayoğlu, G.; Hoşten, Ç.; Atalay, M.Ü.; Hiçyılmaz, C.; Arol, A.İ., Eds.; Routledge: London, UK, 2017; ISBN 978-0-203-74711-7.
- 72. Özdemir, M.; Bahadır, M. Çölleşme Sürecinde Acigöl (1970–2008). Coğrafya Derg. 2009, 18, 1–20.
- 73. Kesici, E. "Acıgöl'ü, kurutma havuzları yok ediyor" NTV. 5 June 2021.
- 74. Boyacı, O.N. "Acıgöl İİçin Kurtuluş Umudu". *Hürriyet Newspaper*. 25 September 2008. Available online: https://www.hurriyet. com.tr/ege/acigol-icin-kurtulus-umudu-9989214 (accessed on 1 December 2021).
- 75. Yoğurtçuoğlu, B.; Ekmekçi, F. Conservation Action for the Acıgöl Toothcarp, Aphanius Transgrediens, Saving Freshwater Fishes and Habitats; Newsletter of the IUCN SSC/WI Freshwater Fish Specialist Group: Coimbatore, India, 2014; Volume 4, p. 30.
- Pyke, G.H. Plague Minnow or Mosquito Fish? A Review of the Biology and Impacts of Introduced Gambusia Species. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 2008, 39, 171–191. [CrossRef]
- Hargrave, C.W. A Test of Three Alternative Pathways for Consumer Regulation of Primary Productivity. *Oecologia* 2006, 149, 123–132. [CrossRef]
- Angeler, D.G.; Sánchez-Carrillo, S.; Rodrigo, M.A.; Alvarez-Cobelas, M.; Rojo, C. Does Seston Size Structure Reflect Fish-Mediated Effects on Water Quality in a Degraded Semiarid Wetland? *Environ. Monit. Assess.* 2007, 125, 9–17. [CrossRef]
- BirdLife International. Oxyura Leucocephala. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. 2017. Available online: https://doi.org/10.2 305/IUCN.UK.2017-3.RLTS.T22679814A119403602.en (accessed on 23 February 2022).
- Salvador, A.; Juan, A.A.; Andy, J.G. White-Headed Duck (Oxyura Leucocephala), Version 2.0. In *Birds of the World*; Billerman, S.M., Keeney, B.K., Eds.; Cornell Lab of Ornithology: Ithaca, NY, USA, 2020. [CrossRef]
- Green, A.J.; Fox, A.D.; Hilton, G.; Hughes, B.; Yarar, M.; Salathé, T. Threats to Burdur Lake Ecosystem, Turkey and Its Waterbirds, Particularly the White-Headed Duck Oxyura Leucocephala. *Biol. Conserv.* 1996, 76, 241–252. [CrossRef]
- 82. Gürsoy-Ergen, A. Hope for the White-Headed Duck, *Oxyura Leucocephala* (Aves: Anatidae) in Turkey despite a Declining Breeding Population and Abandonment of Its Traditional Wintering Area? *Zool. Middle East* **2019**, *65*, 116–127. [CrossRef]
- 83. Kılıç, D.; Eken, G. Türkiye'nin Önemli Kuş Alanları 2004 Güncellemesi; Doğa Derneği: Ankara, Turkey, 2004; ISBN 975-98901-0-0.
- 84. Green, A.J.; Anstey, S. The Status of the White-Headed Duck Oxyura Leucocephala. Bird Conserv. Int. 2002, 2, 185–200. [CrossRef]
- 85. Green, A.J.; Fox, A.D.; Hughes, B.; Hilton, G.M. Time Activity Budgets and Site Selection of White Headed Ducks Oxyura Leucocephala at Burdur Lake Turkey in Late Winter. *Bird Study* **1999**, *46*, 62–73. [CrossRef]
- Hassell, K.L.; Kefford, B.J.; Nugegoda, D. Sub-Lethal and Chronic Salinity Tolerances of Three Freshwater Insects: Cloeon Sp. and Centroptilum sp. (Ephemeroptera: Baetidae) and Chironomus sp. (Diptera: Chironomidae). J. Exp. Biol. 2006, 209, 4024–4032. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Belyakov, V.P.; Anufriieva, E.V.; Bazhora, A.I.; Shadrin, N.V. Effect of Salinity on Chironomid Larvae (Diptera, Chironomidae) in Hypersaline Lakes of Crimea. *Biol. Bull. Russ. Acad. Sci.* 2018, 45, 1211–1218. [CrossRef]
- Taşdemir, A.; Ustaoğlu, M.R. Göller Bölgesi İçsularının Chironomidae ve Chaoboridae (Diptera) Faunasının Taksonomik Yönden İncelenmesi. E. U. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 2005, 22, 377–384.
- Kirwan, G.; Demirci, B.; Welch, H.; Boyla, K.; Özen, M.; Castell, P.; Marlow, T. The Birds of Turkey; Bloomsbury Publishing: London, UK, 2008; ISBN 978-1-4081-3314-9.
- Aladin, N.V.; Chida, T.; Chuikov, Y.S.; Ermakhanov, Z.K.; Kawabata, Y.; Kubota, J.; Micklin, P.; Plotnikov, I.S.; Smurov, A.O.; Zaitzev, V.F. The History and Future of the Biological Resources of the Caspian and the Aral Seas. J. Oceanol. Limnol. 2018, 36, 2061–2084. [CrossRef]
- Lehikoinen, A.; Lindström, Å.; Santangeli, A.; Sirkiä, P.M.; Brotons, L.; Devictor, V.; Elts, J.; Foppen, R.P.B.; Heldbjerg, H.; Herrando, S.; et al. Wintering Bird Communities Are Tracking Climate Change Faster than Breeding Communities. J. Anim. Ecol. 2021, 90, 1085–1095. [CrossRef]
- 92. Meehan, T.D.; Kaminski, R.M.; Lebaron, G.S.; Michel, N.L.; Bateman, B.L.; Wilsey, C.B. Half-Century Winter Duck Abundance and Temperature Trends in the Mississippi and Atlantic Flyways. J. Wild. Mgmt. 2021, 85, 713–722. [CrossRef]
- Hughes, B.; Robinson, J.A.; Green, A.J.; Li, Z.W.D.; Mundkur, T. International Single Species Action Plan for the Conservation of the White-headed Duck Oxyura leucocephala; CMS Technical Series No. 13 & AEWA Technical Series No.8; UNEP/CMS Secretariat: Bonn, Germany, 2006.
- 94. Özgencil, İ.K.; Beklioğlu, M.; Özkan, K.; Tavşanoğlu, Ç.; Fattorini, N. Changes in Functional Composition and Diversity of Waterbirds: The Roles of Water Level and Submerged Macrophytes. *Freshw. Biol.* **2020**, *65*, 1845–1857. [CrossRef]
- Mouillot, D.; Mason, W.H.N.; Dumay, O.; Wilson, J.B. Functional Regularity: A Neglected Aspect of Functional Diversity. *Oecologia* 2005, 142, 353–359. [CrossRef]
- 96. Mason, N.W.H.; Mouillot, D.; Lee, W.G.; Wilson, J.B.; Setälä, H. Functional Richness, Functional Evenness and Functional Divergence: The Primary Components of Functional Diversity. *Oikos* **2005**, *111*, 112–118. [CrossRef]
- Crivelli, A.J. Are Fish Introductions a Threat to Endemic Freshwater Fishes in the Northern Mediterranean Region? *Biol. Conserv.* 1995, 72, 311–319. [CrossRef]
- 98. McGregor Reid, G. Introduction to Freshwater Fishes and Their Conservation. Int. Zoo Yearb. 2013, 47, 1–5. [CrossRef]

- Innal, D.; Giannetto, D. Length–Weight Relationships of Two Sympatric Species (Knipowitschia Byblisia Ahnelt, 2011 and K. Caunosi Ahnelt, 2011) in Köycegiz Lake, Turkey. J. Appl. Ichthyol. 2017, 33, 855–857. [CrossRef]
- Wurtsbaugh, W.A.; Miller, C.; Null, S.E.; DeRose, R.J.; Wilcock, P.; Hahnenberger, M.; Howe, F.; Moore, J. Decline of the World's Saline Lakes. *Nat. Geosci.* 2017, 10, 816–821. [CrossRef]
- 101. Environmetal Impact Assessment (EIA); Ministry of Environment and Urban: Ankara, Turkey, 2019.
- 102. Albert, J.S.; Destouni, G.; Duke-Sylvester, S.M.; Magurran, A.E.; Oberdorff, T.; Reis, R.E.; Winemiller, K.O.; Ripple, W.J. Scientists' Warning to Humanity on the Freshwater Biodiversity Crisis. *Ambio* 2021, 50, 85–94. [CrossRef]
- 103. Küçük, F.; Atalay, M.A.; Güçlü, S.S.; Gülle, İ. Türkiye'de Yayılış Gösteren Pseudophoxinus (Teleostei:Cyprinidae) Türlerinin Bazı Morfolojik Özellikleri ve Zoocoğrafik Dağılımları. Süleyman Demirel Üniversitesi Eğirdir Su Ürünleri Fakültesi Derg. 2012, 8, 1–9.
- 104. Bibby, C.J.; Burgess, N.D.; Hill, D.A.; Mustoe, S. Bird Census Techniques; 2nd ed. Elsevier: London, UK, 2000; ISBN 0-12-095831-7.
- 105. Hagemeijer, W.J.; Blair, M.J. The EBCC Atlas of European Breeding Birds; Poyser: London, UK, 1997.
- ESRI. ArcGIS Pro (Version 2.3.0). ESRI Inc. 2018. Available online: https://www.esri.com/en-us/arcgis/products/arcgis-pro/ (accessed on 9 November 2020).
- 107. Ornithological Society of Turkey (OST). *Turkey Bird Report 1966-67*; Turkey Bird Reports; Ornithological Society of Turkey: Bedfordshire, UK, 1969.
- 108. Ornithological Society of Turkey (OST). *Turkey Bird Report 1968-69*; Turkey Bird Reports; Ornithological Society of Turkey: Bedfordshire, UK, 1972.
- 109. Ornithological Society of Turkey (OST). *Turkey Bird Report 1970-73;* Turkey Bird Reports; Ornithological Society of Turkey: Bedfordshire, UK, 1975.
- 110. Ornithological Society of Turkey (OST). *Turkey Bird Report* 1974-75; Turkey Bird Reports; Ornithological Society of Turkey: Bedfordshire, UK, 1978.
- 111. Ertan, A.; Kılıç., A.; Kasparek, M. Türkiye'nin Önemli Kuş Alanları; Doğal Hayatı Koruma Derneği: Istanbul, Turkey, 1989.
- 112. Magnin, G.; Yarar, M. Important Bird Areas of Turkey; Dogal Hayati Koruma Dernegi: Istanbul, Turkey, 1997.
- 113. Dunning, J.B. CRC Handbook of Avian Body Masses, 2nd ed.; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, USA, 2007.
- 114. Wilman, H.; Belmaker, J.; Simpson, J.; de la Rosa, C.; Rivadeneira, M.M.; Jetz, W. EltonTraits 1.0: Species-level foraging attributes of the world's birds and mammals: Ecological Archives E095-178. *Ecology* **2014**, *95*, 2027. [CrossRef]
- 115. Pearman, P.B.; Lavergne, S.; Roquet, C.; Wüest, R.; Zimmermann, N.E.; Thuiller, W. Phylogenetic patterns of climatic, habitat and trophic niches in a E uropean avian assemblage. *Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr.* **2014**, *23*, 414–424. [CrossRef]
- Violle, C.; Navas, M.-L.; Vile, D.; Kazakou, E.; Fortunel, C.; Hummel, I.; Garnier, E. Let the concept of trait be functional! *Oikos* 2007, 116, 882–892. [CrossRef]
- 117. Luck, G.W.; Lavorel, S.; McIntyre, S.; Lumb, K. Improving the application of vertebrate trait-based frameworks to the study of ecosystem services: Vertebrate trait-based frameworks. J. Anim. Ecol. 2012, 81, 1065–1076. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 118. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computin; R Foundation for Statistical Computing: Vienna, Austria, 2020.
- Laliberté, E.; Legendre, P.; Shipley, B.; Laliberté, M.E. FD: Measuring Functional Diversity from Multiple Traits, and Other Tools for Functional Ecology, R package version 1.0-12; 2014. Available online: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=FD (accessed on 12 April 2021).
- 120. Swenson, N.G. Functional and Phylogenetic Ecology in R; Springer: New York, NY, USA, 2014.
- 121. De Bello, F.; Botta-Dukat, Z.; Leps, J.; Fibich, P. Towards a more balanced combination of multiple traits when computing functional differences between species. *Methods Ecol. Evol.* **2021**, *12*, 443–448. [CrossRef]
- Brooks, M.E.; Kristensen, K.; Van Benthem, K.J.; Magnusson, A.; Berg, C.W.; Nielsen, A.; Skaug, H.J.; Mächler, M.; Bolker, B.M. glmmTMB Balances Speed and Flexibility Among Packages for Zero-inflated Generalized Linear Mixed Modeling. *R J.* 2017, *9*, 378. [CrossRef]
- Hartig, F. DHARMa: Residual Diagnostics for Hierarchical (Multi-Level/Mixed) Regression Models. R Package Version 0.2.0. 2018. Available online: http://florianhartig.github.io/DHARMa/ (accessed on 12 April 2021).
- 124. Harrell, F.E., Jr. Regression Modeling Strategies: With Applications to Linear Models, Logistic and Ordinal Regression, and Survival Analysis; Springer: London, UK, 2015.

Appendix B

**APPENDIX B** 

**B.1** General Dataset

FCODE	Name	I onoitude	Latitude	Samp.	Sat. Img.	Date	L L	R2	R3	R4	RS	RK	R7	RS	R11	R12
		migina		Date	Date	diff			2	5	2			2	110	
$FT1_01$	Godet_Dam	33.27680	37.11320	21-06-20	22-06-20		357.50	910	806	762	718	764	795	745	281	488
$FT1_02$	Ibrala_Dam	33.39060	37.21420	21-06-20	22-06-20	1	293.60	1203	1153	830	814	853	908	962	441	557
$FT1_03$	Ayranci_Dam	33.73050	37.33670	21-06-20	22-06-20	1	306.00	1384	1567	1155	992	948	995	606	327	567
$FT1_04$	Ivriz_Dam	34.16600	37.45190	21-06-20	22-06-20	1	261.80	1123	1102	2157	2239	2640	2939	2731	322	2548
$FT1_05$	Akgol	33.77240	37.51950	21-06-20	22-06-20	1	3039.00	1055	1054	896	1178	1876	2206	1644	613	541
$FT1_06$	Yollarbasi_Dam	33.04050	37.13730	22-06-20	22-06-20	0	302.20	1146	1181	1542	1598	1783	2007	3109	480	1588
$FT1_07$	Delicay_Dam	33.17110	37.13630	22-06-20	22-06-20	0	383.10	1343	1477	1046	912	831	872	870	379	534
$FT1_08$	Aydogmus_Dam	32.65560	37.30320	22-06-20	22-06-20	0	386.30	1016	686	765	693	664	707	653	268	358
$FT1_09$	Apa_Dam	32.54250	37.36410	22-06-20	22-06-20	0	217.30	1099	1011	627	597	575	597	536	418	346
$FT1_10$	Sugla_Lake	31.97970	37.35220	22-06-20	25-06-20	3	231.30	1326	1286	649	695	680	662	527	813	430
$FT1_11$	Kovali_Lake	32.03250	37.57970	22-06-20	25-06-20	3	163.50	1208	1242	10251	9938	9904	9931	10837	1859	3806
FT1_12	Dipsiz_Lake	32.03400	37.57440	22-06-20	25-06-20	3	173.10	837	069	10418	10567	10647	10791	10669	177	4107
FT1_13	Suluklu_Lake	32.04550	37.56730	22-06-20	15-06-20	٢	96.10	1055	1009	772	796	781	823	716	668	501
$FT1_14$	Gokcehuyuk_Dam	31.78090	37.43330	23-06-20	25-06-20	7	263.69	1132	1042	647	595	580	586	526	285	249
FT1_15	Gokcen_Dam	31.53910	37.43830	23-06-20	25-06-20	7	328.69	988	885	705	571	603	572	541	225	369
$FT1_16$	Derebucak_Dam	31.54200	37.36500	23-06-20	25-06-20	7	297.19	967	062	4221	4355	4876	5162	5011	312	4022
$FT1_17$	Cimen_Lake	32.08400	37.66950	23-06-20	25-06-20	7	64.79	2590	2500	7432	7521	7744	8013	7554	3370	3302
$FT1_18$	Inlice_Goleti	32.08790	37.67480	23-06-20	25-06-20	7	85.50	1602	1610	6035	6290	6555	6793	6217	1297	3853
$FT1_19$	Altinapa_Dam	32.29200	37.88320	23-06-20	25-06-20	7	387.89	1221	1141	7856	7927	7994	8200	8285	501	3901
$FT1_20$	Acigol	33.67320	37.71010	24-06-20	22-06-20	7	88438.00	1169	949	841	806	844	844	823	315	491

Table B.1: All-data flat file (B2, B3 etc. indicates Sentinel-2 Band2, Band3, etc.

R17		460	299	2733	341	374	1592	801	4526	1484	879	2711	340	81	577	482	316	186	009	469	795	111
R11	110	594	389	3101	396	367	1644	353	581	1314	597	385	451	120	969	854	365	381	181	418	86	177
RS	2	720	726	3476	595	710	4824	2287	6519	1412	966	4055	519	1120	489	4625	970	1340	1117	4892	1419	1030
R7	<b>a</b>	768	847	3540	668	745	5044	2093	7369	2400	1479	3988	557	1325	881	5090	1220	1524	1170	5162	1532	1418
уя	6	780	796	3176	613	753	4850	2057	7053	2088	1343	3605	571	1260	848	4880	1088	1381	1127	4825	1508	1179
RS	3	171	759	2899	610	655	4646	1928	6744	1996	1178	3096	811	2534	932	4961	1631	1652	1293	4585	1952	1114
R4	-	825	594	2870	652	650	4518	1875	6493	1289	914	2803	770	2657	714	4756	1478	1523	1292	4409	1924	644
R3	2	1254	796	2056	887	716	1301	595	683	1050	875	767	1216	2143	1074	3990	1783	1783	807	3073	1182	992
R7	-	1222	880	1893	937	801	1252	766	833	1052	971	853	1136	1735	1165	3710	1660	1675	886	2619	1111	927
нС		278.00	1084.00	254.09	261.50	533.00	110.90	112.40	197.30	3937.00	671.00	678.00	782.00	240000.00	730.00	237000.00	91352.00	70540.00	2320.00	9664.00	975.00	83909.00
Date	diff	2	7	б	б	б	ю	ю	ю	ю	ю	ю	1	1	1	1	1	1	7	7	7	0
Sat. Img.	Date	22-06-20	22-06-20	22-06-20	22-06-20	22-06-20	22-06-20	22-06-20	22-06-20	22-06-20	22-06-20	22-06-20	27-06-20	27-06-20	27-06-20	27-06-20	27-06-20	27-06-20	25-06-20	25-06-20	25-06-20	27-06-20
Samp.	Date	24-06-20	24-06-20	25-06-20	25-06-20	25-06-20	25-06-20	25-06-20	25-06-20	25-06-20	25-06-20	25-06-20	26-06-20	26-06-20	26-06-20	26-06-20	26-06-20	26-06-20	27-06-20	27-06-20	27-06-20	27-06-20
I atituda	Tantua	37.82610	37.93360	37.98110	38.03240	38.04580	38.21280	38.17690	38.26090	38.33760	38.40450	38.39930	38.40440	38.79680	38.89310	39.07530	39.06250	39.08460	39.23940	39.09980	39.01270	38.52280
I ongitude	runghuur	34.62850	34.63500	34.70590	34.84780	34.95270	34.57340	34.58120	34.54670	34.45690	34.37740	34.36430	34.13650	33.61300	33.67910	33.41010	33.13240	33.15720	32.93210	32.74800	32.83860	32.92130
Name		Bahceli_Goleti	Akkaya_Dam	Gumusler_Dam	Uluagac_Goleti	Cayirli_Lake	Cinarli_Goleti	Murtaza_Lake	Golludag_Lake	Acigol_Narligol	Kayi_Lake	Baki_Balikli_Lake	Mamasin_Dam	Tuz_Lake_1_Station	Pecenek_Dam	Tuz_Lake_2_Station	Duden_Small	Duden_Big	Uyuz_Lake	Samsam_Lake	Kozanli_Gok_Gol	Bolluk_Lake
FCODF		$FT1_21$	$FT1_22$	$FT1_23$	$FT1_24$	$FT1_25$	$FT1_26$	$FT1_27$	FT1_28	$FT1_29$	$FT1_30$	FT1_31	$FT1_32$	$FT1_33$	$FT1_34$	$FT1_35$	$FT1_36$	$FT1_37$	FT1_38	$FT1_39$	$FT1_40$	$FT1_41$

					able B.1 cont	inued fro	om previous p	age								
FCODE	Name	Longitude	Latitude	Samp.	Sat. Img.	Date	EC	R2	B3	B4	BS	B6	B7	BS	B11	B12
				Date	Date	diff	2		ŝ		3		à	2		
$FT1_42$	Cihanbeyli_Dam	32.89660	38.64450	27-06-20	27-06-20	0	2907.00	1034	1040	780	1170	1250	1371	1007	589	342
FT1_43	Tuz_Lake_3_Station	33.36810	38.96490	27-06-20	27-06-20	0	240000.00	2698	2687	2873	2908	2891	2992	2789	366	230
$FT2_01$	Uyuz_Lake	32.92920	39.24060	05-07-21	15-07-21	10	2503.00	1015	989	1027	1010	069	737	670	331	237
$FT2_02$	Duden_Lake_Small	33.13240	39.06250	07-07-21	15-07-21	8	NA	2085	2020	2051	2056	2134	2193	2026	2403	1768
$FT2_03$	Tuz_Lake_1_Station	33.37100	38.96410	07-07-21	15-07-21	8	237300.00	3020	3195	3307	3191	2112	2188	1873	104	84
$FT2_04$	Kozanli_Gokgol	32.83910	39.01130	08-07-21	15-07-21	٢	1586.00	985	948	728	1040	1092	1231	1050	248	188
$FT2_05$	Tuz_Lake_2_Station	33.61600	38.79930	10-07-21	12-07-21	7	237300.00	4072	4615	5817	5837	5206	5413	5365	612	330
$FT2_06$	Bolluk_Lake	32.91530	38.52140	11-07-21	12-07-21	1	115200.00	1158	1494	768	1320	759	839	648	374	275
$FT2_07$	Acigol_Narli	34.45410	38.33920	12-07-21	12-07-21	0	4168.00	834	818	417	362	256	333	336	232	175
$FT2_08$	Kaya_Lake	34.37580	38.40330	13-07-21	12-07-21	1	674.00	856	787	520	726	485	487	420	230	162
$FT2_09$	Baki_Lake_Balikli	34.36450	38.39707	14-07-21	12-07-21	7	650.00	790	695	422	387	451	320	391	273	144
$FT2_{-}10$	Seker	35.41828	38.75668	16-07-21	17-07-21	1	398.00	1281	1359	1112	1302	1002	1218	66L	583	440
$FT2_111$	Lake_Acigol_Konya	33.67320	37.71010	17-07-21	17-07-21	0	91650.00	1199	960	515	672	613	674	385	493	337
$FT2_12$	Lake_Akgol_Konya	33.77240	37.51950	18-07-21	17-07-21	1	5456.00	982	1059	597	1254	1312	1352	1053	343	222
$FT2_13$	Karatas_Lake	29.97330	37.39170	21-07-21	20-07-21	1	2006.00	1967	2053	1981	2072	2156	2273	2219	2015	1060
$FT2_14$	Burdur_Lake_Station_1	30.08770	37.70720	22-07-21	23-07-21	1	29830.00	1432	1387	1166	1153	1053	1141	954	862	716
$FT2_15$	Burdur_Lake_Station_2	30.19438	37.69884	23-07-21	23-07-21	0	29100.00	1217	1197	931	945	890	931	780	716	620
$FT2_16$	Lake_Acigol_Burdur	29.88499	37.82514	24-07-21	23-07-21	1	69520.00	1186	1082	1015	1107	717	691	564	198	110
$FT2_17$	Salda_Lake_Station_1	29.66059	37.52808	26-07-21	28-07-21	0	2003.00	1423	1302	1021	1115	930	897	654	741	501
$FT2_18$	Salda_Lake_Station_2	29.72067	37.52728	26-07-21	28-07-21	0	2035.00	1607	1366	1013	983	974	980	986	829	656
$FT3_01$	Little_Duden	39.06150	33.13557	18-05-22	18-05-22	0	72440.00	2420	2503	2209	2256	1858	1895	1757	1259	1213

R12		1197	1539	1127	877	618	1027	1336	1099	1424	1407	1204	1140	4028	946	870	486	596	470	639	1424	637
R11		1203	2140	1218	1262	872	1339	1770	1488	1887	1870	1570	1528	4899	1158	1131	627	917	800	932	1636	831
RS	8	3406	3383	2513	1202	1096	1049	1621	1636	1784	1707	1092	1032	4347	785	741	982	770	591	602	1661	660
R7	ā	3629	3317	2727	1304	1502	1277	1743	1744	1819	1884	1543	1488	4497	1171	1168	2059	1142	843	006	1760	892
Вб	2	3553	3148	2632	1211	1562	1212	1647	1639	1750	1734	1573	1465	4290	1149	1127	2120	1032	838	871	1541	882
RS	3	4800	3132	3009	1204	1400	1138	1485	1371	1528	1610	1412	1345	4161	1100	1113	1967	1001	871	863	1607	873
R4	5	4604	3176	2396	1089	1190	1020	1434	1364	1528	1578	1038	1031	4253	812	851	1058	864	700	701	1711	716
R3	3	3937	2947	2814	1160	1202	1050	1368	1386	1445	1531	1193	1141	3874	923	1002	1243	1097	932	934	1756	968
R2		3311	2818	2321	1390	1492	1197	1507	1438	1548	1570	1328	1296	3881	1133	1229	1648	1310	1181	1043	1572	1118
нС		266900.00	147400.00	78950.00	88650.00	88618.00	87812.00	85768.00	86858.00	87513.00	93324.00	94319.00	95193.00	95094.00	94355.00	89528.00	90059.00	88519.00	88689.00	87667.00	87154.00	85618.00
Date	diff	1	1	б	7	13	7	ю	4	12	1	1	S	S	1	ю	5	7	13	7	б	14
Sat. Img.	Date	18-05-22	21-05-22	24-05-22	11-12-15	30-01-16	19-02-16	10-03-16	09-04-16	09-05-16	18-06-16	18-07-16	17-08-16	16-09-16	16-10-16	15-11-16	15-12-16	11-12-15	30-01-16	19-02-16	10-03-16	30-03-16
Samp.	Date	19-05-22	20-05-22	21-05-22	13-12-15	17-01-16	21-02-16	13-03-16	13-04-16	21-05-16	19-06-16	19-07-16	22-08-16	21-09-16	15-10-16	12-11-16	10-12-16	13-12-15	17-01-16	21-02-16	13-03-16	13-04-16
Latitude		33.38555	33.32768	29.88111	33.66918	33.66918	33.66918	33.66918	33.66918	33.66918	33.66918	33.66918	33.66918	33.66918	33.66918	33.66918	33.66918	33.67147	33.67147	33.67147	33.67147	33.67147
Lonoitude		38.96454	38.98956	37.81824	37.70896	37.70896	37.70896	37.70896	37.70896	37.70896	37.70896	37.70896	37.70896	37.70896	37.70896	37.70896	37.70896	37.71492	37.71492	37.71492	37.71492	37.71492
Name		Tuz_1st	Small_Tuz	Acigol_Denizli	Acigol_1	Acigol_1	Acigol_1	Acigol_1	Acigol_1	Acigol_1	Acigol_1	Acigol_1	Acigol_1	Acigol_1	Acigol_1	Acigol_1	Acigol_1	Acigol_2	Acigol_2	Acigol_2	Acigol_2	Acigol_2
FCODE		$FT3_02$	$FT3_03$	$FT3_04$	$FS_06$	$FS_13$	$FS_21$	$FS_29$	$FS_32$	$FS_41$	$FS_49$	FS_58	FS_66	FS_76	FS_79	FS_85	FS_91	$FS_07$	$FS_14$	$FS_22$	$FS_{30}$	$FS_{33}$

				Τ	able B.1 cont	inued fro	om previous p	age								
FCODE	Name	Longitude	Latitude	Samp.	Sat. Img.	Date	EC	B2	B3	B4	BS	B6	B7	B8	B11	B12
		rongruuv		Date	Date	diff	2		3	5	3	2	5			
$FS_42$	Acigol_2	37.71492	33.67147	21-05-16	09-05-16	12	87089.00	1105	666	655	770	788	785	584	684	493
FS_50	Acigol_2	37.71492	33.67147	19-06-16	18-06-16	1	93739.00	1253	1097	<i>L</i> 6 <i>L</i>	887	942	1084	675	893	674
FS_59	Acigol_2	37.71492	33.67147	19-07-16	18-07-16	1	94417.00	1222	1047	728	902	980	1111	744	892	648
FS_67	Acigol_2	37.71492	33.67147	22-08-16	17-08-16	5	95028.00	1212	1059	787	026	1118	1211	865	1026	735
$FS_80$	Acigol_2	37.71492	33.67147	15-10-16	16-10-16	1	94197.00	1175	920	652	824	938	950	682	948	633
FS_86	Acigol_2	37.71492	33.67147	12-11-16	15-11-16	ю	89523.00	1377	1200	679	1185	1220	1266	1007	1126	803
$FS_92$	Acigol_2	37.71492	33.67147	10-12-16	15-12-16	5	90087.00	1523	1246	1086	1387	1322	1353	984	726	497
$FS_08$	Acigol_3	37.71798	33.66489	13-12-15	11-12-15	2	88700.00	1343	1144	925	857	751	833	824	793	549
$FS_15$	Acigol_3	37.71798	33.66489	17-01-16	30-01-16	13	88638.00	1389	1095	939	<i>L</i> 6 <i>L</i>	792	749	787	702	522
$FS_23$	Acigol_3	37.71798	33.66489	21-02-16	19-02-16	7	87821.00	1152	1109	994	801	793	829	166	888	687
$FS_31$	Acigol_3	37.71798	33.66489	13-03-16	10-03-16	б	87419.00	3691	3825	4880	5026	4990	4743	4381	5521	3682
$FS_34$	Acigol_3	37.71798	33.66489	13-04-16	29-04-16	16	87177.00	951	890	596	583	545	606	572	651	526
$FS_43$	Acigol_3	37.71798	33.66489	21-05-16	09-05-16	12	87643.00	1034	937	659	594	644	546	472	612	485
FS_51	Acigol_3	37.71798	33.66489	19-06-16	18-06-16	1	93707.00	1229	1111	934	935	814	926	868	968	725
$FS_60$	Acigol_3	37.71798	33.66489	19-07-16	18-07-16	1	94550.00	1548	1464	1430	1289	1255	1328	1427	1394	1006
FS_68	Acigol_3	37.71798	33.66489	22-08-16	17-08-16	5	95255.00	1628	1500	1538	1166	1258	1156	1521	1331	166
$FS_77$	Acigol_3	37.71798	33.66489	21-09-16	16-09-16	5	95088.00	1354	1067	839	790	728	739	662	463	291
FS_81	Acigol_3	37.71798	33.66489	15-10-16	16-10-16	1	94319.00	1484	1390	1445	1114	1147	1157	1466	1293	1017
FS_87	Acigol_3	37.71798	33.66489	12-11-16	15-11-16	б	89798.00	1638	1540	1588	1314	1256	1328	1594	1438	1068
FS_93	Acigol_3	37.71798	33.66489	10-12-16	15-12-16	S	90319.00	2151	2013	2081	2055	1684	1817	2057	596	506
$FS_01$	Bolluk_1	38.55031	32.93266	12-12-15	11-12-15	1	162479.00	1499	1643	1586	2064	1595	1493	838	1149	737

<b>B12</b>		718	1785	1454	1257	1015	1261	1306	986	515	1501	963	1316	2058	1684	828	1858	1920	2042	1626	2017	1485
R11		1111	2577	2070	1771	1528	1830	1837	1483	807	2430	1629	2013	2780	2617	1443	2629	2661	2805	2426	2688	2087
RS		766	2092	876	822	707	1099	1162	1219	621	3162	2414	2393	3552	3163	1714	2848	2862	3236	2420	2920	2617
<b>R</b> 7	à	1547	3073	2251	1858	1625	2158	2115	1955	1164	3156	2667	2771	3507	3296	2585	3382	3653	3614	3283	3402	3002
B6		1459	2836	2137	1755	1565	2019	2023	1906	1227	2912	2576	2710	3083	3147	2454	3450	3354	3235	2956	3195	2763
BS	3	2008	2760	2319	1923	1778	2242	2362	2229	1750	2879	2457	2573	3134	2976	2572	3298	3184	3141	2966	3137	2753
R4		1341	1977	1137	606	680	1221	1428	1641	1220	2837	2524	2105	3291	2753	1982	2755	2733	3144	2590	2872	2621
R3	2	1718	1863	1546	1211	1019	1448	1551	1743	1417	2522	2328	2270	2979	2546	2164	2651	2645	2834	2352	2691	2515
<b>R</b> 2		1298	1619	1142	1148	955	1191	1341	1621	1260	2558	2312	2150	2936	2427	2019	2531	2465	2711	2271	2566	2399
КС		116317.00	33414.00	137548.00	157998.00	171453.00	172367.00	170591.00	165104.00	177791.00	94920.00	104254.00	82225.00	94587.00	103852.00	120549.00	46775.00	24315.00	21741.00	22289.00	38391.00	26727.00
Date	diff	1	7	1	1	7	1	1	б	7	1	9	1	1	1	7	1	1	7	1	1	3
Sat. Img.	Date	12-04-16	19-05-16	18-06-16	18-07-16	20-08-16	19-09-16	16-10-16	15-11-16	08-12-16	11-12-15	10-01-16	19-02-16	13-03-16	12-04-16	19-05-16	18-06-16	18-07-16	20-08-16	19-09-16	16-10-16	15-11-16
Samp.	Date	13-04-16	21-05-16	19-06-16	19-07-16	22-08-16	20-09-16	15-10-16	12-11-16	10-12-16	12-12-15	16-01-16	20-02-16	12-03-16	13-04-16	21-05-16	19-06-16	19-07-16	22-08-16	20-09-16	15-10-16	12-11-16
Latitude		32.93266	32.93266	32.93266	32.93266	32.93266	32.93266	32.93266	32.93266	32.93266	32.93321	32.93321	32.93321	32.93321	32.93321	32.93321	32.93321	32.93321	32.93321	32.93321	32.93321	32.93321
Lonoitude		38.55031	38.55031	38.55031	38.55031	38.55031	38.55031	38.55031	38.55031	38.55031	38.54878	38.54878	38.54878	38.54878	38.54878	38.54878	38.54878	38.54878	38.54878	38.54878	38.54878	38.54878
Name		Bolluk_1	Bolluk_1	Bolluk_1	Bolluk_1	Bolluk_1	Bolluk_1	Bolluk_1	Bolluk_1	Bolluk_1	Bolluk_2	Bolluk_2	Bolluk_2	Bolluk_2	Bolluk_2	Bolluk_2	Bolluk_2	Bolluk_2	Bolluk_2	Bolluk_2	Bolluk_2	Bolluk_2
FCODE		FS_35	FS_44	$FS_52$	FS_61	FS_69	FS_73	$FS_82$	FS_88	FS_94	$FS_02$	$FS_09$	$FS_{-16}$	$FS_24$	$FS_{-}36$	FS_45	FS_53	$FS_62$	$FS_70$	$FS_74$	FS_83	FS_89

				L	able B.1 cont	inued fro	m previous p	age								
FCODE	Name	Longitude	Latitude	Samp.	Sat. Img.	Date	EC	R2	B3	B4	BS	B6	B7	BS	B11	B12
		anna Guor		Date	Date	diff	2		2	5	3			2		
FS_95	Bolluk_2	38.54878	32.93321	10-12-16	08-12-16	2	9044.00	1522	1201	1021	984	972	931	868	454	265
$FS_03$	Tersakan_2	38.62993	33.04676	12-12-15	11-12-15	1	170976.00	2687	2573	2755	2838	2908	3031	2907	2121	1695
$FS_17$	Tersakan_2	38.62993	33.04676	20-02-16	19-02-16	1	196543.00	2004	2442	2034	2096	1188	1119	851	356	202
$FS_25$	Tersakan_2	38.62993	33.04676	12-03-16	13-03-16	1	124482.00	1579	2318	1575	1715	716	714	625	273	190
FS_37	Tersakan_2	38.62993	33.04676	13-04-16	12-04-16	1	115225.00	2001	2440	1718	1455	489	457	407	143	107
$FS_46$	Tersakan_2	38.62993	33.04676	21-05-16	19-05-16	7	114396.00	2014	2528	1712	1545	617	633	466	169	101
FS_57	Tersakan_2	38.62993	33.04676	23-06-16	18-06-16	5	148870.00	2478	3158	2670	2473	1492	1601	1324	1180	972
FS_63	Tersakan_2	38.62993	33.04676	19-07-16	18-07-16	1	137634.00	1490	1772	1215	993	412	423	358	194	150
$FS_71$	Tersakan_2	38.62993	33.04676	22-08-16	20-08-16	2	157895.00	1658	2269	2067	2391	1689	1816	1450	323	192
FS_75	Tersakan_2	38.62993	33.04676	20-09-16	19-09-16	1	163761.00	2604	2749	2924	3006	2891	3045	2821	1119	477
$FS_84$	Tersakan_2	38.62993	33.04676	15-10-16	16-10-16	1	163553.00	3064	3120	3533	3587	3564	3809	3606	1517	837
$FS_90$	Tersakan_2	38.62993	33.04676	12-11-16	15-11-16	ю	162171.00	2381	2354	2432	2463	2210	2298	2009	771	479
FS_96	Tersakan_2	38.62993	33.04676	10-12-16	08-12-16	7	175603.00	1832	2093	1786	1757	846	761	600	148	69
FS_97	Tersakan_3	38.63142	33.06235	12-12-15	11-12-15	1	151299.00	3313	3327	3674	3653	3249	3150	3283	1499	1000
$FS_98$	Tersakan_3	38.63142	33.06235	12-03-16	13-03-16	1	203370.00	2892	3147	3285	3233	2243	2155	1933	199	130
$FS_99$	Tersakan_3	38.63142	33.06235	13-04-16	12-04-16	1	204969.00	3660	3960	4138	3961	2836	2723	2425	87	49
$FS_{-}100$	Tersakan_3	38.63142	33.06235	21-05-16	09-05-16	12	205047.00	3246	3512	3769	3659	2807	2808	2540	86	53
$FS_{-101}$	Tersakan_3	38.63142	33.06235	23-06-16	18-06-16	S	200641.00	3619	3976	4651	4684	4673	4837	4419	886	644
$FS_04$	Tuz_1	38.79528	33.61750	12-12-15	11-12-15	1	235552.00	1680	1515	1590	1601	1637	1695	1612	1629	933
$FS_10$	Tuz_1	38.79528	33.61750	16-01-16	10-01-16	9	234443.00	1562	1509	1575	1611	1652	1775	1722	1876	1097
FS_18	Tuz_1	38.79528	33.61750	20-02-16	19-02-16	1	235983.00	1520	1377	1207	1197	1043	1081	965	555	488

<b>B12</b>		418	731	540	738	1446	2272	91	48	56	180	85	65	385	891	642	1612	1074	1718	1618	2104
B11		725	1388	1053	1435	2570	3607	132	99	65	260	111	83	575	1714	1235	2138	1388	2297	2144	2957
BS		1352	4145	3685	4491	5046	5215	2171	1580	784	801	1450	1231	4786	5975	4402	2626	1563	2557	3266	3651
<b>B</b> 7	à	1460	4262	3540	4652	5212	5374	2191	1724	932	937	1666	1478	5143	6212	4625	2518	1769	2635	3304	3735
B6		1389	4136	3384	4440	4963	5127	2175	1718	978	948	1693	1446	4955	5932	4390	2357	1718	2319	3093	3542
BS	3	1507	4119	3484	4424	4942	4999	2492	2241	1978	1846	3151	2923	5096	5911	4323	2336	1686	2340	3296	3470
B4		1480	3888	3626	4483	4861	5006	2566	2332	2088	2062	3343	3190	5115	5855	4261	2459	1610	2562	3440	3438
<b>B</b> 3	3	1491	3516	3278	3849	4081	4141	2136	1975	2055	2170	3292	2999	4038	5049	3482	2124	1454	2157	3069	2797
B2		1433	3494	3233	3581	3707	3757	2094	1900	2054	2083	3101	2683	3508	4697	3160	1974	1521	1919	2974	2444
EC		239441.00	226745.00	236889.00	251768.00	248465.00	227958.00	119597.00	246856.00	239154.00	238959.00	228864.00	233335.00	240561.00	172076.00	226987.00	188451.00	214953.00	145652.00	235581.00	235474.00
Date	diff	1	6	7	1	1	7	×	9	11	1	6	7	1	1	7	9	-	-	1	1
Sat. Img.	Date	13-03-16	22-04-16	19-05-16	18-06-16	18-07-16	20-08-16	04-12-15	10-01-16	09-02-16	13-03-16	22-04-16	19-05-16	18-06-16	18-07-16	19-09-16	10-01-16	19-02-16	13-03-16	12-04-16	18-06-16
Samp.	Date	12-03-16	13-04-16	21-05-16	19-06-16	19-07-16	22-08-16	12-12-15	16-01-16	20-02-16	12-03-16	13-04-16	21-05-16	19-06-16	19-07-16	21-09-16	16-01-16	20-02-16	12-03-16	13-04-16	19-06-16
Latitude		33.61750	33.61750	33.61750	33.61750	33.61750	33.61750	33.41059	33.41059	33.41059	33.41059	33.41059	33.41059	33.41059	33.41059	33.41059	33.42085	33.42085	33.42085	33.42085	33.42085
Longitude		38.79528	38.79528	38.79528	38.79528	38.79528	38.79528	39.07178	39.07178	39.07178	39.07178	39.07178	39.07178	39.07178	39.07178	39.07178	38.96131	38.96131	38.96131	38.96131	38.96131
Name		Tuz_1	Tuz_1	Tuz_1	Tuz_1	Tuz_1	Tuz_1	Tuz_2	Tuz_2	Tuz_2	Tuz_2	Tuz_2	Tuz_2	Tuz_2	Tuz_2	Tuz_2	Tuz_3	Tuz_3	Tuz_3	Tuz_3	Tuz_3
FCODE		$FS_26$	FS_38	FS_47	FS_54	FS_64	$FS_72$	$FS_05$	FS_11	$FS_19$	$FS_27$	FS_39	FS_48	FS_55	FS_65	FS_78	$FS_12$	$FS_20$	FS_28	FS_40	FS_56

## **B.2** Case Study Dataset

Table B.2: Sentinel-2 Bands (B2, B3, etc.) and EC values of exact field points in the case study.

FCODE	EC	B2	<b>B3</b>	<b>B4</b>	B5	<b>B6</b>	<b>B7</b>	<b>B8</b>	B11	B12	Temp
P1	2121	1656	1344	708	645	623	636	549	452	375	25.34
P2	2206	1300	975	600	567	571	572	489	412	334	25.8
P3	2165	1266	814	499	462	459	461	393	290	241	25.38
P4	2174	1158	752	526	501	493	492	416	320	280	25.51
P5	2137	1138	742	526	491	491	496	427	332	279	24.66
P6	2193	1005	610	377	335	333	324	271	177	149	24.71
P7	2234	1040	642	418	396	380	388	319	228	196	25.2
P8	2244	1093	696	469	433	426	415	359	265	228	25.24
Р9	2231	1116	732	513	484	464	463	404	314	267	24.7
P10	2234	1133	752	543	505	503	501	435	346	294	24.68
P11	2242	1137	771	580	552	536	538	472	389	334	24.75
P12	2243	1083	718	516	499	488	495	416	340	291	24.78
P13	2242	1031	662	457	430	419	421	349	268	238	24.76
P14	2240	1067	707	515	497	482	489	413	333	291	24.56
P15	2143	1056	697	505	475	463	464	394	313	276	24.83
P16	2202	1101	746	557	528	529	536	447	373	323	24.65
P17	2218	1126	773	586	555	547	556	482	395	343	24.53
P18	2225	1176	827	649	621	623	635	538	466	400	24.39
P19	2232	1118	773	579	556	541	558	474	390	336	24.43
P20	2233	1091	740	539	509	509	500	430	361	302	24.39
P21	2234	1068	705	502	465	464	460	398	321	269	24.36
P22	2233	1094	727	519	491	488	488	418	338	283	24.31
P23	2240	1081	719	512	479	473	475	411	332	275	24.38
P24	2235	1102	732	529	504	498	511	435	355	291	24.34
P25	2278	1186	829	646	616	603	629	546	468	386	25.23
P26	2281	2030	1748	1142	1041	797	877	823	759	571	25.28
P27	2280	2030	1748	1142	1041	797	877	823	759	571	25.02

FCODE	EC	B2	<b>B3</b>	<b>B4</b>	B5	<b>B6</b>	<b>B7</b>	<b>B8</b>	B11	B12	Temp
P1	2121	1593	1315	671	601.5	581	590.5	511.5	416.5	345	25.34
P2	2206	1300	975	600	567	571	572	489	412	334	25.80
P3	2165	1264	814	499	462	459	461	393	290	241	25.38
P4	2174	1158	752	526	501	493	492	416	320	280	25.51
P5	2137	1134	740	519	486	475	489	414	326	277	24.66
P6	2193	1013	610	377	335	333	324	271	177	149	24.71
P7	2234	1056	664	435	408	391	390	337	238	210	25.20
P8	2244	1093	703	483	451	437	434	364	281	236	25.24
P9	2231	1116	732	516	484	464	463	404	318	267	24.70
P10	2234	1134	759	548	513	510	509	442	357	303	24.68
P11	2242	1137	771	580	552	536	538	472	389	334	24.75
P12	2243	1083	718	516	499	488	495	416	340	291	24.78
P13	2242	1031	668	464	436	421	428	360	272	238	24.76
P14	2240	1067	707	515	497	482	489	413	333	291	24.56
P15	2143	1064	706	507	480	480	478	403	327	287	24.83
P16	2202	1101	746	557	528	529	536	447	373	323	24.65
P17	2218	1124	773	582	555	547	551	481	395	343	24.53
P18	2225	1137	786	606	571	573	576	489	420	352	24.39
P19	2232	1118	765	579	551	541	552	472	390	336	24.43
P20	2233	1091	740	539	509	509	500	430	361	302	24.39
P21	2234	1075	711	511	479	467	471	409	329	273	24.36
P22	2233	1093	726	519	486	488	487	418	338	283	24.31
P23	2240	1081	718	511	479	473	475	409	332	275	24.38
P24	2235	1094	727	521	496	491	493	425	342	283	24.34
P25	2278	1186	829	646	616	603	629	546	468	386	25.23
P26	2281	1566	1176	782	700	720	802	656	620	491	25.28
P27	2280	2030	1748	1142	1041	797	877	823	759	571	25.02

Table B.3: Sentinel-2 Band and EC values of buffered field points in the case study.

## **B.3** Periodically Measured Lakes



Figure B.1: Periodically sampled points. a) Acıgöl-1, Acıgöl-2, Acıgöl-3, b) Bolluk-1, Bolluk-2, c) Tersakan-1, Tersakan-2, d) Tuz-1, Tuz-2, Tuz-3